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Prior Year Development 

Primary General Liability 

In 2018, we increased our ultimate loss estimates for prior accident years by $214 million mainly due to Construction Casualty 
business, particularly construction defect (CD) claims. Our updated analyses for the construction casualty business reacted to 
increased severity of claims for both CD and non-CD claims and lengthened the claim reporting pattern for CD claims.   

In 2017, we increased our ultimate loss estimates for prior accident years by $330 million. This was driven by reported loss 
development being greater than expected as a result of increased loss severity. We revised our loss trend assumptions which also 
contributed to increased estimates for the more recent accident years. For older accident years, we experienced increased loss 
development from construction defect claims and construction wrap business. 

In 2016, we increased our ultimate loss estimates for prior accident years by $754 million.  We increased our assumptions about loss 
development and expected loss ratios based on the adverse actual versus expected loss emergence driven by increases in severity, 
especially in the risk-sharing excess of deductible programs. In addition, our segmentation separately evaluated key structural drivers 
recently identified in the data. As a result, we noted the unfavorable development that was driven by construction defect claims which 
continue to increase in severity and which exhibit continued higher development at later ages than previously observed. We also 
identified and separately analyzed in 2016 certain mass tort claims and increased reserves for such claims due to their much longer 
claim emergence and loss development patterns than previously observed. 

Primary Commercial Auto Liability  

In 2018, we reduced our ultimate loss estimates for prior accident years by $142 million mainly due to favorable emergence in recent 
accident years. Our updated analyses for the auto business reacted to this experience in older years as loss trends have stabilized in 
the more recent years.    

In 2017, we increased our ultimate loss estimates for prior accident years by $42 million. A majority of this development  related to 
accident year 2016 where reported loss experience has been emerging greater than expected, driven by an increase in the frequency 
of large claims. We have experienced severity trends in recent accident years that have been at much higher levels than what has 
been reflected in the historic data, although we did see some signs of abatement during the second half of the year. 

In 2016, we continued to observe increases in both the frequency and severity of claims occurring in accident years since the recent 
U.S. economic downturn. These claims have significantly outpaced both our accident year loss ratio assumptions made in 2015 and 
the pricing rate increases implemented during the same period. As a result, we recognized $352 million of unfavorable development 
during 2016 as we increased the expected loss ratios for recent accident years to reflect continued market deterioration in the trends 
observed in 2016 and the higher reported losses in very recent accident years. 

Medical Malpractice   

During 2018, we recognized favorable loss development of approximately $158 million as loss emergence was less than expected in 
older years due to several large cases settling for less than we expected. Severity in recent years continues to be higher than 
historical norms. 

During 2017, we recognized favorable loss development of $23 million. Reported loss development was less than expected in 
aggregate; although we did continue to see higher loss severity in the more recent accident years. Premium volume has declined 
significantly over the last several years and certain segments such as physicians and surgeons, medical products, and nursing homes 
business (in certain jurisdictions) have been exited entirely. 

During 2016, we recognized $428 million of unfavorable development in U.S. Other Casualty medical malpractice comprising primary 
and excess hospitals and nursing homes coverages.  This was in reaction to a continued increase in the frequency of unusually large 
claims in these classes that drove the adverse actual versus expected loss emergence observed in 2016. Based on the observed 
adverse emergence and its sustained levels over the last several years, we increased our expected incurred losses and loss ratios for 
accident years 2011 and subsequent to reflect the distinct step change in the loss ratios from accident years 2010 and prior. 

Other Lines 

During 2018, we recognized favorable loss development of approximately $41 million largely due to our environmental impairment 
liability business where loss activity was better than expected.  

During 2017, we recognized favorable loss development of $133 million. The key drivers of this activity were favorable development 
on loss-sensitive casualty business, environmental impairment liability business, extra-contractual obligations, and business internally 
reinsured from other business units. 

U.S. Financial Lines  

During 2018, we recognized $298 million of unfavorable prior year development in U.S. Financial Lines, net of external 
reinsurance but before ADC cessions, due to adverse experience in the Directors and Officers (D&O) subset of business 
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During 2017, we recognized $345 million of unfavorable prior year development in U.S. Financial Lines, net of external 
reinsurance but before ADC cessions, primarily due to adverse experience in the Directors and Officers (D&O) subset of 
business.  

The mix of business has been changing in recent years as we write more cyber and mergers and acquisitions business, 
which generally report claims faster.    

   
Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance 

   
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   December 31, 2018      

Accident 
Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017  2018 

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 
Excluding 

the Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

Total of 
IBNR 

Liabilities 
Plus 

Expected 
Development 
on Reported 

Losses 

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

Incurred 
Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

2018 (Net of 
Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 
Agreement) 

Total of IBNR 
Liabilities 

Net of Impact 
of Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

 Unaudited   

2009 $ 1,693 $ 1,780 $ 1,845 $ 1,904 $ 2,097 $ 2,189 $ 2,183 $ 2,273 $ 2,310 $ 2,322 $ 12 $ 62 22,621 $ (32) $ 2,290 $ 30 

2010  1,552 1,509 1,406 1,366 1,370 1,472 1,514 1,541   1,540 (1) 49 20,182 (37) 1,503 12 

2011   1,816 1,734 1,902 1,902 1,935 1,965 1,997   1,991 (6) 36 20,078 (26) 1,965 10 

2012    1,572 1,739 1,777 1,892 1,986 1,987   2,011 24 150 20,122 (90) 1,921 60 

2013     1,767 1,691 1,643 1,597 1,541   1,488 (53) 133 19,042 (89) 1,399 44 

2014      1,767 1,736 1,849 1,898   1,932 34 309 17,330 (207) 1,725 102 

2015     1,705 1,744 1,719   1,759 40 433 15,873 (326) 1,433 107 

2016    1,593 1,841   1,967 126 688 15,734 - 1,967 688 

2017   1,560   1,662 102 1,017 14,702 - 1,662 1,017 

2018   1,637 1,402 12,936 - 1,637 1,402 

Total  $ 18,309 $ 278 $ (807) $ 17,502 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of    

Reinsurance from the table below   (12,253) - - (12,253) 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development   

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance   79 (1) (13) 66 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development   21 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss   

development, net of reinsurance  $ 6,135 $ 298 $ (820) $ 5,315 

 

Incurred Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted, Net of Reinsurance (including impact of ADC) 

 

Calendar Years Ended 
December 31, 

(in millions)  
Change in 
Incurred 
Loss and 

ALAE Accident Year 2016  2017  2018  

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 2,277 $ 2,284 $ 2,290 $ 6 

2010 1,505 1,510 1,503 (7) 

2011 1,941 1,947 1,965 18 

2012 1,904 1,904 1,921 17 

2013 1,426 1,415 1,399 (16) 

2014 1,690 1,700 1,725 25 

2015 1,411 1,406 1,433 27 

2016 1,593 1,841 1,967 126 

2017 - 1,560 1,662 102 

2018 - - 1,637 - 

Total $ 13,747 $ 15,567 $ 17,502 $ 298 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance from the table below    (12,253)  - 

Liabilities for losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses before 2009, net of reinsurance  36  66  30 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development    -  27 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss development, net of reinsurance $ 5,315 $ 355 
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The following table provides our attribution of our reinsurance recoverable for the ADC only (included in the table above): 

 

Calendar Years Ended  
December 31,  

(in millions)  
Change in 
Incurred 
Loss and 

ALAE Accident Year 2016  2017  2018  

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 4 $ (26) $ (32) $ (6) 

2010 (9) (31) (37) (6) 

2011 (24) (50) (26) 24 

2012 (82) (83) (90) (7) 

2013 (171) (126) (89) 37 

2014 (159) (198) (207) (9) 

2015 (333) (313) (326) (13) 

2016 - - - - 

2017 - - - - 

2018 - - - - 

Total $ (774) $ (827) $ (807) $ 20 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance from the table below    -  - 

Liabilities for losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses before 2009, net of reinsurance  (42)  (13)  29 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss development, net of reinsurance $ (820) $ 49 
 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Paid Impact 
of Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 
 Unaudited   

2009 $ 129 $ 499 $ 887 $ 1,273 $ 1,614 $ 1,838 $ 1,964 $ 2,056 $ 2,092 $ 2,129 $ - 
2010  31 285 566 800 1,017 1,180 1,280 1,361 1,401 - 
2011   165 494 886 1,210 1,528 1,732 1,862 1,888 - 
2012    76 406 815 1,252 1,497 1,625 1,689 - 
2013     43 333 686 945 1,142 1,238 - 
2014      66 371 853 1,159 1,386 - 
2015     66 393 792 1,051 - 
2016    76 500 986 - 
2017   66 397 - 
2018  88 - 
Total $ 12,253 $ - 

Reserving Process and Methodology 

U.S. Financial Lines business includes D&O, Errors and Omissions (E&O), Employment Practices Liability Insurance (EPLI) and 
various professional liability subsets of business, as well as the fidelity book of business. This includes cyber coverage and mergers 
and acquisitions coverage, which have been a growing and evolving portion of this portfolio. These product lines are predominantly 
claims-made in nature, losses are characterized by low frequency and high severity, and results are often significantly impacted by 
external economic conditions.  

Our analysis is segmented by major coverages, such as D&O, E&O, etc. and then further segmented by major industry groups (e.g. 
corporate accounts, national accounts, financial institutions, private/not-for-profit, etc.). We also separately review primary business 
from excess business for certain product lines. 
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We generally use a combination of loss development methods and expected loss ratio methods for D&O, E&O, EPLI, and 
professional liability. These product lines generally are offered on a claims-made basis, and losses are characterized by low frequency 
and high severity. In general, expected loss ratio methods are given more weight in the more recent accident years, and loss 
development methods are given more weight in more mature accident years. The loss development factors for the different segments 
differ significantly in some cases, based on specific coverage characteristics and other factors such as industry group, attachment 
points, and limits offered. Individual claims projections for accident years ended over eighteen months prior are also used in the 
analysis.  

Frequency/severity methods are generally not used in isolation for these product lines as the overall losses are driven by large losses 
more than by claim frequency. Severity trends have varied significantly from accident year to accident year and care is required in 
analyzing these trends by claim type. We also give weight to claim department ground-up projections of ultimate loss on a claim-by-
claim basis as these may be more predictive of ultimate loss values, especially for older accident years. 

We generally use loss development methods for fidelity exposures for all but the latest accident year. We also use claim department 
projections of the ultimate value of each reported claim to supplement and inform the standard actuarial approaches and some weight 
is given to this method in the more recent accident years. For surety exposures, we generally use the same method as for short-tail 
classes whereby frequency/severity methods, loss development methods, and IBNR factor methods are used alone or in combination 
to set reserves. 

Expected loss ratio methods are also given weight for the more recent accident years. IBNR factor methods are used, when the 
nature of losses is low frequency/high severity. The IBNR factors, when applied to earned premium, generate the ultimate expected 
losses (or other exposure measure) yet to be reported. The factors are determined based on prior accident quarters’ loss costs 
adjusted to reflect current cost levels and the historical emergence of those loss costs. The factors are continually reevaluated to 
reflect emerging claim experience, rate changes or other factors that could affect the adequacy of the IBNR factor being employed. 

Prior Year Development 

During 2018, we recognized $298 million of unfavorable prior year development particularly across accident years 2014-2017. The 
largest share of the unfavorable development came from D&O and EPLI for Corporate and National accounts and resulted largely 
from increases in severity as the costs of security class actions increased. Excess D&O also contributed adverse development due to 
similar causes. 

During 2017, we recognized $345 million of unfavorable prior year development particularly in accident year 2016. The largest share 
of the unfavorable development came from D&O for privately owned and not-for -profit insureds and resulted largely from increases in 
bankruptcy-related claims and fiduciary liability claims for large educational institutions. Other segments of the portfolio contributed 
largely offsetting favorable and unfavorable development; notably, development was unfavorable for excess D&O and employment 
practices liability while development was favorable for fidelity and D&O for corporate and national accounts. 

During 2016, we recognized $306 million of unfavorable prior year development as we reacted to the unfavorable actual versus 
expected in 2016 driven by higher than expected settlements on several large claims from the financial crisis for accident years 2006 
to 2010, as well as unfavorable emergence of errors and omissions losses relative to historical expectations.   In addition to the 
unfavorable emergence, we also updated our loss development factor assumptions, expected loss ratio assumptions and the weights 
given to the various methods in recent accident years. 

U.S. Property and Special Risks 

During 2018, we recognized $497 million of favorable prior year development in U.S. Property and Special Risks, net of 
external reinsurance but before ADC cessions, mainly due to favorable development from the 2017 Catastrophes.   

During 2017, we recognized $115 million of unfavorable prior year development in U.S. Property and Special Risks, net of 
external reinsurance but before ADC cessions, mainly due to unfavorable development from the commercial auto portion of 
the Program business unit, which offers multiline policies to small and mid-sized insureds. 
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Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance 
   
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   December 31, 2018      

Accident 
Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 
Excluding the 

Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

Total of 
IBNR 

Liabilities 
Plus 

Expected 
Development 
on Reported 

Losses 

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

Incurred 
Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

2018 (Net of 
Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 
Agreement)  

Total of IBNR 
Liabilities 

Net of Impact 
of Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 2,239 $ 1,986 $ 1,959 $ 1,961 $ 1,920 $ 1,900 $ 1,887 $ 1,894 $ 1,896 $ 1,896 $ - $ 22 47,707 $ (11) $ 1,885 $ 11 

2010  2,786 2,533 2,489 2,561 2,578 2,558 2,567 2,579  2,569 (10) 68 47,645 (18) 2,551  50 

2011   3,855 3,713 3,638 3,628 3,612 3,652 3,651  3,645 (6) 56 49,597 (15) 3,630  41 

2012    4,191 4,302 4,278 4,234 4,346 4,343  4,325 (18) 95 48,782 (19) 4,306  76 

2013     2,526 2,545 2,402 2,449 2,463  2,465 2 73 50,165 (27) 2,438  46 

2014      2,931 2,684 2,746 2,738  2,756 18 140 60,612 (64) 2,692  76 

2015     3,116 2,970 2,916  2,894 (22) 221 58,936 (87) 2,807  134 

2016    3,168 3,193  3,117 (76) 366 53,727 - 3,117  366 

2017   5,246  4,796 (450) 866 77,335 - 4,796  866 

2018  3,712 1,609 56,580 - 3,712  1,609 

Total $ 32,175 $ (562)  $ (241) 31,934  

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of    

Reinsurance from the table below  (25,689) -  - (25,689)  

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development    

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance  362 39  (73) 289  

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development  26   

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss    

development, net of reinsurance  $ 6,848 $ (497)  $ (314) 6,534  

 

Incurred Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted, Net of Reinsurance (including impact of ADC) 

 

Calendar Years Ended 
December 31, 

(in millions)  
Change in 
Incurred 
Loss and 

ALAE Accident Year 2016  2017  2018  

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 1,882 $ 1,883 $ 1,885 $ 2 

2010 2,558 2,561 2,551 (10) 

2011 3,632 3,632 3,630 (2) 

2012 4,319 4,318 4,306 (12) 

2013 2,422 2,425 2,438 13 

2014 2,679 2,677 2,692 15 

2015 2,829 2,818 2,807 (11) 

2016 3,168 3,193 3,117 (76) 

2017 - 5,246 4,796 (450) 

2018 - - 3,712 - 

Total $ 23,489 $ 28,753 $ 31,934 $ (531) 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance from the table below    (25,689)  - 

Liabilities for losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses before 2009, net of reinsurance  244  289  45 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development    -  58 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss development, net of reinsurance $ 6,534 $ (428) 
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The following table provides our attribution of our reinsurance recoverable for the ADC only (included in the table above): 

 

Calendar Years Ended  
December 31,  

(in millions)  
Change in 
Incurred 
Loss and 

ALAE Accident Year 2016  2017  2018  

 Unaudited     

2009 $ (12) $ (13) $ (11) $ 2 

2010 (9) (18) (18) - 

2011 (20) (19) (15) 4 

2012 (27) (25) (19) 6 

2013 (27) (38) (27) 11 

2014 (67) (61) (64) (3) 

2015 (141) (98) (87) 11 

2016 - - - - 

2017 - - - - 

2018 - - - - 

Total $ (303) $ (272) $ (241) $ 31 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance from the table below    - - 

Liabilities for losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses before 2009, net of reinsurance  (79)  (73)  6 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss development, net of reinsurance $ (314) $ 37 
 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Paid Impact 
of Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 
 Unaudited   

2009 $ 551 $ 1,160 $ 1,442 $ 1,626 $ 1,731 $ 1,793 $ 1,816 $ 1,838 $ 1,853 $ 1,857 $ - 
2010  757 1,574 1,911 2,113 2,247 2,371 2,440 2,476 2,492 - 
2011   1,021 2,336 2,920 3,183 3,384 3,481 3,529 3,560 - 
2012    842 2,716 3,420 3,785 4,001 4,137 4,170 - 
2013     736 1,578 1,855 2,056 2,203 2,317 - 
2014      901 1,748 2,083 2,296 2,434 - 
2015     1,045 1,866 2,228 2,484 - 
2016    1,018 2,039 2,367 - 
2017   1,356 2,941 - 
2018  1,067 - 
Total $ 25,689 $ - 
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Reserving Process and Methodology 

U.S. Property products include commercial, industrial and energy-related property insurance products and services that cover 
exposures to manmade and natural disasters, including business interruption. U.S. Special Risk products include aerospace, 
environmental, political risk, trade credit, surety and marine insurance, and program business for various small and medium sized 
enterprises insurance lines.  The program segments include both property and casualty exposures. 

We primarily segment our analysis by line of business. Additionally, we separately review various subsets, including hull, cargo, and 
liability for marine business, aviation and satellite for aerospace business, and various other specific programs and product lines. 

Frequency/severity methods, loss development methods, and IBNR factor methods are used alone or in combination to set reserves 
for short-tail classes such as U.S. Property. 

IBNR factor methods are used when the nature of losses is low frequency/high severity. The IBNR factors, when applied to earned 
premium, generate the ultimate expected losses (or other exposure measure) yet to be reported. The factors are determined based 
on prior accident quarters’ loss costs adjusted to reflect current cost levels and the historical emergence of those loss costs. The 
factors are continually reevaluated to reflect emerging claim experience, rate changes or other factors that could affect the adequacy 
of the IBNR factor being employed. 

We generally use a combination of loss development methods and expected loss ratio methods for aviation exposures. Aviation 
claims are not very long-tail in nature; however, they are driven by claim severity. Thus a combination of both development and 
expected loss ratio methods is used for all but the latest accident year to determine the loss reserves.  Frequency/severity methods 
are not employed due to the high severity nature of the claims and different mix of claims from year to year. 

We generally use loss development methods for fidelity exposures for all but the latest accident year. We also use claim department 
projections of the ultimate value of each reported claim to supplement and inform the standard actuarial approaches and some weight 
is given to this method in the more recent accident years. The claims staff also provides specific estimates to assist in the setting of 
reserves for natural catastrophe losses. 

For program business, we use methods which vary by line of business.  For property classes, we use methods similar to those noted 
above.  For liability classes, we use methods similar to those described in the casualty sections detailed above. 

Expected loss ratio methods are used to determine the loss reserves for the latest accident year. We also use ground-up claim 
projections provided by our claims staff to assist in developing the appropriate reserve. 

Prior Year Development 

During 2018, we recognized $497 million of favorable prior year development in U.S. Property and Special Risks driven largely by 
favorable development on the 2017 Catastrophes as well as favorable emergence on non-Catastrophe Commercial Property, and 
Program and Specialty classes.   

During 2017, we recognized $115 million of unfavorable prior year development primarily driven by commercial auto business in the 
program business unit.  A significant portion of this development came from accident year 2016 with much of it related to programs 
that have been terminated over the past year. We also experienced some individual severe loss experience, also mostly related to 
accident year 2016 in other lines of business including aviation, surety, and marine; however, this was largely offset by favorable 
development in commercial property. 

During 2016, we recognized $396 million of unfavorable prior year development driven by our U.S. program business where we 
recognized $350 million of unfavorable prior year development due to higher than expected claim emergence in certain automobile, 
habitational and professional liability programs that resulted in our increasing expected loss ratios and loss development factors for 
several program subsets.  

U.S. Personal Insurance 

During 2018, we recognized $255 million of unfavorable prior year development in U.S. Personal Insurance, net of external 
reinsurance but before ADC cessions, mainly due to catastrophe development from accident year 2017. 

During 2017, we recognized $16 million of unfavorable prior year development in U.S. Personal Insurance, net of external 
reinsurance but before ADC cessions, mainly due to homeowners business in accident year 2016. This was partially offset 
by favorable development in accident and health business. 
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Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance 
    
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)    December 31, 2018      

Accident 
Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 
Excluding 

the Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement  

Total of 
IBNR 

Liabilities 
Plus 

Expected 
Development 
on Reported 

Losses  

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

Incurred 
Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

2018 (Net of 
Impact of 
Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 
Agreement) 

Total of IBNR 
Liabilities 

Net of Impact 
of Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 

 Unaudited      

2009 $ 1,763 $ 1,697 $ 1,649 $ 1,663 $ 1,664 $ 1,664 $ 1,668 $ 1,667 $ 1,671 $ 1,672 $ 1 $ 3  376,026 $ (1) $ 1,671 $ 2 

2010  1,843 1,809 1,819 1,819 1,820 1,819 1,817 1,817  1,815 (2)  1  422,639 (1) 1,814 - 

2011   1,886 1,908 1,896 1,891 1,890 1,886 1,881  1,879 (2)  1  412,893 (1) 1,878 - 

2012    2,208 2,128 2,109 2,083 2,077 2,094  2,095 1  2  403,738 (2) 2,093 - 

2013     1,887 1,816 1,803 1,782 1,780  1,776 (4)  3  334,879 (2) 1,774 1 

2014      1,552 1,562 1,572 1,572  1,583 11  20  274,205 (12) 1,571 8 

2015     1,511 1,498 1,494  1,483 (11)  13  259,543 (11) 1,472 2 

2016    1,536 1,533  1,533 -  38  244,935 - 1,533 38 

2017   2,028  2,287 259  359  213,741 - 2,287 359 

2018  2,188  723  73,321 - 2,188 723 

Total $ 18,311 $ 253   $ (30) 18,281  

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of     

Reinsurance from the table below  (16,500) -   - (16,500)  

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development     

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance  (73) 2   (2) (75)  

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development    -    

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss     

development, net of reinsurance  $ 1,738 $ 255   $ (32) 1,706  

 

Incurred Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted, Net of Reinsurance (including impact of ADC) 

 

Calendar Years Ended 
December 31, 

(in millions)  
Change in 
Incurred 
Loss and 

ALAE Accident Year 2016  2017  2018  

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 1,670 $ 1,671 $ 1,671 $ - 

2010 1,816 1,816 1,814 (2) 

2011 1,881 1,880 1,878 (2) 

2012 2,088 2,091 2,093 2 

2013 1,774 1,774 1,774 - 

2014 1,564 1,564 1,571 7 

2015 1,476 1,475 1,472 (3) 

2016 1,536 1,533 1,533 - 

2017 - 2,028 2,287 259 

2018 - - 2,188 - 

Total $ 13,805 $ 15,832 $ 18,281 $ 261 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance from the table below    (16,500) - 

Liabilities for losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses before 2009, net of reinsurance  (77)  (75) 2 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development    -  1 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss development, net of reinsurance $ 1,706 $ 264 



  
 

ITEM 8 | Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | 13. Insurance Liabil i t ies 
 

AIG | 2018 Form 10-K                         267 
 

The following table provides our attribution of our reinsurance recoverable for the ADC only (included in the table above): 

 

Calendar Years Ended  
December 31,  

(in millions)  
Change in 
Incurred 
Loss and 

ALAE Accident Year 2016  2017  2018  

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 3 $ - $ (1) $ (1) 

2010 (1) (1) (1) - 

2011 (5) (1) (1) - 

2012 11 (3) (2) 1 

2013 (8) (6) (2) 4 

2014 (8) (8) (12) (4) 

2015 (22) (19) (11) 8 

2016 - - - - 

2017 - - - - 

2018 - - - - 

Total $ (30) $ (38) $ (30) $ 8 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance from the table below    - - 

Liabilities for losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses before 2009, net of reinsurance  (2)  (2)  - 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss development, net of reinsurance $ (32) $ 8 
 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Paid Impact 
of Adverse 

Development 
Reinsurance 

Agreement 
 Unaudited   

2009 $ 1,129 $ 1,563 $ 1,567 $ 1,618 $ 1,639 $ 1,650 $ 1,658 $ 1,663 $ 1,664 $ 1,667 $ - 
2010  1,205 1,669 1,736 1,772 1,794 1,803 1,808 1,810 1,812 - 
2011   1,204 1,752 1,814 1,840 1,860 1,869 1,873 1,874 - 
2012    1,238 1,936 1,996 2,035 2,065 2,079 2,085 - 
2013     1,109 1,634 1,705 1,744 1,759 1,766 - 
2014      959 1,380 1,463 1,507 1,536 - 
2015     931 1,320 1,411 1,439 - 
2016    857 1,344 1,422 - 
2017   941 1,672 - 
2018  1,227 - 
Total $ 16,500 $ - 
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Reserving Process and Methodology 

U.S. Personal Insurance consists of accident and health and personal lines. Accident and health products include voluntary and 
sponsor-paid personal accident and supplemental health products for individuals, employees, associations and other organizations as 
well as a broad range of travel insurance products and services for leisure and business travelers. Personal lines include automobile 
and homeowners’ insurance, extended warranty, and consumer specialty products, such as identity theft and credit card protection. 
Personal lines also provides insurance for high net worth individuals offered through AIG Private Client Group, including auto, 
homeowners, umbrella, yacht, fine art and collections insurance. Personal lines are generally short-tail in nature. 

We primarily segment our analysis by line of business and may separately review various sub-segments, such as specific accident 
and health products and property damage versus liability for personal lines products. 

Frequency/severity methods, loss development methods, and IBNR factor methods are used alone or in combination to set reserves 
for short-tail product lines such as personal property. 

Frequency/severity and loss development methods are utilized for domestic personal auto product lines. 

For these classes of business, reliance is placed on frequency/severity methods as claim counts emerge quickly for personal auto. 
Frequency/severity methods allow for more immediate analysis of resulting loss trends and comparisons to industry and other 
diagnostic metrics. 

In general, development for U.S. Personal Insurance classes has been very stable, with only modest changes in the initial selected 
loss ratios for this business. 

Prior Year Development 

During 2018, we recognized $255 million of adverse prior year development in US Personal Insurance driven largely by development 
on the California Wildfires and Hurricane Irma in 2017.  

During 2017, we recognized $16 million of unfavorable prior year development in U.S. Personal Insurance mainly due to homeowners 
business in accident year 2016, particularly from catastrophe activity. This was partially offset by favorable development in accident 
and health business. 

During 2016, we recognized $32 million of favorable development mainly driven by accident and health business.  

UK/Europe Casualty and Financial Lines 

During 2018, we recognized $58 million of unfavorable prior year development in Europe Casualty and Financial Lines 
driven by greater frequency of large losses than expected. 

During 2017, we recognized $507 million of unfavorable prior year development in UK/Europe Casualty and Financial Lines, 
net of external reinsurance, driven by continued higher than expected loss emergence.  
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Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance* 
        
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   December 31, 2018 

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012  2013 2014 2015 2016 2017  2018 

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 

Total of 
IBNR 

Liabilities 
Plus 

Expected 
Development 
on Reported 

Losses  

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

 Unaudited    

2009 $ 1,825 $ 1,741 $ 1,721 $ 1,786 $ 1,822 $ 1,833 $ 1,841 $ 1,923 $ 1,957 $ 1,952 $ (5) $ 86  237,608 

2010  1,421 1,376 1,383  1,403 1,330 1,365 1,330 1,399   1,404 5 66  275,528 

2011   1,361 1,307  1,375 1,409 1,493 1,494 1,540   1,557 17 71  265,751 

2012    1,183  1,153 1,108 1,172 1,209 1,185   1,245 60 78  219,045 

2013      1,190 1,241 1,211 1,182 1,237   1,223 (14) 116  186,848 

2014       1,262 1,247 1,279 1,289   1,242 (47) 252  177,454 

2015       1,321 1,484 1,514   1,514 - 453  191,382 

2016      1,538 1,686   1,754 68 565  227,036 

2017      1,558   1,530 (28) 871  241,031 

2018       1,518 1,118  212,169 

Total      $ 14,939 $ 56  

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of    

Reinsurance from the table below   (8,529) -  

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development    

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance   612 1  

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development     1  

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss    

development, net of reinsurance  $ 7,022 $ 58  

*  The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance* 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions) 
Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

 Unaudited   

2009 $ 180 $ 430 $ 689 $ 924 $ 1,088 $ 1,220 $ 1,383 $ 1,519 $ 1,621 $ 1,680 

2010  139 395 606 775 909 1,003 1,069 1,124 1,148 

2011   133 362 543 779 923 1,063 1,177 1,242 

2012    115 320 464 642 774 864 969 

2013     100 363 525 676 823 954 

2014      83 290 480 620 747 

2015     83 285 501 671 

2016    145 427 671 

2017   108 322 

2018  125 

Total $ 8,529 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
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Reserving Process and Methodology 

UK/Europe is our largest non-U.S. region for Liability and Financial Lines.  UK/Europe Casualty and Financial Lines is composed of 
third-party coverages including general liability, auto liability, D&O, professional liability and various other lines of business throughout 
both the UK and Continental Europe. These lines of business are all long-tail in nature and while somewhat diverse in terms of 
exposures, these lines are often subject to similar trends. These lines are impacted by the underwriting cycle and external judicial 
trends. The largest share of business is in the UK, but significant business is also written in other European countries such as 
Germany, France, and Italy. 

We primarily segment our analysis by country and line of business. Additionally, we separately review various product lines, including 
excess versus primary casualty, commercial versus financial institutions management liability, and other specific programs and 
subsets of business.  We maintain a database of detailed historical premium and loss transactions in original currency for business 
written outside of the U.S. which allows our actuaries to determine loss reserves without foreign exchange distorting development. 

We generally use a combination of loss development methods and expected loss ratio methods. For countries and lines of business 
with sufficient loss volume, loss development methods may be given significant weight for all but the most recent accident years. For 
smaller countries and more volatile product lines, loss development methods are typically given limited weight for recent accident 
years. Further, we may rely on larger data subsets in determining the loss development factors and a priori loss ratio assumptions. 

In general, the loss development for long-tail lines in UK/Europe has been more stable than the development in U.S. long-tail lines, 
although some underlying drivers have affected the results in a similar manner (e.g. the impact of the financial crisis in accident years 
2008 and 2009).  

Prior Year Development 
 
During 2018, we recognized $58 million of unfavorable prior year development in UK/Europe Casualty and Financial Lines driven by 
increased large loss activity in recent accident years, particularly related to directors and officers class action suits against insureds 
with global exposure; and increased severity in excess casualty. 

During 2017 we recognized $507 million of unfavorable prior year development in UK/Europe casualty and Financial Lines. We 
observed a significant increase in large claims activity across multiple segments, notably excess casualty business and D&O and 
professional liability coverages for financial institutions. This experience was spread across multiple accident years but had the largest 
impact on accident year 2016 and accident years 2008 and prior. We increased loss development assumptions for Financial Lines 
business in consideration of the increased loss activity experienced in older accident years and increased expected loss ratios for 
more recent accident years. For Casualty lines, we increased loadings for large losses, particularly in the more recent accident years. 
In addition, we increased our loss reserves as a result of the decision made by the U.K. Ministry of Justice to reduce the discount rate 
applied to lump-sum bodily injury payouts, known as the Ogden rate.  

During 2016, we recognized $320 million of unfavorable prior year development. Within UK/Europe Financial Lines, we recognized 
$232 million of unfavorable development primarily from the D&O line in UK and Continental Europe as result of the unfavorable actual 
versus expected loss emergence in 2016 due to increased frequency and severity resulting from increasing litigation. In UK/Europe 
Casualty we recognized $123 million of unfavorable development primarily from the unexpected emergence of several large excess 
casualty claims. The actual versus expected loss emergence for UK/Europe Casualty and Financial Lines was more than expected. 

UK/Europe Property and Special Risks 

During 2018, we recognized $22 million of favorable prior year development in the UK/Europe Property and Special Risks 
segment, net of external reinsurance. 

During 2017, we recognized $157 million of unfavorable prior year development in the UK/Europe Property and Special 
Risks segment, net of external reinsurance, driven primarily by unexpected development on large claims, primarily from 
accident years 2015 and 2016. 
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Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance* 
  
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   December 31, 2018 

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 

Total of IBNR 
Liabilities 

Plus 
Expected 

Development 
on Reported 

Losses 

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

 Unaudited     

2009 $ 1,244 $ 1,090 $ 1,060 $ 1,009 $ 992 $ 986 $ 971 $ 973 $ 970 $ 950 $ (20) $ 4 46,280 

2010  1,679 1,544 1,388 1,327 1,304 1,283 1,280 1,281  1,282 1 1 50,111 

2011   1,416 1,339 1,225 1,191 1,161 1,150 1,151  1,145 (6) 8 50,560 

2012    1,323 1,226 1,161 1,137 1,118 1,128  1,117 (11) 3 45,379 

2013     1,460 1,450 1,340 1,320 1,310  1,304 (6) (3) 44,711 

2014      1,564 1,578 1,566 1,553  1,564 11 27 53,009 

2015     1,729 1,685 1,698  1,676 (22) 40 58,471 

2016    1,644 1,698  1,738 40 58 59,513 

2017   1,923  1,913 (10) 148 54,052 

2018  1,564  570 34,370 

Total $ 14,253 $ (23) 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of   

Reinsurance from the table below  (11,305) - 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development   

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance  40 3 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development  (2) 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss   

development, net of reinsurance  $ 2,988 $ (22) 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance* 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions) 
Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

 Unaudited    

2009 $ 272 $ 624 $ 780 $ 854 $ 896 $ 910 $ 927 $ 931 $ 933 $ 935 

2010  413 900 1,077 1,168 1,207 1,236 1,245 1,252 1,258 

2011   339 778 969 1,045 1,068 1,085 1,094 1,101 

2012    280 725 917 985 1,031 1,057 1,066 

2013     334 839 1,079 1,158 1,209 1,229 

2014      336 972 1,270 1,345 1,385 

2015     402 1,035 1,335 1,449 

2016    475 1,178 1,442 

2017   396 1,098 

2018  342 

Total $ 11,305 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
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Reserving Process and Methodology 

UK/Europe Property products include commercial, industrial and energy-related property insurance products and services that cover 
exposures to manmade and natural disasters, including business interruption.  UK/Europe Special Risk products include aerospace, 
environmental, political risk, trade credit, surety and marine insurance, and various small and medium sized enterprises insurance 
lines. 

We primarily segment our analysis by line of business. Additionally, we separately review various subsets, including hull, cargo, and 
liability for marine business, aviation and satellite for aerospace business, and various other specific programs and product lines. 

Frequency/severity methods, loss development methods, and IBNR factor methods are used alone or in combination to set reserves 
for short-tail classes such as UK/Europe Property. 

IBNR factor methods are used when the nature of losses is low frequency/high severity. The IBNR factors, when applied to earned 
premium, generate the ultimate expected losses (or other exposure measure) yet to be reported. The factors are determined based 
on prior accident quarters’ loss costs adjusted to reflect current cost levels and the historical emergence of those loss costs. The 
factors are continually reevaluated to reflect emerging claim experience, rate changes or other factors that could affect the adequacy 
of the IBNR factor being employed. 

We generally use a combination of loss development methods and expected loss ratio methods for aviation exposures. Aviation 
claims are not very long-tail in nature; however, they are driven by claim severity. Thus a combination of both development and 
expected loss ratio methods is used for all but the latest accident year to determine the loss reserves.  Frequency/severity methods 
are not employed due to the high severity nature of the claims and different mix of claims from year to year. 

We generally use loss development methods for fidelity exposures for all but the latest accident year. We also use claim department 
projections of the ultimate value of each reported claim to supplement and inform the standard actuarial approaches and some weight 
is given to this method in the more recent accident years. The claims staff also provides specific estimates to assist in the setting of 
reserves for natural catastrophe losses. 

Expected loss ratio methods are used to determine the loss reserves for the latest accident year. We also use ground-up claim 
projections provided by our claims staff to assist in developing the appropriate reserve. 

Prior Year Development 

During 2018, we recognized $22 million of favorable prior year development in the Europe Property and Special Risks segment driven 
by favorable development across most accident years with some adverse development in accident years 2014 and 2016. 

During 2017, we recognized $157 million of unfavorable prior year development, primarily from accident years 2015 and 2016. This 
was largely driven by large individual claim development in the property, aviation, marine, and trade credit lines of business. 

During 2016, we recognized $11 million of unfavorable prior year development, primarily from the property segment. 

UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance   

During 2018, we recognized $116 million of favorable prior year development in UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance, 
net of external reinsurance. 

During 2017, we recognized $58 million of favorable prior year development in UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance, 
net of external reinsurance, mainly due to accident and health business. 
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Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance* 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   December 31, 2018 

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 

Total of 
IBNR 

Liabilities 
Plus 

Expected 
Development 
on Reported 

Losses 

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

 Unaudited   

2009 $ 3,037 $ 2,979 $ 2,973 $ 2,992 $ 2,980 $ 2,976 $ 2,971 $ 2,972 $ 2,973 $ 2,971 $ (2) $ 2 1,606,155 

2010  2,945 2,993 2,994 2,982 2,983 2,977 3,005 3,009  3,007 (2) 5 1,819,899 

2011   3,241 3,301 3,267 3,269 3,258 3,262 3,261  3,261 - 5 1,777,851 

2012    2,856 2,838 2,819 2,804 2,813 2,814  2,811 (3) 8 1,730,053 

2013     2,705 2,706 2,671 2,672 2,669  2,663 (6) 12 1,736,129 

2014      2,668 2,677 2,660 2,651  2,643 (8) 19 1,792,742 

2015     2,738 2,714 2,702  2,694 (8) 38 1,771,419 

2016    2,690 2,656  2,643 (13) 83 1,791,483 

2017   2,631  2,548 (83) 170 1,691,824 

2018  3,089 641 1,636,511 

Total $ 28,330 $ (125) 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of  

Reinsurance from the table below  (26,111) - 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development  

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance  45 9 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development    - 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss  

development, net of reinsurance  $ 2,264 $ (116) 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance* 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions) 
Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

 Unaudited   

2009 $ 1,714 $ 2,491 $ 2,732 $ 2,840 $ 2,894 $ 2,923 $ 2,939 $ 2,951 $ 2,957 $ 2,959 

2010  1,690 2,480 2,723 2,833 2,889 2,924 2,943 2,954 2,961 

2011   1,971 2,766 2,999 3,111 3,174 3,203 3,219 3,228 

2012    1,596 2,335 2,562 2,668 2,724 2,754 2,770 

2013     1,483 2,217 2,432 2,537 2,593 2,623 

2014      1,457 2,194 2,413 2,523 2,579 

2015     1,478 2,235 2,456 2,574 

2016    1,478 2,199 2,416 

2017   1,446 2,156 

2018  1,845 

Total $ 26,111 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
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Reserving Process and Methodology 

UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance lines consist of accident and health and personal lines. Accident and health products 
include voluntary and sponsor-paid personal accident and supplemental health products for individuals, employees, associations and 
other organizations as well as a broad range of travel insurance products and services for leisure and business travelers. Personal 
lines include automobile and homeowners’ insurance, extended warranty, and consumer specialty products, such as identity theft and 
credit card protection. Personal lines are generally short-tail in nature. 

We primarily segment our analysis by line of business (and by country for UK/Europe and Japan business) and may separately 
review various sub-segments, such as specific accident and health products and property damage versus liability for other personal 
lines products. 

Frequency/severity methods, loss development methods, and IBNR factor methods are used alone or in combination to set reserves 
for short-tail product lines such as personal property. 

Frequency/severity and loss development methods are utilized for domestic personal auto product lines. 

For these classes of business, reliance is placed on frequency/severity methods as claim counts emerge quickly for personal auto. 
Frequency/severity methods allow for more immediate analysis of resulting loss trends and comparisons to industry and other 
diagnostic metrics. 

In general, development for UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance classes has been very stable, with only modest changes in the 
initial selected loss ratios for this business. 

Prior Year Development 

During 2018, we recognized $116 million of favorable prior year development in UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance due to 
favorable emergence on catastrophes, accident and health business, and personal auto business. 

During 2017 and 2016, we recognized $58 million and $82 million of favorable development, respectively, mainly driven by the 
accident and health business.  

U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance Lines 

During 2018, the U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance Lines experienced favorable prior year development of $4 million, net of 
external reinsurance. 

During 2017, the U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance Lines experienced favorable prior year development of $30 million, net of 
external reinsurance, driven primarily by favorable asbestos development. 
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Incurred Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Undiscounted and Net of Reinsurance* 
  
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions)   December 31, 2018 

Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018  

2018 Prior 
Year 

Development 

Total of IBNR 
Liabilities 

Plus 
Expected 

Development 
on Reported 

Losses 

Cumulative 
Number of 

Reported 
Claims 

 Unaudited    

2009 $ 553 $ 532 $ 544 $ 579 $ 635 $ 602 $ 599 $ 580 $ 576 $ 584 $ 8 $ 76 16,251 

2010  640 528 534 557 585 582 611 565  559  (6) 52 8,530 

2011   534 542 576 641 676 685 700  687  (13) 83 7,816 

2012    629 678 741 786 751 752  702  (50) 49 4,070 

2013     482 533 589 570 528  511  (17) 51 2,547 

2014      379 475 453 459  383  (76) 76 2,346 

2015     439 523 550  503  (47) 85 2,357 

2016    294 285  274  (11) 53 1,646 

2017   197  238  41 147 640 

2018  76  35 282 

Total $ 4,517 $ (171) 

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of   

Reinsurance from the table below  (3,256)  - 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year development   

before accident year 2009, net of reinsurance  3,574  154 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense prior year development   13 

Liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses and prior year loss   

development, net of reinsurance  $ 4,835 $ (4) 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
                      

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, Net of Reinsurance* 
 
 Years Ended December 31, (dollars in millions) 
Accident Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
 Unaudited   
2009 $ 42 $ 134 $ 231 $ 286 $ 368 $ 409 $ 429 $ 447 $ 461 $ 472 
2010  57 149 243 321 404 435 455 464 473 
2011   21 140 259 385 449 532 549 559 
2012    86 194 286 414 481 498 525 
2013     87 154 261 321 368 390 
2014      21 96 185 233 262 
2015     35 132 238 320 
2016    53 140 163 
2017   13 59 
2018  33 
Total $ 3,256 

* The losses reported in the table are not covered by the Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement. 
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Reserving Process and Methodology 

U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance lines include run-off lines for asbestos and environmental (1986 and prior), excess workers’ 
compensation, and other casualty coverages consisting of environmental impairment liability and related coverages, medical 
malpractice, workers’ compensation, and general liability.  In some cases, the exposures in the more recent years have declined since 
the portfolio is in run-off. 

Asbestos and Environmental (1986 and prior) 

Asbestos coverage has been excluded from AIG policies commencing in 1985. Most of AIG’s asbestos claims exposures are ceded to 
National Indemnity Company (NICO) under a retroactive reinsurance arrangement entered into in 2011. Many of other asbestos-
related exposures are very long-tailed in nature and with exposures dating back 30 years or more. We consider a number of factors 
and recent experience in addition to the results of both external and internal analyses, to estimate asbestos and pre-1986 
environmental loss reserves.  We primarily base our determination of these loss reserves on a combination of ground-up and top-
down analyses of historical claims and available insurance coverages.  Nonetheless, we believe that significant uncertainty remains 
as to our ultimate liability for asbestos and environmental claims, which is due to several factors, including: 

• the long latency period between asbestos exposure and disease manifestation, and pollution events occurring undetected over 
many years, leading to the potential for involvement of multiple policy periods for individual claims; 

• claims filed under the non-aggregate premises or operations section of general liability policies; 

• the number of insureds seeking bankruptcy protection and the effect of prepackaged bankruptcies; 

• diverging legal interpretations; and  

• the difficulty in estimating the allocation of remediation cost among various parties with respect to environmental claims. 

Loss reserves for asbestos and environmental claims cannot be estimated using conventional reserving techniques such as those 
that rely on historical accident year loss development factors. The methods used to determine asbestos and environmental loss 
estimates and to establish the resulting reserves are continually reviewed and updated by management. 

Excess Workers’ Compensation 

Excess workers’ compensation has an extremely long tail and is one of the most challenging lines of business from a reserving 
perspective, particularly when the excess coverage is provided above a self-insured retention layer. The class is highly sensitive to 
small changes in assumptions (for example — in the rate of medical inflation or the longevity of injured workers) which can have a 
significant effect on the ultimate reserve cost estimate. 

Excess Workers’ Compensation business was written over qualified self-insurance by various divisions beginning in the 1980’s.  In 
1992, this business was consolidated into one division where it continued writing business up until 2011, when it was effectively put 
into runoff.  In this book of business, the claims are not handled (or administered) by AIG General Insurance claims personnel, but are 
administered by the client’s designated TPA. However, AIG General Insurance claims personnel maintain an oversight role over these 
TPAs and claims. 

Loss and loss adjustment expense liability estimates for excess workers’ compensation exposures are subject to additional 
uncertainties, due to the following: 

• claim settlement time is longer than most other casualty lines, due to the lifetime benefits that can be expected to payout on certain 
claims;  

• coverage statutes that vary by state; and 

• future medical inflation costs are difficult to estimate 

For this business, a combination of traditional methods (paid and incurred loss development) and non-traditional methods (individual 
claim annuity model, report yea incurred loss development, and pure IBNR count/severity methods) are used to estimate loss and 
loss expense liability estimates.  Loss data is segmented so as to reflect the anomalies in the historical data due to the various loss 
mitigation initiatives employed over the last several years.  
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Other Casualty Run-Off 

As noted above, other legacy exposures include environmental impairment liability and related coverages, medical malpractice, 
workers’ compensation, and general liability.  Depending on the individual class or lines of business reviewed, either traditional 
methods (i.e. paid loss development, incurred loss development), non-traditional methods (such as paid survival ratio or IBNR-to-case 
ratio methods) or a combination of the two are used.  In addition, for some of the environmental impairment liability related coverage, 
approaches based on individual claim department estimates for large remediation sites are extensively included as part of the overall 
actuarial estimates for environmental impairment liability related exposures. 

Prior Year Development 

During 2018, the U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance Lines recognized $4 million of favorable prior year development with adverse 
development on pre-1986 pollution business offset by favorable development in Excess Auto Liability, Environmental, and Healthcare 
Lines. 

During 2017, the U.S. Run-Off long tail insurance lines recognized $30 million of favorable prior year development.  

During 2016, the U.S. Run-Off long tail insurance lines recognized $390 million of unfavorable prior year development.  

Asbestos and Environmental (1986 and prior)   

In 2018, we recognized no change on the retained portion of asbestos claims. The development on the portion of the asbestos 
business ceded to NICO was unfavorable by $96 million on a gross basis, but had no net impact. For environmental, we recognized 
$150 million in unfavorable prior year development as a result of adverse claim emergence and top-down actuarial analyses 
performed during the year.  

In 2017, we recognized favorable net prior year development of $37 million on the retained portion of asbestos claims. This was 
primarily due to additional reinsurance recoveries identified for this portfolio. The development on the portion of the asbestos business 
ceded to NICO was unfavorable by $50 million on a gross basis, but had no net impact. For environmental, we recognized $22 million 
in unfavorable prior year development in consideration of activity related to several large clean-up sites and related accounts as well 
as a result of top-down actuarial analyses performed during the year. As part of this analysis, we increased our estimates of 
unallocated loss adjustment expense reserves for such claims, which were partially offset by a decrease in indemnity reserves. 

In 2016, we increased gross undiscounted asbestos incurred losses by $106 million and decreased net undiscounted asbestos 
incurred losses by $20 million. The gross undiscounted change reflects an increase in estimates related to our accounts retroceded to 
NICO.  The favorable development of the net incurred losses was largely a result of higher estimated external reinsurance recoveries 
on our retained asbestos exposures. For environmental, we increased incurred losses by $211 million primarily due to unfavorable 
development on several large clean-up sites and related accounts as well as a result of top down actuarial analyses performed during 
the year. 

Excess Workers’ Compensation  

We did not recognize any material development in this segment during 2018, 2017 or 2016.  The proactive management of settlement 
negotiations and other claims mitigation strategies minimized the volatility observed during this period. 
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Other Casualty Run-Off  

During 2018, prior year development was favorable by $154 million driven by favorable emergence on runoff excess trucking, 
Environmental and Healthcare segments and other runoff lines. 

In 2017, the net prior year development for the remaining legacy was favorable by $15 million. We experienced favorable 
development on runoff medical malpractice and environmental impairment liability business, which was partially offset by net 
unfavorable development on other casualty segments. 

We increased the reserves for these coverages by $190 million during 2016 to reflect updated assumptions about future loss 
development. The increase was driven by runoff public entity business where we reacted to the adverse emergence over the last year 
by increasing our loss development factors to reflect the portfolio’s experience especially in the loss tail instead of relying on the 
overall excess casualty loss development factors. 

The table below presents the reconciliation of change in net ultimates from tables above to prior year development for the 
year ended December 31, 2018: 

            

 Change in Loss 
and Loss 

Adjustment 
Expenses Net 

Ultimate(a) 

 

Re-Attribution of 
ADC Recovery(b) 

Amortization of 
Deferred Gain at 

Inception 
Prior Year 

Development 

  

(in millions)  
U.S. Workers' Compensation $ (498)  $ 589 $ (73) $ 18 
U.S. Excess Casualty 762 (370) (56) 336 
U.S. Other Casualty 58 (26) (51) (19) 
U.S. Financial Lines 355 (109) (37) 209 
U.S. Property and Special risks (401) (69) (13) (483) 
U.S. Personal Insurance 264 (14) (2) 248 
UK/Europe Casualty and Financial lines 63 - - 63 
UK/Europe Property and Special risks (24) - - (24) 
UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance (116) - - (116) 
U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance Lines (4) - - (4) 
Other product lines 136 (1) (1) 134 

Subtotal, adjusted pre-tax basis $ 595  $ - $ (233) $ 362 
  
Remove benefit of Retroactive Reinsurance 

Amortization of deferred gain at inception  233 
Prior year development ceded under the Asbestos LPT  96 
Prior year development ceded under the ADC  738 

Total, prior years, excluding discount and amortization of deferred gain  $ 1,429 

(a) Change in net ultimate loss and LAE excludes the portion of prior year development for which we have ceded to the Asbestos Loss Portfolio Transfer (LPT) and the 
Adverse Development Cover (ADC), both of which are provided by NICO and are considered retroactive reinsurance under US GAAP.  Amounts shown exclude $30 
million of pre-acquisition prior year development from Validus.  Validus' pre-acquisition development is included in the 10-year triangles shown above but is not included 
in AIG's financial results. 

(b) Reattribution of the ADC recovery takes place annually as we model the future payments on the subject reserves covered by the ADC to determine when the aggregate 
payments will exceed the attachment.  ADC recoverables are then reallocated by line based on payments expected to be made after attachment point is exceeded. 
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Prior Year Development before 2009 

The previous development tables include only accident years 2009 to 2018.  The following table summarizes (favorable) 
unfavorable development, of incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for accident year 2008 and prior by operating 
segment and major class of business: 

Years Ended December 31,          
(in millions)     2018 2017 2016 
2008 and prior accident year development, excluding the impact of        

Adverse Development Reinsurance Agreement, by major class of        
of business and driver of development:        

U.S. Workers' compensation (before discount)  $ 153 $ (7) $ 1,164 
U.S. Excess casualty  537 164 72 
U.S. Other casualty  129 (8) 398 
U.S. Financial lines  (1) (34) 54 
U.S. Property and Special risks  39 11 6 
U.S. Personal Insurance  2 9 (16) 
UK/Europe Casualty and Financial lines  1 169 (9) 
UK/Europe Property and Special risks  3 (6) (1) 
UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance  9 3 (4) 
U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance lines (before discount)  154 (44) 372 
All Other including unallocated loss adjustment expenses  137 178 (7) 

Total prior year unfavorable development  $ 1,163 $ 435 $ 2,029 

Claims Payout Patterns 

The following table presents the historical average annual percentage claims payout on an accident year basis at the same 
level of disaggregation as presented in the claims development table. 

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Losses by Age, Net of Reinsurance (Unaudited)  
Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
U.S. Workers' compensation 13.9 % 17.3 % 12.4 % 8.9 % 7.3 % 5.0 % 3.7 % 2.7 % 2.1 % 2.4 % 
U.S. Excess casualty 0.5 6.4 11.3 13.9 12.1 11.2 8.7 10.5 2.6 6.1 
U.S. Other casualty 9.6 15.8 15.7 15.0 12.1 8.4 5.9 5.8 2.2 0.8 
U.S. Financial lines 4.3 17.8 21.4 16.8 13.6 8.7 5.4 3.5 2.1 1.6 
U.S. Property and Special risks 29.5 33.6 13.3 8.3 5.4 3.7 1.5 1.1 0.7 0.2 
U.S. Personal Insurance 58.6 28.9 3.8 2.1 1.3 0.5 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 
UK/Europe Casualty and Financial lines 8.1 16.0 13.5 12.6 10.0 8.1 7.2 5.0 3.5 3.0 
UK/Europe Property and Special risks 25.7 38.6 16.8 6.5 3.3 1.8 1.0 0.5 0.3 0.2 
UK/Europe and Japan Personal Insurance 56.9 26.9 8.0 3.9 2.0 1.0 0.6 0.3 0.2 0.1 
U.S. Run-Off Long Tail Insurance lines 13.0 18.7 17.2 14.3 10.8 6.3 3.4 2.0 2.0 1.9 
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DISCOUNTING OF LOSS RESERVES 
At December 31, 2018, the loss reserves reflect a net loss reserve discount of $2.0 billion, including tabular and non-tabular 
calculations based upon the following assumptions: 

Certain asbestos claims are discounted when allowed by the regulator and when payments are fixed and determinable, based on the 
investment yields of the companies and the payout pattern for the claims. At December 31, 2016, the discount for asbestos reserves 
was amortized.  

The tabular workers’ compensation discount is calculated based on a 3.5 percent interest rate and the mortality rate used in the 2007 
U.S. Life Table.   

The non-tabular workers’ compensation discount is calculated separately for companies domiciled in New York and Pennsylvania, 
and follows the statutory regulations (prescribed or permitted) for each state.  For New York companies, the discount is based on a 5 
percent interest rate and the companies’ own payout patterns. In 2012, for Pennsylvania companies, the statute has specified 
discount factors for accident years 2001 and prior, which are based on a 6 percent interest rate and an industry payout pattern. For 
accident years 2002 and subsequent, the discount is based on the payout patterns and investment yields of the companies.   

In 2013, our Pennsylvania regulator approved use of a consistent discount rate (U.S. Treasury rate plus a liquidity premium) to all of 
our workers’ compensation reserves in our Pennsylvania-domiciled companies, as well as our use of updated payout patterns specific 
to our primary and excess workers compensation portfolios.  

The discount consists of $603 million of tabular discount and $1.4 billion of non-tabular discount for workers’ compensation for 2018. 
During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 the benefit/(charge) from changes in discount of $371 million, ($187) 
million and $422 million, respectively, were recorded as part of the policyholder benefits and losses incurred in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Income.  

The following table presents the components of the loss reserve discount discussed above: 

 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017 
 North America North America 
 Commercial Legacy Commercial Legacy 
(in millions) Insurance Portfolio Total Insurance Portfolio Total 
U.S. workers' compensation $ 2,782 $ 973 $ 3,755  $ 2,465 $ 918 $ 3,383 
Retroactive reinsurance (1,720) - (1,720)  (1,539) - (1,539) 
Total reserve discount* $ 1,062 $ 973 $ 2,035  $ 926 $ 918 $ 1,844 
* Excludes $163 million and $173 million of discount related to certain long tail liabilities in the United Kingdom at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The following table presents the net loss reserve discount benefit (charge): 

Years Ended December 31, 2018  2017  2016 
 North  North  North  
 America  America  America  
 Commercial Legacy Commercial Legacy Commercial Legacy 
(in millions) Insurance Portfolio Total Insurance Portfolio Total Insurance Portfolio Total 
Current accident year $ 119 $ - $ 119 $ 114 $ - $ 114 $ 177 $ - $ 177 
Accretion and other 

adjustments to prior 
year discount (108) (58) (166) (186) (44) (230) 287 64 351 

Effect of interest rate 
changes 305 113 418 (46) (25) (71) (58) (48) (106) 

Net reserve discount 
 benefit (charge) 316 55 371 (118) (69) (187) 406 16 422 

Change in discount on loss 
reserves ceded under 
retroactive reinsurance (180) - (180) (1,539) - (1,539) - - - 

Net change in total 
reserve discount* 136 55 191 (1,657) (69) (1,726) 406 16 422 

* Excludes $(9) million and $8 million of discount related to certain long tail liabilities in the United Kingdom at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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During 2018, effective interest rates increased due to an increase in the forward yield curve component of the discount rates reflecting 
an incline in U.S. Treasury rates along with the changes in payout pattern assumptions. This resulted in an increase in the loss 
reserve discount by $418 million in 2018.  

During 2017 and 2016, effective interest rates declined due to a decrease in the forward yield curve component of the discount rates 
reflecting a decline in U.S. Treasury rates along with the changes in payout pattern assumptions. This resulted in a decrease in the 
loss reserve discount by $71 million in 2017 and $106 million in 2016. 

FUTURE POLICY BENEFITS  
Future policy benefits primarily include reserves for traditional life and annuity payout contracts, which represent an estimate of the 
present value of future benefits less the present value of future net premiums. Included in Future policy benefits are liabilities for 
annuities issued in structured settlement arrangements whereby a claimant has agreed to settle a general insurance claim in 
exchange for fixed payments over a fixed determinable period of time with a life contingency feature. In addition, reserves for 
contracts in loss recognition are adjusted to reflect the effect of unrealized gains on fixed maturity securities available for sale and 
prior to 2018, equity securities at fair value, with related changes recognized through Other comprehensive income.  

Future policy benefits also include certain guaranteed benefits of variable annuity products that are not considered embedded 
derivatives, primarily guaranteed minimum death benefits.   

For additional information on guaranteed minimum death benefits see Note 14.  

The liability for long-duration future policy benefits has been established including assumptions for interest rates which vary by year of 
issuance and product, and range from approximately 0.1 percent to 14.6 percent. Mortality and surrender rate assumptions are 
generally based on actual experience when the liability is established. 

POLICYHOLDER CONTRACT DEPOSITS  
The liability for Policyholder contract deposits is primarily recorded at accumulated value (deposits received and net transfers from 
separate accounts, plus accrued interest credited at rates ranging from 0.3 percent to 10.0 percent at December 31, 2018, less 
withdrawals and assessed fees). Deposits collected on investment-oriented products are not reflected as revenues, because they are 
recorded directly to Policyholder contract deposits upon receipt.  Amounts assessed against the contract holders for mortality, 
administrative, and other services are included in revenues.  

In addition to liabilities for universal life, fixed annuities, fixed options within variable annuities, annuities without life contingencies, 
funding agreements and GICs, policyholder contract deposits also include our liability for (a) certain guaranteed benefits and indexed 
features accounted for as embedded derivatives at fair value, (b) annuities issued in a structured settlement arrangement with no life 
contingency and (c) certain contracts we have elected to account for at fair value.   

For additional information on guaranteed benefits accounted for as embedded derivatives see Note 14 herein. 

For universal life policies with secondary guarantees, we recognize certain liabilities in addition to policyholder account balances.  For 
universal life policies with secondary guarantees, as well as other universal life policies for which profits followed by losses are 
expected at contract inception, a liability is recognized based on a benefit ratio of (a) the present value of total expected payments, in 
excess of the account value, over the life of the contract, divided by (b) the present value of total expected assessments over the life 
of the contract.  For universal life policies without secondary guarantees, for which profits followed by losses are first expected after 
contract inception, we establish a liability, in addition to policyholder account balances, so that expected future losses are recognized 
in proportion to the emergence of profits in the earlier (profitable) years.  Universal life account balances as well as these additional 
liabilities related to universal life products are reported within Policyholder contract deposits in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 
These additional liabilities are also adjusted to reflect the effect of unrealized gains or losses on fixed maturity securities available for 
sale and prior to 2018, equity securities at fair value on accumulated assessments, with related changes recognized through Other 
comprehensive income. 

Under a funding agreement-backed notes issuance program, an unaffiliated, non-consolidated statutory trust issues medium-term 
notes to investors, which are secured by GICs issued to the trust by one of our Life and Retirement companies through our 
Institutional Markets business. 
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The following table presents Policyholder contract deposits by product line: 

At December 31,   
(in millions) 2018 2017 
Policyholder contract deposits: 

Fixed Annuities $ 49,695 $ 49,979 
Group Retirement 41,212 40,422 
Life Insurance 12,829 12,448 
Variable and Index Annuities 24,378 19,690 
Institutional Markets 9,497 8,077 
Legacy Portfolio 4,651 4,986 

Total Policyholder contract deposits $ 142,262 $ 135,602 

OTHER POLICYHOLDER FUNDS 
Other policyholder funds include unearned revenue reserves (URR). URR consist of front-end loads on investment-oriented contracts, 
representing those policy loads that are non-level and typically higher in initial policy years than in later policy years. URR for 
investment-oriented contracts are generally deferred and amortized, with interest, in relation to the incidence of estimated gross 
profits (EGPs) to be realized over the estimated lives of the contracts and are subject to the same adjustments due to changes in the 
assumptions underlying EGPs as DAC.  Amortization of URR is recorded in Policy fees. Similar to Shadow DAC, URR related to 
investment-oriented products is also adjusted to reflect the effect of unrealized gains or losses on fixed maturity securities available 
for sale and also, prior to 2018, equity securities at fair value on estimated gross profits, with related changes recognized through 
Other comprehensive income (shadow URR). 

Other policyholder funds also include provisions for future dividends to participating policyholders, accrued in accordance with all 
applicable regulatory or contractual provisions. Participating life business represented approximately 1.7 percent of gross insurance in 
force at December 31, 2018 and 2.4 percent of gross domestic premiums and other considerations in 2018. The amount of annual 
dividends to be paid is approved locally by the boards of directors of the Life and Retirement companies. Provisions for future 
dividend payments are computed by jurisdiction, reflecting local regulations. The portions of current and prior net income and of 
current unrealized appreciation of investments that can inure to our benefit are restricted in some cases by the insurance contracts 
and by the local insurance regulations of the jurisdictions in which the policies are in force. 

Certain products are subject to experience adjustments. These include group life and group medical products, credit life contracts, 
accident and health insurance contracts/riders attached to life policies and, to a limited extent, reinsurance agreements with other 
direct insurers. Ultimate premiums from these contracts are estimated and recognized as revenue with the unearned portions of the 
premiums recorded as liabilities in Other policyholder funds. Experience adjustments vary according to the type of contract and the 
territory in which the policy is in force and are subject to local regulatory guidance.
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14. Variable Life and Annuity Contracts  
We report variable contracts within the separate accounts when investment income and investment gains and losses accrue directly 
to, and investment risk is borne by, the contract holder and the separate account meets additional accounting criteria to qualify for 
separate account treatment. The assets supporting the variable portion of variable annuity and variable universal life contracts that 
qualify for separate account treatment are carried at fair value and reported as Separate account assets, with an equivalent summary 
total reported as Separate account liabilities.  

Policy values for variable products and investment contracts are expressed in terms of investment units. Each unit is linked to an 
asset portfolio. The value of a unit increases or decreases based on the value of the linked asset portfolio. The current liability at any 
time is the sum of the current unit value of all investment units in the separate accounts, plus any liabilities for guaranteed minimum 
death benefits (GMDB) or guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefits (GMWB) included in Future policy benefits or Policyholder 
contract deposits, respectively. 

Amounts assessed against the contract holders for mortality, administrative and other services are included in revenue. Net 
investment income, net investment gains and losses, changes in fair value of assets, and policyholder account deposits and 
withdrawals related to separate accounts are excluded from the Consolidated Statements of Income, Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
and Cash Flows.  

Variable annuity contracts may include certain contractually guaranteed benefits to the contract holder. These guaranteed features 
include GMDB that are payable in the event of death, and living benefits that are payable in the event of annuitization, or, in other 
instances, at specified dates during the accumulation period. Living benefits primarily include GMWB. A variable annuity contract may 
include more than one type of guaranteed benefit feature; for example, it may have both a GMDB and a GMWB. However, a 
policyholder can only receive payout from one guaranteed feature on a contract containing a death benefit and a living benefit, i.e. the 
features are mutually exclusive (except a surviving spouse who has a rider to potentially collect both a GMDB upon their spouse’s 
death and a GMWB during their lifetime). A policyholder cannot purchase more than one living benefit on one contract.  The net 
amount at risk for each feature is calculated irrespective of the existence of other features; as a result, the net amount at risk for each 
feature is not additive to that of other features. 

Account balances of variable annuity contracts with guarantees were invested in separate account investment options as 
follows: 

At December 31, 
(in millions) 2018 2017 
Equity funds $ 43,059 $ 48,594 
Bond funds 7,231 7,793 
Balanced funds 24,100 27,656 
Money market funds 787 730 
Total $ 75,177 $ 84,773 

GMDB 
Depending on the contract, the GMDB feature may provide a death benefit of either (a) total deposits made to the contract less any 
partial withdrawals plus a minimum return (and in rare instances, no minimum return) or (b) the highest contract value attained, 
typically on any anniversary date minus any subsequent withdrawals following the contract anniversary. GMDB is our most widely 
offered benefit. 

The liability for GMDB, which is recorded in Future policy benefits, represents the expected value of benefits in excess of the 
projected account value, with the excess recognized ratably over the accumulation period based on total expected assessments, 
through Policyholder benefits and losses incurred.  The net amount at risk for GMDB represents the amount of benefits in excess of 
account value if death claims were filed on all contracts on the balance sheet date. 
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The following table presents details concerning our GMDB exposures, by benefit type: 

At December 31, 2018  2017 
  Net Deposits  Net Deposits  
  Plus a Minimum Highest Contract Plus a Minimum Highest Contract 
(dollars in billions) Return Value Attained Return Value Attained 
Account value $ 89 $ 15  $ 99 $ 17 
Net amount at risk 1 1  1 - 
Average attained age of contract holders by product 63 68  63 68 
Range of guaranteed minimum return rates 0-4.5%  0%-4.5% 

The following summarizes GMDB liability related to variable annuity contracts, excluding assumed reinsurance: 

Years Ended December 31, 
(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Balance, beginning of year $ 352 $ 402 $ 491 
   Reserve increase (decrease) 93 (14) (32) 
   Benefits paid (43) (42) (57) 

Changes in reserves related to unrealized appreciation of investments (5) 6 - 
Balance, end of year $ 397 $ 352 $ 402 

Assumptions used to determine the GMDB liability include interest rates, which vary by year of issuance and products; mortality rates, 
which are based upon actual experience modified to allow for variations in policy form; lapse rates, which are based upon actual 
experience modified to allow for variations in policy form; investment returns, using assumptions from a randomly generated model; 
and asset growth assumptions, which include a reversion to the mean methodology, similar to that applied for DAC.   

We regularly evaluate estimates used to determine the GMDB liability and adjust the additional liability balance, with a related charge 
or credit to Policyholder benefits and losses incurred, if actual experience or other evidence suggests that earlier assumptions should 
be revised. 

GMWB  
Certain of our variable annuity contracts contain optional GMWB benefits and, to a lesser extent, guaranteed minimum accumulation 
benefits, which are not currently offered. With a GMWB, the contract holder can monetize the excess of the guaranteed amount over 
the account value of the contract only through a series of withdrawals that do not exceed a specific percentage per year of the 
guaranteed amount. If, after the series of withdrawals, the account value is exhausted, the contract holder will receive a series of 
annuity payments equal to the remaining guaranteed amount, and, for lifetime GMWB products, the annuity payments continue as 
long as the covered person(s) is living.  

The liabilities for GMWB, which are recorded in Policyholder contract deposits, are accounted for as embedded derivatives measured 
at fair value, with changes in the fair value of the liabilities recorded in Other net realized capital gains (losses). The fair value of these 
embedded derivatives was a net liability of $1.9 billion and $2.0 billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  

For a discussion of the fair value measurement of guaranteed benefits that are accounted for as embedded derivatives see Note 5.   

We had account values subject to GMWB that totaled $41 billion and $45 billion at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The 
net amount at risk for GMWB represents the present value of minimum guaranteed withdrawal payments, in accordance with contract 
terms, in excess of account value, assuming no lapses. The net amount at risk related to the GMWB guarantees was $215 million and 
$450 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We use derivative instruments and other financial instruments to mitigate 
a portion of our exposure that arises from GMWB benefits.  
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15. Debt  
Our long-term debt is denominated in various currencies, with both fixed and variable interest rates. Long-term debt is carried at the 
principal amount borrowed, including unamortized discounts, hedge accounting valuation adjustments and fair value adjustments, 
when applicable. 

The following table lists our total debt outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017. The interest rates presented in the 
following table are the range of contractual rates in effect at December 31, 2018, including fixed and variable-rates: 

 Balance at Balance at 
At December 31, 2018 Range of Maturity December 31, December 31, 
(in millions) Interest Rate(s) Date(s) 2018 2017 
Debt issued or guaranteed by AIG: 
AIG general borrowings: 
   Notes and bonds payable 0% - 8.13% 2019 - 2097 $ 20,853 $ 20,339 
   Junior subordinated debt 4.88% - 8.63% 2037 - 2058 1,548 841 
   AIG Japan Holdings Kabushiki Kaisha 0.28% - 0.44% 2020 - 2021 331 334 

Validus notes and bonds payable 8.88% 2040 359 - 
   AIGLH notes and bonds payable 6.63% - 7.50% 2025 - 2029 282 281 
   AIGLH junior subordinated debt 7.57% - 8.50% 2030 - 2046 361 361 
Total AIG general borrowings 23,734 22,156 
AIG borrowings supported by assets:(a) 
   MIP notes payable - 356 
   Series AIGFP matched notes and bonds payable 2.69% - 2.75% 2046 - 2047 21 21 
   GIAs, at fair value 0.5% - 7.62% 2019 - 2053     2,164     2,707 
   Notes and bonds payable, at fair value 0.5% - 9.97% 2030 - 2040     49     181 
Total AIG borrowings supported by assets 2,234 3,265 
Total debt issued or guaranteed by AIG 25,968 25,421 
Debt not guaranteed by AIG: 
Other subsidiaries notes, bonds, loans and 
   mortgages payable 2.68% - 4.73% 2019 - 2024     168     190 
Debt of consolidated investments(b) 0% - 10.3% 2019 - 2067  8,404  6,029 
Total debt not guaranteed by AIG 8,572 6,219 
Total long term debt  $ 34,540 $ 31,640 

(a)  AIG Parent guarantees all such debt, except for MIP notes payable and Series AIGFP matched notes and bonds payable, which are direct obligations of AIG 
Parent. Collateral posted to third parties was $1.5 billion and $2.0 billion at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.  This collateral primarily consists 
of securities of the U.S. government and government sponsored entities and generally cannot be repledged or resold by the counterparties. 

(b) At December 31, 2018, includes debt of consolidated investment vehicles related to real estate investments of $3.7 billion, affordable housing partnership investments 
of $1.8 billion and other securitization vehicles of $2.9 billion. At December 31, 2017, includes debt of consolidated investment vehicles related to real estate 
investments of $2.5 billion, affordable housing partnership investments of $1.8 billion and other securitization vehicles of $1.7 billion. 
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The following table presents maturities of long-term debt (including unamortized original issue discount, hedge accounting 
valuation adjustments and fair value adjustments, when applicable), excluding $8.4 billion of debt of consolidated 
investments: 

December 31, 2018  Year Ending 
(in millions)    Total 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter 
Debt issued or guaranteed by AIG:   
AIG general borrowings:               

Notes and bonds payable  $ 20,853 $ 999 $ 1,344 $ 1,497 $ 1,509 $ 1,599 $ 13,905 
Junior subordinated debt  1,548 - - - - - 1,548 
AIG Japan Holdings Kabushiki Kaisha  331 - 114 217 - - - 
Validus notes and bonds payable  359 - - - - - 359 
AIGLH notes and bonds payable  282 - - - - - 282 
AIGLH junior subordinated debt  361 - - - - - 361 

Total AIG general borrowings  23,734 999 1,458 1,714 1,509 1,599 16,455 
AIG borrowings supported by assets:  

MIP notes payable  - - - - - - - 
Series AIGFP matched notes and                

bonds payable  21 - - - - - 21 
GIAs, at fair value  2,164 272 31 157 48 115 1,541 
Notes and bonds payable, at fair value  49 - - - - - 49 

Total AIG borrowings supported by assets 2,234 272 31 157 48 115 1,611 
Total debt issued or guaranteed by AIG  25,968 1,271 1,489 1,871 1,557 1,714 18,066 
Other subsidiaries notes, bonds, loans   

and mortgages payable  168 117 1 42 1 1 6 
Total  $ 26,136 $ 1,388 $ 1,490 $ 1,913 $ 1,558 $ 1,715 $ 18,072 

Uncollateralized and collateralized notes, bonds, loans and mortgages payable consisted of the following: 

 Uncollateralized Collateralized 
At December 31, 2018 Notes/Bonds/Loans Loans and 
(in millions) Payable Mortgages Payable Total 
AIG general borrowings $ 331 $ - $ 331 
Other subsidiaries notes, bonds, loans and mortgages payable* 2 166 168 
Total $ 333 $ 166 $ 499 
* AIG does not guarantee any of these borrowings. 

AIGLH JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES 
In connection with our acquisition of AIG Life Holdings, Inc. (AIGLH) in 2001, we entered into arrangements with AIGLH with respect 
to outstanding AIGLH capital securities. In 1996, AIGLH issued capital securities through a trust to institutional investors and funded 
the trust with AIGLH junior subordinated debentures issued to the trust with the same terms as the capital securities.  

On July 11, 2013, the AIGLH junior subordinated debentures were distributed to holders of the capital securities, the capital securities 
were cancelled and the trusts were dissolved. At December 31, 2018, the junior subordinated debentures outstanding consisted of 
$113 million of 8.5 percent junior subordinated debentures due July 2030, $211 million of 8.125 percent junior subordinated 
debentures due March 2046 and $37 million of 7.57 percent junior subordinated debentures due December 2045, each guaranteed 
by AIG Parent. 

CREDIT FACILITIES 
We maintain a committed, revolving syndicated credit facility (the Facility) as a potential source of liquidity for general corporate 
purposes.  The Facility provides for aggregate commitments by the bank syndicate to provide unsecured revolving loans and/or 
standby letters of credit of up to $4.5 billion without any limits on the type of borrowings and is scheduled to expire in June 2022. 

At December 31, 2018    Available   Effective 
(in millions)  Size  Amount Expiration Date 

Syndicated Credit Facility $ 4,500 $ 4,500 June 2022 6/27/2017 
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16. Contingencies, Commitments and Guarantees 
In the normal course of business, various contingent liabilities and commitments are entered into by AIG and our subsidiaries. In 
addition, AIG Parent guarantees various obligations of certain subsidiaries. 

Although AIG cannot currently quantify its ultimate liability for unresolved litigation and investigation matters, including those referred 
to below, it is possible that such liability could have a material adverse effect on AIG’s consolidated financial condition or its 
consolidated results of operations or consolidated cash flows for an individual reporting period. 

LEGAL CONTINGENCIES 
Overview.  In the normal course of business, AIG and our subsidiaries are, like others in the insurance and financial services 
industries in general, subject to regulatory and government investigations and actions, and litigation and other forms of dispute 
resolution in a large number of proceedings pending in various domestic and foreign jurisdictions.  Certain of these matters involve 
potentially significant risk of loss due to potential for significant jury awards and settlements, punitive damages or other penalties.  
Many of these matters are also highly complex and seek recovery on behalf of a class or similarly large number of plaintiffs.  It is 
therefore inherently difficult to predict the size or scope of potential future losses arising from these matters.  In our insurance and 
reinsurance operations, litigation and arbitration concerning the scope of coverage under insurance and reinsurance contracts, and 
litigation and arbitration in which our subsidiaries defend or indemnify their insureds under insurance contracts, are generally 
considered in the establishment of our loss reserves.  Separate and apart from the foregoing matters involving insurance and 
reinsurance coverage, AIG, our subsidiaries and their respective officers and directors are subject to a variety of additional types of 
legal proceedings brought by holders of AIG securities, customers, employees and others, alleging, among other things, breach of 
contractual or fiduciary duties, bad faith and violations of federal and state statutes and regulations.  With respect to these other 
categories of matters not arising out of claims for insurance or reinsurance coverage, we establish reserves for loss contingencies 
when it is probable that a loss will be incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  In many instances, we are 
unable to determine whether a loss is probable or to reasonably estimate the amount of such a loss and, therefore, the potential 
future losses arising from legal proceedings may exceed the amount of liabilities that we have recorded in our financial statements 
covering these matters.  While such potential future charges could be material, based on information currently known to management, 
management does not believe, other than may be discussed below, that any such charges are likely to have a material adverse effect 
on our financial position or results of operation. 

Additionally, from time to time, various regulatory and governmental agencies review the transactions and practices of AIG and our 
subsidiaries in connection with industry-wide and other inquiries into, among other matters, the business practices of current and 
former operating insurance subsidiaries. We have cooperated, and will continue to cooperate, in producing documents and other 
information in response to such requests. 

Tax Litigation.  

We are party to pending tax litigation before the Southern District of New York. For additional information see Note 23 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

COMMITMENTS 

We lease office space and equipment in various locations across jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Rent expense was 
$283 million, $269 million and $331 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

The following table presents the future minimum lease payments under operating leases at December 31, 2018: 

(in millions)  
2019 $ 249 
2020 185 
2021 121 
2022 87 
2023 63 
Remaining years after 2023 182 
Total $ 887 
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OTHER COMMITMENTS 
In the normal course of business, we enter into commitments to invest in limited partnerships, private equity funds and hedge funds 
and to purchase and develop real estate in the U.S. and abroad. These commitments totaled $6.0 billion at December 31, 2018. 

GUARANTEES 

Subsidiaries 

We have issued unconditional guarantees with respect to the prompt payment, when due, of all present and future payment 
obligations and liabilities of AIGFP and of AIG Markets arising from transactions entered into by AIG Markets.  

In connection with AIGFP’s business activities, AIGFP has issued, in a limited number of transactions, standby letters of credit or 
similar facilities to equity investors of structured leasing transactions in an amount equal to the termination value owing to the equity 
investor by the lessee in the event of a lessee default (the equity termination value). The total amount outstanding at December 31, 
2018 was $85 million. In those transactions, AIGFP has agreed to pay such amount if the lessee fails to pay. The amount payable by 
AIGFP is, in certain cases, partially offset by amounts payable under other instruments typically equal to the present value of 
scheduled payments to be made by AIGFP. In the event that AIGFP is required to make a payment to the equity investor, the lessee is 
unconditionally obligated to reimburse AIGFP. To the extent that the equity investor is paid the equity termination value from the 
standby letter of credit and/or other sources, including payments by the lessee, AIGFP takes an assignment of the equity investor’s 
rights under the lease of the underlying property. Because the obligations of the lessee under the lease transactions are generally 
economically defeased, lessee bankruptcy is the most likely circumstance in which AIGFP would be required to pay without 
reimbursement. 

AIG Parent files a consolidated federal income tax return with certain subsidiaries and acts as an agent for the consolidated tax group 
when making payments to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). AIG Parent and its subsidiaries have adopted, pursuant to a written 
agreement, a method of allocating consolidated federal income taxes. Under an Amended and Restated Tax Payment Allocation 
Agreement dated June 6, 2011 between AIG Parent and one of its Bermuda-domiciled insurance subsidiaries, AIG Life of Bermuda, 
Ltd. (AIGB), AIG Parent has agreed to indemnify AIGB for any tax liability (including interest and penalties) resulting from adjustments 
made by the IRS or other appropriate authorities to taxable income, special deductions or credits in connection with investments 
made by AIGB in certain affiliated entities. 

Asset Dispositions 

We are subject to financial guarantees and indemnity arrangements in connection with the completed sales of businesses pursuant to 
our asset disposition plan. The various arrangements may be triggered by, among other things, declines in asset values, the 
occurrence of specified business contingencies, the realization of contingent liabilities, developments in litigation or breaches of 
representations, warranties or covenants provided by us. These arrangements are typically subject to various time limitations, defined 
by the contract or by operation of law, such as statutes of limitation. In some cases, the maximum potential obligation is subject to 
contractual limitations, while in other cases such limitations are not specified or are not applicable. 

We are unable to develop a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential payout under certain of these arrangements. Overall, we 
believe that it is unlikely we will have to make any material payments related to completed sales under these arrangements, and no 
material liabilities related to these arrangements have been recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Other 

• For additional discussion on commitments and guarantees associated with VIEs see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

• For additional disclosures about derivatives see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

• For additional disclosures about guarantees of outstanding debt of AIG Life Holdings, Inc. (AIGLH), see Note 25 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.          
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17. Equity 

SHARES OUTSTANDING 

The following table presents a rollforward of outstanding shares: 

 Common Treasury Common Stock 
 Stock Issued Stock Outstanding 
Year Ended December 31, 2016 
Shares, beginning of year 1,906,671,492 (712,754,875) 1,193,916,617 
   Shares issued - 2,069,110 2,069,110 
   Shares repurchased - (200,649,886) (200,649,886) 
Shares, end of year 1,906,671,492 (911,335,651) 995,335,841 
Year Ended December 31, 2017 
Shares, beginning of year 1,906,671,492 (911,335,651) 995,335,841 
   Shares issued - 3,386,462 3,386,462 
   Shares repurchased - (99,677,646) (99,677,646) 
Shares, end of year 1,906,671,492 (1,007,626,835) 899,044,657 
Year Ended December 31, 2018 
Shares, beginning of year 1,906,671,492 (1,007,626,835) 899,044,657 
   Shares issued - 4,091,922 4,091,922 
   Shares repurchased - (36,527,150) (36,527,150) 
Shares, end of year 1,906,671,492 (1,040,062,063) 866,609,429 
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DIVIDENDS 
Dividends are payable on AIG Common Stock only when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors in its discretion, from funds 
legally available for this purpose. In considering whether to pay a dividend on or purchase shares of AIG Common Stock, our Board of 
Directors considers a number of factors, including, but not limited to: the capital resources available to support our insurance 
operations and business strategies, AIG’s funding capacity and capital resources in comparison to internal benchmarks, expectations 
for capital generation, rating agency expectations for capital, regulatory standards for capital and capital distributions, and such other 
factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant. 

The following table presents declaration date, record date, payment date and dividends paid per share on AIG Common 
Stock:              

  Dividends Paid 
Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date  Per Share 
October 31, 2018 December 12, 2018 December 26, 2018  $ 0.32 
August 2, 2018 September 17, 2018 September 28, 2018  0.32 
May 2, 2018 June 14, 2018 June 28, 2018  0.32 
February 8, 2018 March 15, 2018 March 29, 2018  0.32 

  
November 2, 2017 December 8, 2017 December 22, 2017  0.32 
August 2, 2017 September 15, 2017 September 29, 2017  0.32 
May 3, 2017 June 14, 2017 June 28, 2017  0.32 
February 14, 2017 March 15, 2017 March 29, 2017  0.32 

  
November 2, 2016 December 8, 2016 December 22, 2016  0.32 
August 2, 2016 September 15, 2016 September 29, 2016  0.32 
May 2, 2016 June 13, 2016 June 27, 2016  0.32 
February 11, 2016 March 14, 2016 March 28, 2016  0.32 

REPURCHASE OF AIG COMMON STOCK 

The following table presents repurchases of AIG Common Stock and warrants to purchase shares of AIG Common Stock: 

Years Ended December 31,        
(in millions)  2018 2017 2016  
Aggregate repurchases of common stock $ 1,739 $ 6,275 $ 11,460 
Total number of common shares repurchased  37 100 201  
Aggregate repurchases of warrants $ 11 $ 3 $ 309 
Total number of warrants repurchased*  1 - 17 
* In 2017, we repurchased 185,000 warrants to purchase shares of AIG Common Stock. 

Our Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of shares of AIG Common Stock and warrants to purchase shares of AIG 
Common Stock through a series of actions. On May 3, 2017, our Board of Directors authorized an increase of $2.5 billion to its 
previous share repurchase authorization.  As of December 31, 2018, approximately $512 million remained under our share 
repurchase authorization. Shares may be repurchased from time to time in the open market, private purchases, through forward, 
derivative, accelerated repurchase or automatic repurchase transactions or otherwise (including through the purchase of warrants). 
Certain of our share repurchases have been and may from time to time be effected through Exchange Act Rule 10b5-1 repurchase 
plans. 

The timing of any future repurchases will depend on market conditions, our business and strategic plans, financial condition, results of 
operations, liquidity and other factors. 
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ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The following table presents a rollforward of Accumulated other comprehensive income: 

 Unrealized Appreciation   Fair Value of  

 (Depreciation) of Fixed Unrealized  Liabilities Under  

 Maturity Securities on Appreciation Foreign Retirement Fair Value Option  

 Which Other-Than- (Depreciation) Currency Plan Attributable to  

 Temporary Credit of All Other Translation Liabilities Changes in  

(in millions) Impairments Were Taken Investments Adjustments Adjustment Own Credit Risk Total 

Balance, January 1, 2016, net of tax $ 696 $ 5,566 $ (2,879) $ (846) $ - $ 2,537 
   Change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation)       
      of investments (326)  931  -  -  - 605 
   Change in deferred policy acquisition costs            
      adjustment and other (19)  286  -  -  - 267 
   Change in future policy benefits -  (676)  -  -  - (676) 
   Change in foreign currency translation adjustments -  -  93  -  - 93 
   Change in net actuarial loss -  -  -  (151)  - (151) 
   Change in prior service credit -  -  -  (22)  - (22) 
   Change in deferred tax asset 75  298  157  47  - 577 
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (270) 839 250 (126) - 693 
Noncontrolling interests - - - - - - 
Balance, December 31, 2016, net of tax $ 426 $ 6,405 $ (2,629) $ (972) $ - $ 3,230 
   Change in unrealized appreciation       
      of investments 394  3,668  -  -  - 4,062 
   Change in deferred policy acquisition costs            
      adjustment and other* 23  (1,282)  -  -  - (1,259) 
   Change in future policy benefits -  (1,102)  -  -  - (1,102) 
   Change in foreign currency translation adjustments -  -  547  -  - 547 
   Change in net actuarial gain -  -  -  110  - 110 
   Change in prior service cost -  -  -  9  - 9 
   Change in deferred tax asset (liability) (50)  4  (8)  (78)  - (132) 
Total other comprehensive income 367 1,288 539 41 - 2,235 
Noncontrolling interests - - - - - - 
Balance, December 31, 2017, net of tax $ 793 $ 7,693 $ (2,090) $ (931) $ - $ 5,465 
Cumulative effect of change in        

accounting principles 169  (285)  (284)  (183)  7 (576) 
   Change in unrealized depreciation       
      of investments (1,320)  (8,688)  -  -  - (10,008) 
   Change in deferred policy acquisition costs            
      adjustment and other (57)  1,300  -  -  - 1,243 
   Change in future policy benefits -  1,711  -  -  - 1,711 
   Change in foreign currency translation adjustments -  -  (314)  -  - (314) 
   Change in net actuarial loss -  -  -  (23)  - (23) 
   Change in prior service credit -  -  -  (4)  - (4) 
   Change in deferred tax asset (liability) 377  702  (35)  55  - 1,099 
   Change in fair value of liabilities under fair value           
      option attributable to changes in own credit risk -  -  -  -  3 3 
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (1,000) (4,975) (349) 28 3 (6,293) 
Noncontrolling interests - 7 2 - - 9 
Balance, December 31, 2018, net of tax $ (38) $ 2,426 $ (2,725) $ (1,086) $ 10 $ (1,413) 

* Includes net unrealized gains attributable to businesses held for sale.  
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The following table presents the other comprehensive income (loss) reclassification adjustments for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016: 

 Unrealized Appreciation     Fair Value of   

 (Depreciation) of Fixed Unrealized Liabilities Under  

 Maturity Securities on Appreciation Foreign Retirement Fair Value Option  

 Which Other-Than- (Depreciation) Currency Plan Attributable to  

 Temporary Credit of All Other Translation Liabilities Changes in  

(in millions) Impairments Were Taken Investments Adjustments Adjustment Own Credit Risk Total 

December 31, 2016       
Unrealized change arising during period $ (222) $ 1,769 $ 93 $ (344) $ - $ 1,296 
Less: Reclassification adjustments       
   included in net income 123 1,228 - (171) - 1,180 
Total other comprehensive income (loss),       
   before income tax benefit (345) 541 93 (173) - 116 
Less: Income tax benefit (75) (298) (157) (47) - (577) 
Total other comprehensive income (loss),       
   net of income tax benefit $ (270) $ 839 $ 250 $ (126) $ - $ 693 

December 31, 2017       
Unrealized change arising during period $ 467 $ 2,052 $ 547 $ 24 $ - $ 3,090 
Less: Reclassification adjustments       
   included in net income 50  768  -  (95)  - 723 
Total other comprehensive income,           
  before income tax expense 417  1,284  547  119  - 2,367 
Less: Income tax expense (benefit) 50  (4)  8  78  - 132 
Total other comprehensive income,           
   net of income tax expense (benefit) $ 367 $ 1,288 $ 539 $ 41 $ - $ 2,235 

December 31, 2018 
Unrealized change arising during period $ (1,372) $ (5,811) $ (314) $ (61) $ 3 $ (7,555) 
Less: Reclassification adjustments       
   included in net income 5 (134) - (34) - (163) 
Total other comprehensive income (loss),       
  before income tax benefit (1,377) (5,677) (314) (27) 3 (7,392) 
Less: Income tax expense (benefit) (377) (702) 35 (55) - (1,099) 
Total other comprehensive income (loss),       
   net of income tax expense (benefit) $ (1,000) $ (4,975) $ (349) $ 28 $ 3 $ (6,293) 
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The following table presents the effect of the reclassification of significant items out of Accumulated other comprehensive 
income on the respective line items in the Consolidated Statements of Income: 

 Amount Reclassified   
 from Accumulated Other   
Years Ended December 31, Comprehensive Income Affected Line Item in the 
(in millions)  2018  2017 2016  Consolidated Statements of Income 

Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of fixed 
maturity securities on which other-than-temporary 
credit impairments were taken 

 

 
   Investments $ 5 $ 50 $ 123 Other realized capital gains 
   Total  5 50 123  

Unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of all other 
investments    
   Investments (134) 463 935 Other realized capital gains 
   Deferred acquisition costs adjustment  - 305 293 Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs 
   Future policy benefits  - - - Policyholder benefits and losses incurred 
   Total (134) 768 1,228  
Change in retirement plan liabilities adjustment  
   Prior-service credit 1 5 15 * 
   Actuarial losses (35) (100) (186) * 
   Total (34) (95) (171) 
   Total reclassifications for the year $ (163) $ 723 $ 1,180 

* These Accumulated other comprehensive income components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost. See Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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18. Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
The basic EPS computation is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted to reflect all stock 
dividends and stock splits. The diluted EPS computation is based on those shares used in the basic EPS computation plus shares 
that would have been outstanding assuming issuance of common shares for all dilutive potential common shares outstanding and 
adjusted to reflect all stock dividends and stock splits.  

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted EPS:  

Years Ended December 31,       
(dollars in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017 2016 
Numerator for EPS: 
   Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 103 $ (6,060) $ (259) 
   Less: Net income from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests 67 28 500 
   Income (loss) attributable to AIG common shareholders from continuing operations 36 (6,088) (759) 
   Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense (42) 4 (90) 
   Net loss attributable to AIG common shareholders $ (6) $ (6,084) $ (849) 
Denominator for EPS: 
   Weighted average shares outstanding — basic  898,405,537 930,561,286 1,091,085,131 
   Dilutive shares 11,735,705 - - 
   Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted(a)(b) 910,141,242 930,561,286 1,091,085,131 
Income (loss) per common share attributable to AIG: 
Basic:       
   Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.04 $ (6.54) $ (0.70) 
   Loss from discontinued operations $ (0.05) $ - $ (0.08) 
   Loss attributable to AIG $ (0.01) $ (6.54) $ (0.78) 
Diluted:    
   Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.04 $ (6.54) $ (0.70) 
   Loss from discontinued operations $ (0.05) $ - $ (0.08) 
   Loss attributable to AIG $ (0.01) $ (6.54) $ (0.78) 

(a) Shares in the diluted EPS calculation represent basic shares for 2017 and 2016 due to the net losses in those periods. The shares excluded from the calculation were 
22,412,682 shares and 30,326,772 shares for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

(b) Dilutive shares included our share-based employee compensation plans and a weighted average portion of the warrants issued to AIG shareholders as part of AIG’s 
recapitalization in January 2011.  The number of shares excluded from diluted shares outstanding were 19.6 million, 1.7 million and 0.2 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, because the effect of including those shares in the calculation would have been anti-dilutive.   
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19. Statutory Financial Data and Restrictions 

The following table presents statutory net income (loss) and capital and surplus for our General Insurance companies and 
our Life and Retirement companies in accordance with statutory accounting practices: 

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Years Ended December 31, 
Statutory net income (loss)(a)(b): 
General Insurance companies: 
   Domestic $ (1,138) $ (978) $ 260 
   Foreign (348) (318) (1,326) 
Total General Insurance companies $ (1,486) $ (1,296) $ (1,066) 
Life and Retirement companies: 
   Domestic $ 673 $ 1,066 $ 2,252 
   Foreign (596) 21 47 
Total Life and Retirement companies $ 77 $ 1,087 $ 2,299 
At December 31, 
Statutory capital and surplus(a)(b): 
General Insurance companies: 
   Domestic $ 18,172 $ 20,938 
   Foreign 16,447 11,721 
Total General Insurance companies $ 34,619 $ 32,659 
Life and Retirement companies: 
   Domestic $ 9,477 $ 12,149 
   Foreign 1,744 446 
Total Life and Retirement companies $ 11,221 $ 12,595 
Aggregate minimum required statutory capital and surplus: 
General Insurance companies: 
   Domestic $ 4,307 $ 5,134 
   Foreign 9,065 6,301 
Total General Insurance companies $ 13,372 $ 11,435 
Life and Retirement companies: 
   Domestic $ 3,197 $ 3,146 
   Foreign 1,338 121 
Total Life and Retirement companies $ 4,535 $ 3,267 
(a) Excludes discontinued operations and other divested businesses. Statutory capital and surplus and net income (loss) with respect to foreign operations are as of 

November 30.  

(b) In aggregate, the 2017 General Insurance companies and Life and Retirement companies statutory net income increased by $207 million and the 2017 General 
Insurance companies and Life and Retirement companies statutory capital and surplus decreased by $273 million, compared to the amounts previously reported in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, due to finalization of statutory filings. 

Our insurance subsidiaries file financial statements prepared in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or 
permitted by domestic and foreign insurance regulatory authorities. The principal differences between statutory financial statements 
and financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP for domestic companies are that statutory financial statements do 
not reflect DAC, some bond portfolios may be carried at amortized cost, investment impairments are determined in accordance with 
statutory accounting practices, assets and liabilities are presented net of reinsurance, policyholder liabilities are generally valued 
using more conservative assumptions and certain assets are non-admitted. 

For domestic insurance subsidiaries, aggregate minimum required statutory capital and surplus is based on the greater of the RBC 
level that would trigger regulatory action or minimum requirements per state insurance regulation. Capital and surplus requirements of 
our foreign subsidiaries differ from those prescribed in the U.S., and can vary significantly by jurisdiction. At both December 31, 2018 
and 2017, all domestic and foreign insurance subsidiaries individually exceeded the minimum required statutory capital and surplus 
requirements and all domestic insurance subsidiaries individually exceeded RBC minimum required levels. 
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At December 31, 2018 and 2017, our domestic insurance subsidiaries used the following permitted practices that resulted in reported 
statutory surplus or risk-based capital that is significantly different from the statutory surplus or risk based capital that would have 
been reported had NAIC statutory accounting practices or the prescribed regulatory accounting practices of their respective state 
regulator been followed in all respects: 

• In 2015, a domestic life insurance subsidiary domiciled in Texas adopted a permitted statutory accounting practice to report 
derivatives used to hedge interest rate risk on product-related embedded derivatives at amortized cost instead of fair value. In 
2018, the permitted practice was expanded to include additional derivative instruments utilized for the same purpose and to also 
include an additional domestic life insurance subsidiary domiciled in Texas. This permitted practice resulted in an increase in the 
statutory surplus of our subsidiaries of $438 million and $407 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

• As described in Note 13, our domestic property and casualty insurance subsidiaries domiciled in New York, Pennsylvania and 
Delaware discount non-tabular workers’ compensation reserves based on applicable prescribed or approved regulations, or in the 
case of our Delaware subsidiary, based on a permitted practice.  This practice did not have a material impact on our statutory 
surplus, statutory net income (loss) or risk-based capital. 

The NAIC Model Regulation “Valuation of Life Insurance Policies” (Regulation XXX) requires U.S. life insurers to establish additional 
statutory reserves for term life insurance policies with long-term premium guarantees and universal life policies with secondary 
guarantees (ULSGs). In addition, NAIC Actuarial Guideline 38 (Guideline AXXX) clarifies the application of Regulation XXX as to 
these guarantees, including certain ULSGs.  

Domestic life insurance subsidiaries manage the capital impact of statutory reserve requirements under Regulation XXX and 
Guideline AXXX through unaffiliated and affiliated reinsurance transactions. The affiliated life insurers providing reinsurance capacity 
for such transactions are fully licensed insurance companies and are not formed under captive insurance laws. One of these affiliated 
reinsurance arrangements, under which certain Regulation XXX and Guideline AXXX reserves related to new and in-force business 
were ceded to an affiliated U.S. life insurer, was recaptured effective December 31, 2016 and these reserves were ceded to an 
unaffiliated reinsurer. 

Under the other intercompany reinsurance arrangement, certain Regulation XXX and Guideline AXXX reserves related to a closed 
block of in-force business are ceded to an affiliated off-shore life insurer, which is licensed as a class E insurer under Bermuda law.  
Bermuda law permits the off-shore life insurer to record an asset that effectively reduces the statutory reserves for the assumed 
reinsurance to the level that would be required under U.S. GAAP. Letters of credit are used to support the credit for reinsurance 
provided by the affiliated off-shore life insurer.  

For additional information regarding these letters of credit see Note 8.   

SUBSIDIARY DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS 
Payments of dividends to us by our insurance subsidiaries are subject to certain restrictions imposed by regulatory authorities. With 
respect to our domestic insurance subsidiaries, the payment of any dividend requires formal notice to the insurance department in 
which the particular insurance subsidiary is domiciled. For example, unless permitted by the Superintendent of Financial Services, 
property casualty companies domiciled in New York generally may not pay dividends to shareholders that, in any 12-month period, 
exceed the lesser of 10 percent of such company’s statutory policyholders’ surplus or 100 percent of its “adjusted net investment 
income,” for the previous year, as defined. Generally, less severe restrictions applicable to both property casualty and life insurance 
companies exist in most of the other states in which our insurance subsidiaries are domiciled. Under the laws of many states, an 
insurer may pay a dividend without prior approval of the insurance regulator when the amount of the dividend is below certain 
regulatory thresholds. Other foreign jurisdictions may restrict the ability of our foreign insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends. Various 
other regulatory restrictions also limit cash loans and advances to us by our subsidiaries. 

Largely as a result of these restrictions, approximately $41.6 billion of the statutory capital and surplus of our consolidated insurance 
subsidiaries were restricted from transfer to AIG Parent without prior approval of state insurance regulators at December 31, 2018.  

To our knowledge, no AIG insurance company is currently on any regulatory or similar “watch list” with regard to solvency. 
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PARENT COMPANY DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS 
At December 31, 2018, our ability to pay dividends is not subject to any significant contractual restrictions, but remains subject to 
regulatory restrictions.  

For additional information about our ability to pay dividends to our shareholders see Note 17 herein.

20. Share-Based Compensation Plans  

The following table presents our total share-based compensation expense: 

Years Ended December 31,        
(in millions)   2018  2017  2016 
Share-based compensation expense - pre-tax(a)  $ 337 $ 353 $ 237 
Share-based compensation expense - after tax(b)  266 229 154 
(a) We recognized $48 million, $141 million and $105 million for immediately vested stock-settled awards issued to retirement eligible employees in 2018, 2017 and 2016, 

on their respective grant dates. It is our policy to reverse compensation expense for forfeited awards when they occur. 

(b) We also recognized $9 million of excess tax benefits due to share settlements occurring in 2018. 

EMPLOYEE PLANS 
The Company sponsors several stock compensation programs under the AIG Long Term Incentive Plan and its predecessor plan, the 
AIG 2013 Long Term Incentive Plan (each as applicable, the LTIP), which are governed by the AIG 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan 
(Omnibus Plan). Our share-settled awards are settled with previously acquired shares held in AIG’s treasury.  

AIG 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan 

The Omnibus Plan, which replaced the AIG 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (2010 Plan), was adopted at the 2013 Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders and provides for the grants of share-based awards to our employees and non-employee directors.  The total number of 
shares that may be granted under the Omnibus Plan (the reserve) is the sum of 1) 45 million shares of AIG Common Stock, plus 2) 
the number of authorized shares that remained available for issuance under the 2010 Plan when the Omnibus Plan became effective, 
plus 3) the number of shares of AIG Common Stock relating to outstanding awards under the 2010 Plan at the time the Omnibus Plan 
became effective that subsequently are forfeited, expired, terminated or otherwise lapse or are settled in cash.  Each share-based unit 
granted under the Omnibus Plan reduces the number of shares available for future grants by one share.  However, shares with 
respect to awards that are forfeited, expired or settled for cash, and shares withheld for taxes on awards (other than options and stock 
appreciation rights awards) are returned to the reserve.   

During 2018, performance share units (PSUs), restricted stock units (RSUs), stock options and deferred stock units (DSUs) 
(collectively, units) were granted under the Omnibus Plan and  37,211,710 shares are available for future grants as of December 31, 
2018.  Units are issued to employees as part of our long-term incentive program, generally in March of any given year, and are also 
issued for off-cycle grants, which are made from time to time during the year generally as sign-on awards to new hires or as a result 
of a change in employee status. 

AIG Long Term Incentive Plan 

LTI Awards 

The LTIP provides for an annual award to certain employees, including our senior executive officers and other highly compensated 
employees that may be comprised of PSUs, RSUs and/or stock options. 

The number of PSUs issued on the grant date (the target) provides the opportunity for the LTIP participant to receive shares of AIG 
Common Stock based on AIG achieving specified performance goals at the end of a three-year performance period.  These 
performance goals are pre-established by AIG’s Compensation and Management Resources Committee (CMRC) for each annual 
grant and may differ from year to year. The actual number of PSUs earned can vary from zero to 200 percent of the target for the 
2017 and 2018 awards or zero to 150 percent of the target for the 2014 through 2016 awards, depending on AIG’s performance 
relative to a specified peer group or against pre-established financial goals, as applicable. 

RSUs and stock options are earned based solely on continued service by the participant.  
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Vesting occurs on January 1 of the year immediately following the end of the three-year performance period. For awards granted prior 
to 2017, vesting occurs in three equal installments beginning on January 1 of the year immediately following the end of a performance 
period and January 1 of each of the next two years.  Recipients must be employed at each vesting date to be entitled to share 
delivery, except upon the occurrence of an accelerated vesting event, such as an involuntary termination without cause, disability, 
retirement eligibility or death during the vesting period.   

LTI awards granted in 2015 and thereafter accrue dividend equivalent units (DEUs) in the form of additional PSUs and/or RSUs 
whenever a cash dividend is declared on shares of AIG Common Stock; the DEUs are subject to the same vesting terms and 
conditions as the underlying unit.   

Unit Valuation 

The fair value of time-vesting RSUs as well as PSUs that are earned based on certain company-specific metrics was based on the 
closing price of AIG Common Stock on the grant date; while the fair value of PSUs that are earned based on AIG’s relative total 
shareholder return (TSR) was determined on the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation. 

The following table presents the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of PSUs that vest based on AIG’s TSR: 

 2017 2016 
Expected dividend yield(a)  2.37 % 2.17 % 
Expected volatility(b)  17.58 % 24.55 % 
Risk-free interest rate(c)  2.00 % 1.30 % 
(a) The dividend yield is the projected annualized AIG dividend yield estimated by Bloomberg Professional service as of the valuation date. 

(b) The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the stock price for the 360 most recent trading days prior to the valuation date estimated by Bloomberg 
Professional service. 

(c) The risk-free interest rate is the continuously compounded interest rate for the term between the valuation date and the end of the performance period that is assumed 
to be constant and equal to the interpolated value between the closest data points on the U.S. dollar LIBOR-swap curve as of the valuation date. 

Modification of LTI awards 

During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company modified the LTI awards by issuing time-vesting RSUs and canceling some 
performance based units. The modification applied to most recipients who participate in the 2015, 2016 and 2017 LTI awards, 
excluding the Company’s senior executives. The newly granted RSUs vest in installments over a period of up to three years. We 
incurred incremental compensation expense of $142 million as a result of these actions. We recognized $71 million in 2017, $48 
million in 2018 and the remainder will be recognized through December 2020. 

The following table summarizes outstanding share-settled LTI awards(a): 

 Weighted Average  
As of or for the Year Number of Units   Grant-Date Fair Value  
Ended December 31, 2018(b) 2018 LTI 2017 LTI 2016 LTI 2015 LTI 2014 LTI 2018 LTI 2017 LTI 2016 LTI 2015 LTI 2014 LTI 
Unvested, beginning of year - 2,173,115 1,467,745 1,291,788 823,311 $ - $ 62.78 $ 60.90 $ 60.02 $ 48.81 

Granted 4,640,722 43,792 - - - 55.47 58.52 - - - 
Vested(c) (1,205,653) (530,388) (728,576) (266,184) (793,955) 55.85 63.67 60.28 57.87 48.81 
Forfeited (113,041) (106,524) (98,509) (753,272) (29,356) 55.92 63.13 62.13 54.46 48.84 

Unvested, end of year(d) 3,322,028 1,579,995 640,660 272,332 - $ 55.32 $ 62.32 $ 61.55 $ 60.51 $ - 

(a)  Excludes stock options and DSUs, which are discussed under Stock Options and Non-Employee Plan, respectively. 

(b) Except for the 2014 LTI and 2015 LTI awards, PSUs represent target amount granted, and does not reflect potential increases or decreases that could result from the 
final outcome of the performance goals for the respective awards, which is determined in the quarter after the applicable performance period ends.  

(c) Also reflects units that vest as a result of an accelerated vesting event that occurred prior to the specified vesting date. 

(d) At December 31, 2018, the total unrecognized compensation cost for outstanding RSUs and PSUs was $215 million and the weighted-average and expected period of 
years over which that cost is expected to be recognized are 0.96 year and 2 years.    
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Stock Options 

Stock options were issued in 2018 as part of the 2018 LTI awards and in 2017 and 2018 to certain newly hired senior executives. The 
fair value of the options was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes model for the time-vesting options, and a Monte 
Carlo simulation for the hurdle-vesting options using the assumptions noted in the following table. 

The following weighted-average assumptions were used for stock options granted: 

 2018 2017 
Expected annual dividend yield(a) 2.32 % 2.03 % 
Expected volatility(b) 23.29 % 20.96 % 
Risk-free interest rate(c) 2.83 % 1.94 % 
Expected term(d) 4.50 - 6.47 years 4.5 years 
(a) The dividend yield is the projected annualized AIG dividend yield estimated by Bloomberg Professional service as of the valuation date.  

(b) The expected volatility is based on the implied volatility of 24 months stock option estimated by the Bloomberg Professional service as of the valuation date. 

(c) The risk-free interest rate is the continuously compounded interest rate for the term between the valuation date and the expiration date that is assumed to be constant 
and equal to the interpolated value between the closet data points on the U.S. dollar LIBOR-swap curve as of the valuation date. 

(d) The contractual terms are 7 and 10 years. 

The following table provides a rollforward of stock option activity: 

 Weighted Average Aggregate 
As of or for the Year  Weighted Average Remaining Intrinsic Values 
Ended December 31, 2018 Units  Exercise Price Contractual Life (in millions) 
Outstanding, beginning of year 2,500,000 $ 62.90 6.48 

Granted 2,752,098 55.38 
Exercised - - 
Forfeited or expired (46,299) 55.94 

Outstanding, end of year 5,205,799 $ 58.99 7.38 $ - 
Exercisable, end of year 486,229 $ 59.90 4.07 $ - 
 
The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during 2018 was $11.08.  As of December 31, 2018, we 
recognized $26.4 million of expense, while $24 million was unrecognized and is expected to be amortized up to 2.75 years.  

Other RSU Grants 

We granted 1,385,929 off-cycle time-vesting RSUs in 2018 primarily pertaining to replacement awards granted to Validus employees. 
We recognized $43.3 million of expense related to these RSU grants in 2018. Total unrecognized compensation cost related to these 
grants was $57 million and the weighted-average and expected period of years over which that cost is expected to be recognized are 
1.14 years and 4.25 years at December 31, 2018. 

NON-EMPLOYEE PLAN 
Our non-employee directors, who serve on our Board of Directors, receive share-based compensation in the form of fully vested 
DSUs with delivery deferred until retirement from the Board. DSUs granted in 2018, 2017 and 2016 accrue DEUs equal to the amount 
of any regular quarterly dividend that would have been paid by AIG if the shares of AIG Common Stock underlying the DSUs had 
been outstanding. In 2018, 2017 and 2016, we granted to non-employee directors 39,092, 32,067 and 41,974 DSUs, respectively, 
under the 2013 Plan, and recognized expense of $2.1 million, $2.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively.
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21. Employee Benefits  

PENSION PLANS 
We offer various defined benefit plans to eligible employees. 

The U.S. AIG Retirement Plan (the qualified plan) is a noncontributory defined benefit plan that is subject to the provisions of ERISA. 
U.S. salaried employees who are employed by a participating company on or before December 1, 2014 and who have completed 
12 months of continuous service are eligible to participate in the plan. Effective April 1, 2012, the qualified plan was converted to a 
cash balance formula comprised of pay credits based on six percent of a plan participant’s annual compensation (subject to IRS 
limitations) and annual interest credits. Employees can take their vested benefits when they leave AIG as a lump sum or an annuity 
option after completing at least three years of service.  Employees satisfying certain age and service requirements (i.e., grandfathered 
employees) remain covered under the average pay formula that was in effect prior to the conversion to the cash balance formula.  
The final average pay formula is based upon a percentage of final average compensation multiplied by years of credited service, up 
to 44 years.  Grandfathered employees will receive the higher of the benefit under the cash balance formula or the final average pay 
formula at retirement.  Non-U.S. defined benefit plans generally are either based on the employee’s years of credited service and 
compensation in the years preceding retirement or on points accumulated based on the employee’s job grade and other factors 
during each year of service. 

In the U.S. we also sponsor non-qualified unfunded defined benefit plans, such as the AIG Non-Qualified Retirement Income Plan 
(AIG NQRIP) for certain employees, including key executives, designed to supplement pension benefits provided by the qualified 
plan.  The AIG NQRIP provides a benefit equal to the reduction in benefits under the qualified plan as a result of federal tax limitations 
on compensation and benefits payable.  

Plan Freeze 

Effective January 1, 2016, the U.S. defined benefit pension plans were frozen. Consequently, these plans are closed to new 
participants and current participants no longer earn benefits. However, interest credits continue to accrue on the existing cash 
balance accounts and participants are continuing to accrue years of service for purposes of vesting and early retirement eligibility and 
subsidies as they continue to be employed by AIG. 

POSTRETIREMENT PLANS 
We also provide postretirement medical care and life insurance benefits in the U.S. and in certain non-U.S. countries. Eligibility in the 
various plans generally is based upon completion of a specified period of eligible service and attaining a specified age. Overseas, 
benefits vary by geographic location. 

U.S. postretirement medical and life insurance benefits are based upon the employee attaining the age of 55 and having a minimum 
of ten years of service. Eligible employees who have medical coverage can enroll in retiree medical upon termination of employment. 
Medical benefits are contributory, while the life insurance benefits generally are non-contributory. Retiree medical contributions vary 
from none for pre-1989 retirees to actual premium payments reduced by certain subsidies for post-1992 retirees. These contributions 
are subject to adjustment annually. Other cost sharing features of the medical plan include deductibles, coinsurance and Medicare 
coordination. Effective April 1, 2012, the retiree medical employer subsidy for the AIG postretirement plan was eliminated for 
employees who were not grandfathered.   Additionally, new employees hired after December 31, 2012 are not eligible for retiree life 
insurance. 
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The following table presents the funded status of the plans reconciled to the amount reported in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. The measurement date for most of the non-U.S. defined benefit pension and postretirement plans is November 30, 
consistent with the fiscal year end of the sponsoring companies. For all other plans, measurement occurs as of 
December 31. 

As of or for the Years Ended  Pension   Postretirement 
December 31,  U.S. Plans*  Non-U.S. Plans*  U.S. Plans   Non-U.S. Plans  
(in millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 
Change in projected benefit obligation: 
   Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 5,091 $ 4,948 $ 1,202 $ 1,246 $ 190 $ 196 $ 63 $ 80 
   Service cost 5 11 22 29 1 2 1 3 
   Interest cost 162 166 16 16 6 6 2 3 
   Actuarial (gain) loss (383) 372 (28) (29) (10) - (14) (2) 
   Benefits paid: 
      AIG assets (16) (19) (9) (10) (15) (13) (1) (1) 
      Plan assets (306) (161) (32) (26) - - - - 
   Plan amendment - - 3 - - - - (6) 
   Curtailments - - - (7) - - - - 
   Settlements - (226) (5) (12) - - - - 
   Foreign exchange effect - - (31) 37 - - (1) 1 
   Other - - - (42) - (1) - (15) 
Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 4,553 $ 5,091 $ 1,138 $ 1,202 $ 172 $ 190 $ 50 $ 63 
Change in plan assets: 
   Fair value of plan assets, beginning 
      of year $ 4,350 $ 3,843 $ 875 $ 803 $ - $ - $ - $ - 
   Actual return on plan assets, net of expenses (204) 584 6 67 - - - - 
   AIG contributions 16 329 51 60 15 13 1 1 
   Benefits paid: 
      AIG assets (16) (19) (9) (10) (15) (13) (1) (1) 
      Plan assets (306) (161) (32) (26) - - - - 
   Settlements - (226) (5) (12) - - - - 
   Foreign exchange effect - - (25) 19 - - - - 
   Other - - - (26) - - - - 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 3,840 $ 4,350 $ 861 $ 875 $ - $ - $ - $ - 
Funded status, end of year $ (713) $ (741) $ (277) $ (327) $ (172) $ (190) $ (50) $ (63) 
Amounts recognized in the balance  
  sheet: 
   Assets $ - $ - $ 72 $ 68 $ - $ - $ - $ - 
   Liabilities (713) (741) (349) (395) (172) (190) (50) (63) 
   Total amounts recognized $ (713) $ (741) $ (277) $ (327) $ (172) $ (190) $ (50) $ (63) 
Pre-tax amounts recognized in Accumulated 
   other comprehensive income: 
   Net gain (loss) $ (1,450) $ (1,373) $ (149) $ (170) $ 26 $ 17 $ 3 $ (11) 
   Prior service (cost) credit - - (23) (22) - 1 3 5 
   Total amounts recognized $ (1,450) $ (1,373) $ (172) $ (192) $ 26 $ 18 $ 6 $ (6) 
* Includes non-qualified unfunded plans of which the aggregate projected benefit obligation was $250 million and $272 million for the U.S. at December 31, 2018 and 

2017, respectively, and $201 million and $211 million for the non-U.S at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

The following table presents the accumulated benefit obligations for U.S. and non-U.S. pension benefit plans: 

At December 31,     
(in millions)  2018  2017 
U.S. pension benefit plans $ 4,553 $ 5,091 
Non-U.S. pension benefit plans $ 1,125 $ 1,188 
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Defined benefit plan obligations in which the projected benefit obligation was in excess of the related plan assets and the 
accumulated benefit obligation was in excess of the related plan assets were as follows: 

At December 31, PBO Exceeds Fair Value of Plan Assets  ABO Exceeds Fair Value of Plan Assets  
  U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans   U.S. Plans   Non-U.S. Plans  
(in millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017  2018 2017  2018 2017 
Projected benefit obligation $ 4,553 $ 5,091 $ 994 $ 1,054 $ 4,553 $ 5,091 $ 943 $ 991 
Accumulated benefit obligation 4,553 5,091 932 979 4,553 5,091 932 979 
Fair value of plan assets 3,840 4,350 594 596 3,840 4,350 594 596 

The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit cost with respect to pensions and other postretirement 
benefits: 

Years Ended December 31, Pension   Postretirement 
  U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans  U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans 

(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 2016 

Components of net periodic benefit          

cost:          
Service cost* $ 5 $ 11 $ 19 $ 22 $ 29 $ 31 $ 1 $ 2 $ 2 $ 1 $ 3 $ 3 

Interest cost 162 166 181 16 16 21 6 6 7 2 3 3 

Expected return on assets (283) (266) (292) (25) (24) (26) - - - - - - 
Amortization of prior service cost (credit) - - - 2 - - (1) (1) (12) (2) (1) - 
Amortization of net (gain) loss 28 26 25 7 12 7 - (1) (1) 1 1 1 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) (88) (63) (67) 22 33 33 6 6 (4) 2 6 7 

Curtailment gain - - - - (6) (6) - - (1) - (2) - 
Settlement charges - 60 149 - 1 2 - - - - - - 

Net benefit cost (credit) $ (88) $ (3) $ 82 $ 22 $ 28 $ 29 $ 6 $ 6 $ (5) $ 2 $ 4 $ 7 

Total recognized in Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss) $ (77) $ 32 $ (82) $ 20 $ 87 $ (101) $ 9 $ (2) $ (7) $ 12 $ 9 $ 1 

Total recognized in net periodic benefit 
cost and other comprehensive 
income (loss) $ 11 $ 35 $ (164) $ (2) $ 59 $ (130) $ 3 $ (8) $ (2) $ 10 $ 5 $ (6) 

* Reflects administrative fees for the U.S. pension plans. 

The estimated net loss and prior service cost that will be amortized from Accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic 
benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $38 million and $2 million, respectively, for our combined defined benefit pension plans. For 
the defined benefit postretirement plans, the estimated amortization from Accumulated other comprehensive income for net gain and 
prior service credit that will be amortized into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year is a $3 million credit in the aggregate. 

As of 2016, interest cost for pension and postretirement benefits for our U.S. plans and largest non-U.S. plans is measured by 
applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve to the plans’ corresponding discounted cash flows that comprise the obligation 
(the Spot Rate Approach). This method provides a more precise measurement of interest cost by aligning the timing of the plans’ 
discounted cash flows to the corresponding spot rates on the yield curve. Previously, interest cost was measured utilizing a single 
weighted-average discount rate derived from the yield curve used to measure the benefit obligations. 

A 100 basis point increase in the discount rate or expected long-term rate of return would decrease the 2018 pension expense by 
approximately $5 million and $45 million, respectively, with all other items remaining the same. Conversely, a 100 basis point 
decrease in the discount rate or expected long-term rate of return would increase the 2018 pension expense by approximately 
$24 million and $45 million, respectively, with all other items remaining the same.    
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ASSUMPTIONS 

The following table summarizes the weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations: 

  Pension   Postretirement   
  U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans(a)  U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans(a)  
December 31, 2018         
Discount rate 4.22 %   1.71 % 4.17 %  4.12 % 
Rate of compensation increase N/A  (b)  2.27 % N/A   3.00 % 
December 31, 2017         
Discount rate 3.61 %   1.60 % 3.53 %  3.59 % 
Rate of compensation increase N/A  (b)  2.27 % N/A   3.00 % 
(a) The non-U.S. plans reflect those assumptions that were most appropriate for the local economic environments of each of the subsidiaries providing such benefits. 

(b) Compensation increases are no longer applicable due to the plan freeze that became effective January 1, 2016. 

The following table summarizes assumed health care cost trend rates for the U.S. plans: 

At December 31, 2018 2017 
Following year: 
   Medical (before age 65) 5.93% 6.12% 
   Medical (age 65 and older) 5.00% 5.00% 
Ultimate rate to which cost increase is assumed to decline 4.50% 4.50% 
Year in which the ultimate trend rate is reached: 
   Medical (before age 65) 2038 2038 
   Medical (age 65 and older) 2038 2038 

A one percent point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the following effect on our postretirement 
benefit obligations: 

 One Percent  One Percent 
At December 31, Increase   Decrease  
(in millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017 
U.S. plans $ 4 $ 4 $ (3) $ (4) 
Non-U.S. plans $ 10 $ 14 $ (8) $ (10) 

Our postretirement plans provide benefits primarily in the form of defined employer contributions rather than defined employer 
benefits. Changes in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate have a minimal impact for U.S. plans because for post-1992 retirees, 
benefits are fixed dollar amounts based on service at retirement. Our non-U.S. postretirement plans are not subject to caps. 
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The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit costs: 

 Pension    Postretirement   
 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans* U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans* 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018        
   Discount rate 3.61 %  1.60 % 3.53 %  3.59 % 
   Rate of compensation increase N/A   2.27 % N/A   3.00 % 
   Expected return on assets 6.75 %  2.78 % N/A   N/A  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017       
   Discount rate 4.15 %  1.50 % 4.01 %  3.95 % 
   Rate of compensation increase N/A   2.50 % N/A   3.38 % 
   Expected return on assets 7.00 %  2.92 % N/A   N/A  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016       
   Discount rate 4.33 %  2.17 % 4.21 %  4.09 % 
   Rate of compensation increase N/A %  2.64 % N/A   3.43 % 
   Expected return on assets 7.00 %  3.28 % N/A    N/A  
* The non-U.S. plans reflect those assumptions that were most appropriate for the local economic environments of the subsidiaries providing such benefits. 

Discount Rate Methodology 

The projected benefit cash flows under the U.S. AIG Retirement Plan were discounted using the spot rates derived from the Mercer 
U.S. Pension Discount Yield Curve at December 31, 2018 and 2017, which resulted in a single discount rate that would produce the 
same liability at the respective measurement dates. The discount rates were 4.22 percent at December 31, 2018 and 3.61 percent at 
December 31, 2017. The methodology was consistently applied for the respective years in determining the discount rates for the other 
U.S. pension plans. 

In general, the discount rates for the non-U.S. plans were developed using a similar methodology to the U.S. AIG Retirement plan, by 
using country-specific Mercer Yield Curves. 

The projected benefit obligation for AIG’s Japan pension plans represents approximately 52 percent and 50 percent of the total 
projected benefit obligations for our non-U.S. pension plans at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The weighted average 
discount rate of 0.72 percent and 0.66 percent at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, was selected by reference to the Mercer 
Yield Curve for Japan. 

Plan Assets 

The investment strategy with respect to assets relating to our U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans is designed to achieve investment 
returns that will provide for the benefit obligations of the plans over the long term, limit the risk of short-term funding shortfalls 
and maintain liquidity sufficient to address cash needs. Accordingly, the asset allocation strategy is designed to maximize the 
investment rate of return while managing various risk factors, including, but not limited to, volatility relative to the benefit obligations, 
liquidity, diversification and concentration, and incorporates the risk/return profile applicable to each asset class.   

There were no shares of AIG Common Stock included in the U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans assets at December 31, 2018 or 2017. 
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U.S. Pension Plan 

The assets of the qualified plan are monitored by the AIG U.S. Investment Committee and actively managed by the investment 
managers, which involves allocating the plan’s assets among approved asset classes within ranges as permitted by the strategic 
allocation. The long-term strategic asset allocation historically has been reviewed and revised approximately every three years. The 
investment strategy is focused on de-risking the Plan via regular monitoring through liability driven investing and the glide path 
approach, where the glide path defines the target allocation for the “Return-Seeking” portion of the portfolio (i.e., growth assets) 
based on the funded ratio. Under this approach, the allocation to growth assets is reduced and the allocation to liability-hedging 
assets is increased as the Plan’s funded ratio increases in accordance with the defined glide path. 

The following table presents the asset allocation percentage by major asset class for the U.S. qualified plan and the target 
allocation for 2019 based on the plan’s funded status at December 31, 2018: 

 Target  Actual Actual  
At December 31, 2019  2018 2017 
Asset class:  
   Equity securities 26 % 25 % 45 % 
   Fixed maturity securities 60 % 47 % 36 % 
   Other investments 14 % 28 % 19 % 
Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 

The expected long-term rate of return for the plan was 6.75 percent and 7.0 percent for 2018 and 2017, respectively. The expected 
rate of return is an aggregation of expected returns within each asset class category, weighted for the investment mix of the assets. 
The combination of the expected asset return and any contributions made by us are expected to maintain the plan’s ability to meet all 
required benefit obligations. The expected asset return for each asset class was developed based on an approach that considers key 
fundamental drivers of the asset class returns in addition to historical returns, current market conditions, asset volatility and the 
expectations for future market returns.  

Non-U.S. Pension Plans 

The assets of the non-U.S. pension plans are held in various trusts in multiple countries and are invested primarily in equities and 
fixed maturity securities to maximize the long-term return on assets for a given level of risk. 

The following table presents the asset allocation percentage by major asset class for non-U.S. pension plans and the target 
allocation: 

 Target  Actual Actual  
At December 31, 2019  2018 2017 
Asset class:  
   Equity securities 30 % 35 % 49 % 
   Fixed maturity securities 51 % 37 % 32 % 
   Other investments 18 % 17 % 13 % 
   Cash and cash equivalents 1 % 11 % 6 % 
Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 

The assets of AIG’s Japan pension plans represent approximately 59 percent and 56 percent of total non-U.S. assets at December 
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The expected long term rate of return was 2.22 percent and 2.43 percent, for 2018 and 2017, 
respectively, and is evaluated by the Japanese Pension Investment Committee on a quarterly and annual basis along with various 
investment managers, and is revised to achieve the optimal allocation to meet targeted funding levels if necessary. In addition, the 
funding policy is revised in accordance with local regulation every five years. 

The expected weighted average long-term rate of return for all our non-U.S. pension plans was 2.78 percent and 2.92 percent for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. It is an aggregation of expected returns within each asset class that was 
generally developed based on the building block approach that considers historical returns, current market conditions, asset volatility 
and the expectations for future market returns.  
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ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE  

The following table presents information about our plan assets and indicates the level of the fair value measurement based 
on the observability of the inputs used.  The inputs and methodology used in determining the fair value of these assets are 
consistent with those used to measure our assets as discussed in Note 5 herein. 

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans  
(in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
At December 31, 2018 
Assets:           
   Cash and cash equivalents $ 501 $ - $ - $ 501 $ 97 $ - $ - $ 97 
   Equity securities: 
      U.S.(a) 240 - - 240 - - - - 
      International(b)  137  -  -  137  218  84  -  302 
   Fixed maturity securities:         
      U.S. investment grade(c) - 1,463 13 1,476 - - - - 
      International investment grade(c) - 157 - 157 - 130 - 130 
      U.S. and international high yield(d) - 96 - 96 - 185 - 185 
      Mortgage and other asset-backed  
         securities(e) - 36 - 36 - - - - 
      Other fixed maturity securities - - - - - 2 - 2 
   Other investment types(g): 
      Futures 27 - - 27 - - - - 
      Direct private equity(f) - - 14 14 - - - - 
      Insurance contracts - 18 - 18 - - 145 145 
Total $ 905 $ 1,770 $ 27 $ 2,702 $ 315 $ 401 $ 145 $ 861 
At December 31, 2017 
Assets:           
   Cash and cash equivalents $ 397 $ - $ - $ 397 $ 51 $ - $ - $ 51 
   Equity securities: 
      U.S.(a) 1,300 - - 1,300 - - - - 
      International(b)  265  -  -  265  362  64  -  426 
   Fixed maturity securities:         
      U.S. investment grade(c) - 1,006 12 1,018 - - - - 
      International investment grade(c) - 204 - 204 - 97 - 97 
      U.S. and international high yield(d) - 212 - 212 - 171 - 171 
      Mortgage and other asset-backed  
         securities(e) - 142 - 142 - - - - 
      Other fixed maturity securities - - - - - 16 - 16 
   Other investment types(g): 
      Direct private equity(f) - - 15 15 - - - - 
      Insurance contracts - 20 - 20 - - 113 113 
Total $ 1,962 $ 1,584 $ 27 $ 3,573 $ 413 $ 348 $ 113 $ 874 
(a) Includes passive and active U.S. equity strategies. 

(b) Includes passive and active international equity strategies. 

(c) Includes investments in U.S. and non-U.S. government issued bonds, U.S. government agency or sponsored agency bonds, and investment grade corporate bonds. 

(d) Consists primarily of investments in securities or debt obligations that have a rating below investment grade. 

(e) Represents investments in collateralized loan obligations. As of December 31, 2017, the plan held additional asset-backed securities. 

(f) Comprised of private capital financing including private debt and private equity securities. 

(g) Excludes investments that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent), which totaled $1,138 million and $777 million at December 31, 2018 
and 2017, respectively. 

The inputs or methodologies used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in these 
securities. Based on our investment strategy, we had no significant concentrations of risks at December 31, 2018. 

The U.S. pension plan holds a group annuity contract with U.S. Life, one of our subsidiaries, which totaled $18 million and $20 million 
at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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Changes in Level 3 Fair Value Measurements 

The following table presents changes in our U.S. and non-U.S. Level 3 plan assets measured at fair value: 

        Changes in 

 Net Unrealized Gains 

  Balance Realized and   Balance (Losses) on 

At December 31, 2018 Beginning Unrealized Transfers Transfers at End Instruments Held 

(in millions) of year Gains (Losses) Purchases Sales Issuances Settlements In Out of year at End of year 

U.S. Plan Assets:           
   Fixed maturity securities 

      U.S. investment grade $ 12 $ (2) $ 5 $ (3) $ - $ - $ 1 $ - $ 13 $ 1 
   Direct private equity 15 (2) 3 (2) - - - - 14 (1) 
Total $ 27 $ (4) $ 8 $ (5) $ - $ - $ 1 $ - $ 27 $ - 
Non-U.S. Plan Assets:           

   Insurance contracts 113 31 1 - - - - - 145 - 
Total $ 113 $ 31 $ 1 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 145 $ - 

        Changes in 

 Net Unrealized Gains 

  Balance Realized and   Balance (Losses) on 

At December 31, 2017 Beginning Unrealized Transfers Transfers at End Instruments Held 

(in millions) of year Gains (Losses) Purchases Sales Issuances Settlements In Out of year at End of year 

U.S. Plan Assets:           

   Fixed maturity securities 

      U.S. investment grade $ 2 $ - $ 17 $ (7) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 12 $ 2 

   Direct private equity 24 (3) 1 (7) - - - - 15 (1) 

Total $ 26 $ (3) $ 18 $ (14) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 27 $ 1 

Non-U.S. Plan Assets:           

   Insurance contracts 108 4 1 - - - - - 113 - 

Total $ 108 $ 4 $ 1 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 113 $ - 

Transfers of Level 1 and Level 2 Assets  

Our policy is to record transfers of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 at their fair values as of the end of each reporting period, 
consistent with the date of the determination of fair value. Assets are transferred out of Level 1 when they are no longer transacted 
with sufficient frequency and volume in an active market. Conversely, assets are transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 when transaction 
volume and frequency are indicative of an active market. We had no material transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the years 
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Transfers of Level 3 Assets 

We record transfers of assets into or out of Level 3 at their fair values as of the end of each reporting period, consistent with the date 
of the determination of fair value.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, we had no material transfers in or out of Level 3. 

EXPECTED CASH FLOWS 
Funding for the qualified plan ranges from the minimum amount required by ERISA to the maximum amount that would be deductible 
for U.S. tax purposes. Contributed amounts in excess of the minimum amounts are deemed voluntary. Amounts in excess of the 
maximum amount would be subject to an excise tax and may not be deductible under the Internal Revenue Code. There are no 
minimum required cash contributions in 2018 for the AIG Retirement Plan. The non-qualified and postretirement plans’ benefit 
payments are deductible when paid to participants. 

Our annual pension contribution in 2019 is expected to be approximately $79 million for our U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans. This 
estimate is subject to change, since contribution decisions are affected by various factors including our liquidity, market performance 
and management’s discretion. 



  
 

ITEM 8 | Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements | 21.  Employee Benefits 
 

308                            AIG | 2018 Form 10-K 

The expected future benefit payments, net of participants’ contributions, with respect to the defined benefit pension plans 
and other postretirement benefit plans, are as follows: 

  Pension   Postretirement  
  U.S.  Non-U.S.  U.S.  Non-U.S. 
(in millions) Plans  Plans  Plans  Plans 
2019 $ 274 $ 77 $ 13 $ 1 
2020 270 42 13 1 
2021 281 41 13 1 
2022 279 41 13 1 
2023 276 42 13 2 
2024-2028 1,361 245 56 10 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 

We sponsor several defined contribution plans for U.S. employees that provide for pre-tax salary reduction contributions by 
employees. The most significant plan is the AIG Incentive Savings Plan, for which the matching contribution is 100 percent of the first 
six percent of a participant’s contributions, subject to the IRS-imposed limitations. Effective January 1, 2016, participants in the AIG 
Incentive Savings Plan receive an additional fully vested, non-elective, non-discretionary contribution equal to three percent of the 
participant’s annual base compensation for the plan year, paid each pay period regardless of whether the participant currently 
contributes to the plan, and subject to the IRS-imposed limitations. Our pre-tax expenses associated with these plans were $210 
million, $209 million and $236 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.       

22. Ownership 
A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 14, 2019 reports aggregate ownership of 47,237,956 shares, or approximately 5.5 percent 
(based on the AIG Common Stock outstanding) of AIG Common Stock as of December 31, 2018, by Capital Research Global 
Investors, a division of Capital Research and Management Company. 

A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 11, 2019 reports aggregate ownership of 67,664,554 shares, or approximately 7.8 percent 
(based on the AIG Common Stock outstanding) of AIG Common Stock as of December 31, 2018, by The Vanguard Group, Inc. and 
various subsidiaries thereof.   

A Schedule 13G/A filed on February 11, 2019 reports aggregate ownership of 64,768,700 shares, or approximately 7.5 percent 
(based on the AIG Common Stock outstanding) of AIG Common Stock as of December 31, 2018, by Blackrock, Inc. and various 
subsidiaries thereof.   

The calculation of ownership interest for purposes of the AIG Tax Asset Protection Plan and Article 13 of our Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation is different than beneficial ownership for Schedule 13G.

23. Income Taxes 

U.S. TAX REFORM OVERVIEW 
On December 22, 2017, the U.S. enacted Public Law 115-97, known informally as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act).  The Tax 
Act reduced the statutory rate of U.S. federal corporate income tax to 21 percent and enacted numerous other changes impacting AIG 
and the insurance industry.   
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During December 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (SAB 118), which provided guidance on accounting for the 
tax effects of the Tax Act. SAB 118 addressed situations where accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act under ASC 
740 may be incomplete upon issuance of an entity’s financial statements and provides a one-year measurement period from the 
enactment date to complete the accounting under ASC 740. In accordance with SAB 118, a company was required to reflect the 
following: 

• Income tax effects of those aspects of the Tax Act for which accounting under ASC 740 is complete 

• Provisional estimate of income tax effects of the Tax Act to the extent accounting is incomplete but a reasonable estimate is 
determinable    

• If a provisional estimate cannot be determined, ASC 740 should still be applied on the basis of tax law provisions that were in 
effect immediately before the enactment of the Tax Act. 

At December 31, 2017, we originally recorded a provisional estimate of income tax effects of the Tax Act of $6.7 billion, including a tax 
charge of $6.7 billion attributable to the reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate and tax benefit of $38 million related to the 
deemed repatriation tax. Our provisional estimate of $6.7 billion was based in part on a reasonable estimate of the effects of the 
statutory income tax rate reduction on existing deferred tax balances and of certain provisions of the Tax Act. We filed our 2017 
consolidated U.S. income tax return and have completed our review of the primary impact of the Tax Act provisions on our deferred 
taxes. As a result, we consider the accounting for the effects of the rate change on deferred tax balances to be complete and no 
material measurement period changes were recorded for this item. As further guidance is issued by the U.S. tax authority, any 
resulting changes in our estimates will be treated in accordance with the relevant accounting guidance. 

The Tax Act includes provisions for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI) under which taxes on foreign income are imposed on 
the excess of a deemed return on tangible assets of certain foreign subsidiaries and for Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax (BEAT) 
under which taxes are imposed on certain base eroding payments to affiliated foreign companies. There are substantial uncertainties 
in the interpretation of BEAT and GILTI and while certain formal guidance was issued by the U.S. tax authority, there are still aspects 
of the Tax Act that remain unclear and additional guidance is expected in 2019. Such guidance may result in changes to the 
interpretations and assumptions we made and actions we may take, which may impact amounts recorded with respect to international 
provisions of the Tax Act, possibly materially. Consistent with accounting guidance, we treat BEAT as a period tax charge in the period 
the tax is incurred and have made an accounting policy election to treat GILTI taxes in a similar manner.   

Tax effects for which a reasonable estimate can be determined   

Deemed Repatriation Tax 

The Tax Act requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax, net of tax credits, related to applicable foreign taxes paid, on 
previously untaxed current and accumulated earnings and profits of certain of our foreign subsidiaries.  We were able to reasonably 
estimate the deemed repatriation tax and originally recorded a provisional estimated tax benefit of $38 million at December 31, 2017. 
We have completed our review of post-1986 earnings and profits of our foreign affiliates. Incorporating additional IRS guidance issued 
with respect to the deemed repatriation tax, as well as the relevant basis adjustments, we recognized a measurement period tax 
charge of $62 million. The effect of the deemed repatriation tax, which has been determined to be complete, resulted in a liability of 
$24 million.  

Other Provisions 
 
The Tax Act modified computations of insurance reserves for both life and general insurance companies.  For life insurance 
companies, tax reserves are now computed with reference to NAIC reserves.  For general insurance companies, the Tax Act extends 
the discount period for certain long-tail lines of business from 10 years to 24 years and increases the discount rate, replacing the 
applicable federal rate for a higher-yield corporate bond rate, and eliminates the election allowing companies to use their historical 
loss payment patterns for loss reserve discounting.  Adjustments related to the differences in insurance reserves balances computed 
under the old tax law versus the Tax Act have to be taken into income over eight years by both life and general insurance companies.  
Accordingly, these changes give rise to new deferred tax liabilities.  At December 31, 2017, we recorded a provisional estimate of 
$1.9 billion with respect to such deferred tax liabilities. This increase in deferred tax liabilities was offset by an increase in the deferred 
tax asset related to insurance reserves as a result of applying the new provisions of the Tax Act.  

As of December 31, 2018, we have completed our review of the tax reserve computations for both life and general insurance 
companies, and recorded offsetting decreases of $1.4 billion to both our deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets.  
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Provisions Impacting Projections of Taxable Income and Valuation Allowance Considerations  

During 2018, we completed our review of the impact of the Tax Act on our forecasts of taxable income, made certain assumptions 
related to interpretation of relevant new rules, and incorporated guidance issued by the U.S. tax authority.  While the prescribed SAB 
118 measurement period has ended, there are still certain aspects of the Tax Act that remain unclear, including the complex interplay 
of the new tax rules with the rules governing the utilization of our tax attributes, and formal guidance from the U.S. tax authority is still 
pending. We will continue to review the impact of any additional guidance issued by the U.S. tax authority on our valuation allowance 
analysis in accordance with the relevant accounting guidance. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2018, we consider the determination 
of the need for a valuation allowance related to the Tax Act to be complete based on our analysis of existing tax law and relevant tax 
guidance, and no measurement period adjustment was recorded.  

Tax effects for which no estimate can be determined 
At December 31, 2017, our accounting for the following elements of the Tax Act was incomplete and we continued accounting for 
them in accordance with ASC 740 on the basis of the tax laws in effect before enactment of the Tax Act.  

The Tax Act may affect the results in certain investments and partnerships in which we are a non-controlling interest owner. At 
December 31, 2017, the information needed to determine a provisional estimate was not available (such as for interest deduction 
limitations in those entities and the changed definition of a U.S. Shareholder), and accordingly, no provisional estimates were 
recorded. We have since completed our review of these investments and partnerships. We consider the accounting for this item to be 
complete and no measurement period change was recorded. 

At December 31, 2017, due to minimal formal guidance issued by state and local jurisdictions, provisional estimates were not 
recorded for the impact of any state and local corporate income tax implications of the Tax Act.  Guidance from state and local 
jurisdictions has varied and most have not formally passed law specific to the treatment of the Tax Act. While we have not identified 
any material impact at this point in time, we continue to review any guidance issued by those states that have passed tax legislation 
related to the Tax Act and continue to work through the state and local corporate income tax implications of the Tax Act. We expect 
further guidance throughout 2019, and the impact, if any, will be recorded when the related guidance is issued. We consider the 
accounting for this item to be complete and no measurement period adjustment was recorded.             

Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 
In February 2018, the FASB issued an accounting standard that allows the optional reclassification of stranded tax effects within 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) that arise due to the enactment of the Tax Act to retained earnings. We elected to 
early adopt the standard for the three-month period ended March 31, 2018. As a result of adopting this standard, we reclassified 
$248 million from AOCI to retained earnings. The amount reclassified includes stranded effects related to the change in the U.S. 
federal corporate income tax rate on the gross temporary differences and related valuation allowances. 

We use an item-by-item approach to release the stranded or disproportionate income tax effects in AOCI related to our available-for-
sale securities. Under this approach, a portion of the disproportionate tax effects is assigned to each individual security lot at the date 
the amount becomes lodged.  When the individual securities are sold, mature, or are otherwise impaired on an other-than-temporary 
basis, the assigned portion of the disproportionate tax effect is reclassified from AOCI to income from continuing operations. 

U.S. Tax Reform – SAB 118 Measurement Period Completion 

As of December 31, 2018, we have completed our accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act.  Although the prescribed 
measurement period has ended, there are aspects of the Tax Act that remain unclear and additional guidance from the U.S. tax 
authority is pending. As further guidance is issued by the U.S. tax authority, any resulting changes in our estimates will be treated in 
accordance with the relevant accounting guidance.  

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE 

The following table presents income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense (benefit) by U.S. and 
foreign location in which such pre-tax income (loss) was earned or incurred:   

Years Ended December 31,    
(in millions)  2018  2017  2016 
U.S. $ (12) $ 1,940 $ 1,041 
Foreign 269 (474) (1,115) 
Total $ 257 $ 1,466 $ (74) 
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The following table presents the income tax expense (benefit) attributable to pre-tax income (loss) from continuing 
operations: 

Years Ended December 31,      
(in millions)  2018 2017 2016 
Foreign and U.S. components of actual income tax expense:    
   U.S.: 
      Current $ 134 $ 427 $ 140 
      Deferred (175) 6,865 (270) 
   Foreign: 
      Current  202  209  436 
      Deferred (7) 25 (121) 
Total $ 154 $ 7,526 $ 185 

Our actual income tax (benefit) expense differs from the statutory U.S. federal amount computed by applying the federal 
income tax rate due to the following: 

 2018  2017  2016 

 Pre-Tax Tax Percent of Pre-Tax Tax Percent of Tax Percent of 

Years Ended December 31, Income Expense/ Pre-Tax Income Expense/ Pre-Tax Pre-Tax Expense/ Pre-Tax 

(dollars in millions) (Loss) (Benefit) Income (Loss) (Loss) (Benefit) Income (Loss) Income (Benefit) Income 

U.S. federal income tax at statutory 

rate $ 255 $ 54 21.0 %  $ 1,476 $ 517 35.0 %  $ (159) $ (56) 35.0 % 

Adjustments:            

Tax exempt interest   (37) (14.5)     (111) (7.5)     (178) 111.9  

Uncertain tax positions   176 69.0     660 44.7     268 (168.6)  

Reclassifications from accumulated            

other comprehensive income   (72) (28.2)     (184) (12.5)     (132) 83.0  

Dispositions of Subsidiaries   - -     17 1.2     118 (74.2)  

Tax Attribute Restoration   - -     - -     (164) 103.1  

Non-controlling Interest   (1) (0.4)     (7) (0.5)     (81) 50.9  

Non-deductible transfer pricing             

charges   29 11.4     35 2.4     102 (64.2)  

Dividends received deduction   (38) (14.8)     (90) (6.1)     (75) 47.2  

Effect of foreign operations   44 17.3     69 4.7     234 (147.2)  

Share-based compensation            

payments excess tax deduction   (13) (5.1)     (40) (2.7)     - -  

State income taxes   10 3.9     (9) (0.6)     23 (14.5)  

Impact of Tax Act   62 24.3     6,687 453.0     - -  

Global intangible low-taxed income   21 8.2     - -     - -  

Other   (102) (40.0)     (58) (3.9)     13 (8.2)  

Effect of discontinued operations   40 15.7     3 0.2     35 (22.0)  

Valuation allowance:            

Continuing operations   21 8.2     43 2.9     83 (52.2)  

Consolidated total amounts  255  194  76.0    1,476  7,532  510.3    (159)  190  (119.5)  

Amounts attributable to discontinued               

   operations  (2) 40 NM    10 6 60.0    (85) 5 (5.9)  

Amounts attributable to continuing      

   operations $ 257 $ 154 59.9 %  $ 1,466 $ 7,526 513.4 %  $ (74) $ 185 (250.0) % 
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, the effective tax rate on income from continuing operations was 59.9 percent. The effective 
tax rate on income from continuing operations differs from the statutory tax rate of 21 percent primarily due to a $62 million 
measurement period adjustment related to the deemed repatriation tax, $48 million net charge primarily related to the accrual of IRS 
interest (including interest related to uncertain tax positions), $44 million associated with the effect of foreign operations, $29 million of 
non-deductible transfer pricing charges, $21 million of additional U.S. taxes imposed on income of our foreign subsidiaries under 
international provisions of the Tax Act, and $21 million of valuation allowance activity related to certain foreign subsidiaries and state 
jurisdictions, partially offset by tax benefits of $75 million associated with tax exempt income, and $72 million of reclassifications from 
accumulated other comprehensive income to income from continuing operations related to the disposal of available for sale securities. 
Effect of foreign operations is primarily related to income and losses in our foreign operations taxed at statutory tax rates different 
than 21 percent and foreign income subject to U.S. taxation. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the effective tax rate on income from continuing operations was not meaningful. The effective 
tax rate differs from the 2017 statutory tax rate of 35 percent primarily due to tax charges of $6.7 billion associated with the enactment 
of the Tax Act discussed above, $660 million of tax charges and related interest associated with increases in uncertain tax positions 
primarily related to cross border financing transactions and other open tax issues, $69 million associated with the effect of foreign 
operations, and $35 million of non-deductible transfer pricing charges, partially offset by tax benefits of $201 million of tax exempt 
income, $184 million of reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income to income from continuing operations related 
to the disposal of available for sale securities, and $40 million of excess tax deductions related to share based compensation 
payments recorded through the income statement in accordance with relevant accounting literature. Effect of foreign operations is 
primarily related to losses incurred in our European operations taxed at a statutory tax rate lower than 35 percent and other foreign 
taxes.  

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the effective tax rate on loss from continuing operations was not meaningful. The effective 
tax rate on loss from continuing operations differs from the statutory tax rate of 35 percent primarily due to tax charges of $234 million 
associated with effect of foreign operations, $216 million of tax charges and related interest associated with increases in uncertain tax 
positions related to cross border financing transactions, $118 million related to disposition of subsidiaries, $102 million related to non-
deductible transfer pricing charges, and $83 million related to increases in the deferred tax asset valuation allowances associated 
with U.S. federal and certain foreign jurisdictions, partially offset by tax benefits of $253 million of tax exempt income, $164 million 
associated with a portion of the U.S. Life Insurance companies capital loss carryforwards previously treated as expired that was 
restored and utilized, $116 million related to the impact of an agreement reached with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) related to 
certain tax issues under audit, and $132 million of reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income to income from 
continuing operations related to the disposal of available for sale securities. Effect of foreign operations is primarily related to foreign 
exchange losses incurred by our foreign subsidiaries related to the weakening of the British pound following the Brexit vote taxed at a 
statutory tax rate lower than 35 percent. 

As a result of the Tax Act, the majority of accumulated foreign earnings that were previously untaxed were subject to a one-time 
deemed repatriation tax. Going forward, certain foreign earnings of our foreign affiliates will be exempt from U.S. tax upon 
repatriation. Notwithstanding the changes, U.S. tax on foreign exchange gain or loss and certain non-U.S. withholding taxes will 
continue to be applicable upon future repatriations of foreign earnings.  

For the year ended December 31, 2018, we consider our foreign earnings with respect to certain operations in Canada, South Africa, 
the Far East, Latin America, Bermuda as well as the European, Asia Pacific and Middle East regions to be indefinitely reinvested. 
These earnings relate to ongoing operations and have been reinvested in active business operations. While, following the enactment 
of the Tax Act, distributions from foreign affiliates are, generally, not subject to U.S. income tax, such distributions may be subject to 
non-U.S. withholding taxes. A deferred tax liability of approximately $100 million to $150 million related to such withholding taxes has 
not been recorded for those foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. Deferred taxes, if 
necessary, have been provided on earnings of non-U.S. affiliates whose earnings are not indefinitely reinvested.          
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The following table presents the components of the net deferred tax assets (liabilities): 

December 31,     
(in millions) 2018 2017 
Deferred tax assets: 
   Losses and tax credit carryforwards $ 11,792 $ 11,931 
   Basis differences on investments 2,038 2,133 
   Life policy reserves 2,200 1,996 
   Accruals not currently deductible, and other 608 532 
   Investments in foreign subsidiaries 173 159 
   Loss reserve discount  272  526 
   Loan loss and other reserves - 34 
   Unearned premium reserve reduction 504 566 
   Fixed assets and intangible assets 531 442 
   Other 962 731 
   Employee benefits 604 601 
Total deferred tax assets 19,684 19,651 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
   Deferred policy acquisition costs (2,342) (2,313) 
   Unrealized gains related to available for sale debt securities (490) (2,151) 
   Loan loss and other reserves (20) - 
Total deferred tax liabilities (2,852) (4,464) 
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 16,832 15,187 
Valuation allowance (1,780) (1,374) 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 15,052 $ 13,813 

The following table presents our U.S. consolidated income tax group tax losses and credits carryforwards as of December 
31, 2018. 

December 31, 2018    Tax  Expiration 
(in millions) Gross Effected Periods 
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 36,268 $ 7,616 2028 - 2037 
Capital loss carryforwards 82 17 2023 
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 3,516 2019 - 2023 
Other carryforwards 814  Various 
Total AIG U.S. consolidated income tax group tax losses and credits        

carryforwards on a tax return basis   11,963 
Unrecognized tax benefit   (1,733) 
Total AIG U.S. consolidated income tax group tax losses and credits    

carryforwards on a U.S. GAAP basis*   $ 10,230 
* Includes other carryforwards, i.e. general business credits of $30 million and refundable Alternative Minimum Tax Credits of $39 million on a U.S. GAAP basis. 

We have U.S. federal consolidated net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards of approximately $10.2 billion. The carryforward 
periods for our foreign tax credits begin to expire in 2019. As detailed in the Assessment of Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance 
section of this footnote, we determined that it is more likely than not that our U.S. federal consolidated tax attribute carryforwards will 
be realized prior to their expiration. 
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ASSESSMENT OF DEFERRED TAX ASSET VALUATION ALLOWANCE 

The evaluation of the recoverability of our deferred tax asset and the need for a valuation allowance requires us to weigh all positive 
and negative evidence to reach a conclusion that it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be 
realized. The weight given to the evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be objectively verified. The more negative 
evidence that exists, the more positive evidence is necessary and the more difficult it is to support a conclusion that a valuation 
allowance is not needed. 

Our framework for assessing the recoverability of the deferred tax asset requires us to consider all available evidence, including: 

• the nature, frequency, and amount of cumulative financial reporting income and losses in recent years; 

• the sustainability of recent operating profitability of our subsidiaries; 

• the predictability of future operating profitability of the character necessary to realize the net deferred tax asset; 

• the carryforward period for the net operating loss, capital loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards, including the effect of reversing 
taxable temporary differences; and 

• prudent and feasible actions and tax planning strategies that would be implemented, if necessary, to protect against the loss of the 
deferred tax asset. 

In performing our assessment of the recoverability of the deferred tax asset under this framework, we consider tax laws governing the 
utilization of the net operating loss, capital loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards in each applicable jurisdiction.  Under U.S. tax 
law, a company generally must use its net operating loss carryforwards before it can use its foreign tax credit carryforwards, even 
though the carryforward period for the foreign tax credit is shorter than for the net operating loss.  Our U.S. federal consolidated 
income tax group includes both life companies and non-life companies.  While the U.S. taxable income of our non-life companies can 
be offset by our net operating loss carryforwards, only a portion (no more than 35 percent) of the U.S. taxable income of our life 
companies can be offset by those net operating loss carryforwards.  The remaining tax liability of our life companies can be offset by 
the foreign tax credit carryforwards.  Accordingly, we utilize both the net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards 
concurrently which enables us to realize our tax attributes prior to expiration. As of December 31, 2018, based on all available 
evidence, it is more likely than not that the U.S. net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards will be utilized prior to 
expiration and, thus, no valuation allowance has been established. 

Estimates of future taxable income, including income generated from prudent and feasible actions and tax planning strategies and 
any changes to interpretations and assumptions related to the impact of the Tax Act could change in the near term, perhaps 
materially, which may require us to consider any potential impact to our assessment of the recoverability of the deferred tax asset. 
Such potential impact could be material to our consolidated financial condition or results of operations for an individual reporting 
period. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, recent changes in market conditions, including rising interest rates, impacted the unrealized 
tax gains and losses in the U.S. Life Insurance Companies’ available for sale securities portfolio, resulting in a deferred tax asset 
related to net unrealized tax capital losses. The deferred tax asset relates to the unrealized losses for which the carryforward period 
has not yet begun, and as such, when assessing its recoverability, we consider our ability and intent to hold the underlying securities 
to recovery. As of December 31, 2018, based on all available evidence, we concluded that a valuation allowance should be 
established on a portion of the deferred tax asset related to unrealized losses that are not more-likely-than-not to be realized. For the 
year ended December 31, 2018, we established $290 million of valuation allowance associated with the unrealized tax losses in the 
U.S. Life Insurance Companies’ available for sale securities portfolio, all of which was allocated to other comprehensive income. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, recent changes in market conditions, including rising interest rates, impacted the unrealized 
tax gains and losses in the U.S. Non-Life Companies’ available for sale securities portfolio, resulting in a decrease to the deferred tax 
liability related to net unrealized tax capital gains.  As of December 31, 2018, we continue to be in an overall unrealized tax gain 
position with respect to the U.S. Non-Life Companies’ available for sale securities portfolio and thus concluded no valuation allowance 
is necessary in the U.S. Non-Life Companies’ available for sale securities portfolio. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized a net increase of $21 million in our deferred tax asset valuation allowance 
associated with certain foreign subsidiaries and state jurisdictions, primarily attributable to current year activity. 
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The following table presents the net deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2018 and 2017 on a U.S. GAAP basis: 

December 31, 
(in millions) 2018 2017 
Net U.S. consolidated return group deferred tax assets $ 15,479 $ 15,603 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) in accumulated other comprehensive income   (510)  (2,070) 
Valuation allowance   (405)  (86) 
Subtotal   14,564  13,447 
Net foreign, state and local deferred tax assets   2,031  1,874 
Valuation allowance   (1,374)  (1,288) 
Subtotal   657  586 
Subtotal - Net U.S., foreign, state and local deferred tax assets   15,221  14,033 
Net foreign, state and local deferred tax liabilities   (169)  (220) 
Total AIG net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 15,052 $ 13,813 

DEFERRED TAX ASSET VALUATION ALLOWANCE OF U.S. CONSOLIDATED FEDERAL INCOME TAX 
GROUP 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, our U.S. consolidated income tax group had net deferred tax assets after valuation allowance of 
$14.6 billion and $13.4 billion, respectively. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, our U.S. consolidated income tax group had valuation 
allowances of $405 million and $86 million, respectively.  

DEFERRED TAX ASSET — FOREIGN, STATE AND LOCAL 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had net deferred tax assets (liabilities) of $488 million and $366 million, respectively, related to 
foreign subsidiaries, state and local tax jurisdictions, and certain domestic subsidiaries that file separate tax returns. 

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had deferred tax asset valuation allowances of $1.4 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, related 
to foreign subsidiaries, state and local tax jurisdictions, and certain domestic subsidiaries that file separate tax returns. We maintained 
these valuation allowances following our conclusion that we could not demonstrate that it was more likely than not that the related 
deferred tax assets will be realized.  This was primarily due to factors such as cumulative losses in recent years and the inability to 
demonstrate profits within the specific jurisdictions over the relevant carryforward periods.  

TAX EXAMINATIONS AND LITIGATION 
We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return with our eligible U.S. subsidiaries. Income earned by subsidiaries operating 
outside the U.S. is taxed, and income tax expense is recorded, based on applicable U.S. and foreign law. 

The statute of limitations for all tax years prior to 2000 has expired for our consolidated federal income tax return. We are currently 
under examination for the tax years 2000 through 2013. 

On March 20, 2008, we received a Statutory Notice of Deficiency (Notice) from the IRS for years 1997 to 1999. The Notice asserted 
that we owe additional taxes and penalties for these years primarily due to the disallowance of foreign tax credits associated with 
cross-border financing transactions. The transactions that are the subject of the Notice extend beyond the period covered by the 
Notice, and the IRS has administratively challenged the later periods. The IRS has also administratively challenged other cross-
border transactions in later years. We have paid the assessed tax plus interest and penalties for 1997 to 1999. On February 26, 2009, 
we filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (Southern District) seeking a refund of 
approximately $306 million in taxes, interest and penalties paid with respect to the 1997 taxable year. We allege that the IRS 
improperly disallowed foreign tax credits and that our taxable income should be reduced as a result of the 2005 restatement of our 
consolidated financial statements.  

We also filed an administrative refund claim on September 9, 2010 for our 1998 and 1999 tax years.  

On August 1, 2012, we filed a motion for partial summary judgment related to the disallowance of foreign tax credits associated with 
cross border financing transactions in the Southern District of New York. The Southern District of New York denied our summary 
judgment motion and upon AIG’s appeal, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit (the Second Circuit) affirmed the denial. 
AIG’s petition for certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court from the decision of the Second Circuit was denied on March 7, 2016.  As a 
result, the case has been remanded back to the Southern District of New York for a jury trial. 
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In January 2018, the parties reached non-binding agreements in principle on issues presented in the dispute and are currently 
reviewing the computations reflecting the settlement terms. The resolution is not final and is subject to various reviews. The litigation 
has been stayed pending the outcome of the review process. We can provide no assurance regarding the outcome of any such 
litigation or whether binding compromised settlements with the parties will ultimately be reached. We currently believe that we have 
adequate reserves for the potential liabilities that may result from these matters.  

ACCOUNTING FOR UNCERTAINTY IN INCOME TAXES 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross 
unrecognized tax benefits: 

Years Ended December 31, 
(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of year $ 4,707 $ 4,530 $ 4,331 
   Increases in tax positions for prior years  14  210  235 
   Decreases in tax positions for prior years  (6)  (33)  (39) 
   Increases in tax positions for current year  -  -  3 
   Lapse in statute of limitations  -  -  - 
   Settlements  (6)  -  - 
   Activity of discontinued operations  -  -  - 
Gross unrecognized tax benefits, end of year $ 4,709 $ 4,707 $ 4,530 

At December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, our unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, were $4.7 billion, $4.7 billion 
and $4.5 billion, respectively. The activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is not material. The activity for the years ended  
December 31, 2017 and 2016, includes increases for amounts associated with cross border financing transactions and the impact of 
settlement discussions with the IRS related to certain other open tax issues unrelated to the cross border financing transactions. With 
respect to cross border financing transactions, the increases are the result of consideration of court decisions upholding the 
disallowance of foreign tax credits claimed by other corporate entities not affiliated with AIG. In addition, the year ended December 31, 
2017 reflects the agreement reached in the fourth quarter of 2017 by the parties in the cross border financing dispute to pursue a 
potential settlement.    

At December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, our unrecognized tax benefits related to tax positions that, if recognized, would not affect the 
effective tax rate because they relate to such factors as the timing, rather than the permissibility, of the deduction were $38 million, 
$28 million and $66 million, respectively.  Accordingly, at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the amounts of unrecognized tax 
benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective tax rate were $4.7 billion, $4.7 billion and $4.4 billion, respectively. 

Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recognized in income tax expense. At December 31, 2018, 2017, and 
2016, we had accrued liabilities of $2.2 billion, $2.0 billion, and $1.2 billion, respectively, for the payment of interest (net of the federal 
benefit) and penalties. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, we accrued expense of $190 million, $776 million 
and $26 million, respectively, for the payment of interest and penalties. The activity for the period ended December 31, 2017, is 
primarily related to a decrease in the expected federal benefit of interest due to the U.S. corporate tax rate reduction and to an 
increase in interest and penalties associated with cross border financing transactions.  

We believe it is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits could decrease within the next 12 months by as much as $3.9 
billion, principally as a result of potential resolutions or settlements of prior years’ tax items.  The prior years’ tax items include 
unrecognized tax benefits related to the deductibility of certain expenses and matters related to cross border financing transactions. 

Listed below are the tax years that remain subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions: 

At December 31, 2018 Open Tax Years 
Major Tax Jurisdiction 

United States 2000-2017 
Australia 2014-2017 
France 2017-2018 
Japan 2012-2017 
Korea 2013-2017 
Singapore 2014-2017 
United Kingdom 2017-2018 
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24. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) 
  Three Months Ended  

  March 31,  June 30,   September 30,   December 31,  

(dollars in millions, except per share data) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Total revenues $ 11,712 $ 12,632 $ 11,631 $ 12,502 $ 11,486 $ 11,751 $ 12,560 $ 12,635 

Income (loss) from continuing 

   operations before income taxes* 1,227 1,727 1,252 1,667 (1,527) (2,803) (695) 875 

Income (loss) from discontinued 

   operations, net of income taxes  (1) - - 8 (39) (1) (2) (3) 

Net income (loss) 949 1,211 931 1,118 (1,259) (1,713) (560) (6,672) 

Net income (loss) from 

   continuing operations attributable 
   to noncontrolling interests 11 26 (6) (12) - 26 62 (12) 

Net income (loss) attributable to AIG* $ 938 $ 1,185 $ 937 $ 1,130 $ (1,259) $ (1,739) $ (622) $ (6,660) 

Income (loss) per common share 
   attributable to AIG: 
   Basic:                

      Income (loss) from continuing                

         operations $ 1.03 $ 1.21 $ 1.04 $ 1.21 $ (1.37) $ (1.91) $ (0.70) $ (7.33) 

      Income (loss) from discontinued 

         operations $ - $ - $ - $ 0.01 $ (0.04) $ - $ (0.70) $ - 

   Diluted:                 

      Income (loss) from continuing                 

         operations $ 1.01 $ 1.18 $ 1.02 $ 1.18 $ (1.37) $ (1.91) $ (0.70) $ (7.33) 

      Income (loss) from discontinued 

         operations $ - $ - $ - $ 0.01 $ (0.04) $ - $ (0.70) $ - 

Weighted average shares   
   outstanding:   
   Basic 907,951,597 980,777,243 903,215,488 925,751,084 895,237,359 908,667,044 887,508,718 908,115,499 

   Diluted 925,266,577 1,005,315,030 916,572,481 948,248,771 895,237,359 908,667,044 887,508,718 908,115,499 

Noteworthy quarterly items -                  

   (income) expense:                 

   Other-than-temporary                  

      impairments  87  68  36  67  35  88  93  37 

   Net (gain) loss on sale of                 

      divested businesses  (8)  100  (25)  60  (2)  13  (3)  (241) 

   Federal and foreign valuation                 

      allowance for deferred tax assets  30  (13)  7  (8)  5  24  (21)  40 

   Net (gain) loss on extinguishment of                 

       debt  4  (1)  5  (4)  1  1  (3)  (1) 

   Prior year unfavorable (favorable)                 

   development  (40)  61  (26)  391  949  901  546  212 

   Restructuring and other costs  24  181  200  47  35  31  136  154 

   Impact of Tax Act  -  -  -  -  62  -  -  6,687 

*     For the three-month period ended December 31, 2018, our results include out of period adjustments relating to prior periods that decreased Net income attributable to 
AIG by $87 million, and decreased Income from continuing operations before income taxes by $132 million. The out of period adjustments for the three-month period 
are primarily related to decreases in Premiums and decreases in Net realized capital gains and losses. We determined that these adjustments were not material to the 
current quarter or to any previously reported quarterly financial statements. Had these adjustments been recorded in their appropriate periods, Net income attributable 
to AIG for the three-month period ended September 30, 2018 would have decreased by $40 million with no impact to the three-month periods ended June 30, 2018 and 
March 31, 2018, respectively. 
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25. Information Provided in Connection with Outstanding Debt 
The following Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements reflect the results of AIG Life Holdings, Inc. (AIGLH), a holding 
company and a wholly owned subsidiary of AIG. AIG provides a full and unconditional guarantee of all outstanding debt of AIGLH. 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS 
  American     
  International Validus   Reclassifications  
  Group, Inc. Holdings,  Other and Consolidated 
(in millions) (As Guarantor)  Ltd.  AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG 
December 31, 2018             
Assets:             
      Short-term investments(a) $ 1,141 $ 2 $ - $ 10,329 $ (1,798) $ 9,674 
      Other investments(b)  3,377 - - 301,158 - 304,535 
   Total investments 4,518 2 - 311,487 (1,798) 314,209 
   Cash 2 9 9 2,853 - 2,873 
   Loans to subsidiaries(c) 34,963 - - 615 (35,578) - 
   Investment in consolidated subsidiaries(c) 33,300 4,029 26,321 - (63,650) - 
   Other assets, including deferred income taxes(d) 15,389 1,798 124 159,430 (1,839) 174,902 
Total assets $ 88,172 $ 5,838 $ 26,454 $ 474,385 $ (102,865) $ 491,984 
Liabilities: 
   Insurance liabilities $ - $ - $ - $ 293,652 $ - $ 293,652 
   Long-term debt 22,422 359 643 11,116 - 34,540 
   Other liabilities, including intercompany balances(b) 8,774 228 144 100,974 (3,637) 106,483 
   Loans from subsidiaries(c) 615 - - 34,963 (35,578) - 
Total liabilities 31,811 587 787 440,705 (39,215) 434,675 
Total AIG shareholders’ equity 56,361 5,251 25,667 32,732 (63,650) 56,361 
Non-redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - 948 - 948 
Total equity 56,361 5,251 25,667 33,680 (63,650) 57,309 
Total liabilities and equity $ 88,172 $ 5,838 $ 26,454 $ 474,385 $ (102,865) $ 491,984 

December 31, 2017 
Assets: 
      Short-term investments(a) $ 2,541 $ - $ - $ 11,559 $ (3,714) $ 10,386 
      Other investments(b) 6,004 - - 305,902 - 311,906 
   Total investments 8,545 - - 317,461 (3,714) 322,292 
   Cash 3 - 20 2,339 - 2,362 
   Loans to subsidiaries(c) 35,004 - - 517 (35,521) - 
   Investment in consolidated subsidiaries(c) 40,135 - 30,359 - (70,494) - 
   Other assets, including deferred income taxes(d) 16,016 - 170 159,594 (2,133) 173,647 
Total assets $ 99,703 $ - $ 30,549 $ 479,911 $ (111,862) $ 498,301 
Liabilities: 
   Insurance liabilities $ - $ - $ - $ 282,105 $ - $ 282,105 
   Long-term debt 21,557 - 642 9,441 - 31,640 
   Other liabilities, including intercompany balances(b) 12,458 - 143 112,275 (6,028) 118,848 
   Loans from subsidiaries(c) 517 - - 35,004 (35,521) - 
Total liabilities 34,532 - 785 438,825 (41,549) 432,593 
Total AIG shareholders’ equity 65,171 - 29,764 40,549 (70,313) 65,171 
Non-redeemable noncontrolling interests - - - 537 - 537 
Total equity 65,171 - 29,764 41,086 (70,313) 65,708 
Total liabilities and equity $ 99,703 $ - $ 30,549 $ 479,911 $ (111,862) $ 498,301 

(a) At December 31, 2018, includes restricted cash of $124 million and $18 million for American International Group, Inc. (As Guarantor) and Other Subsidiaries, 
respectively. At December 31, 2017, includes restricted cash of $4 million and $54 million for American International Group, Inc. (As Guarantor) and Other Subsidiaries, 
respectively. 

(b) Includes intercompany derivative positions, which are reported at fair value before credit valuation adjustment. 

(c) Eliminated in consolidation. 

(d) At December 31, 2018, includes restricted cash of $1 million and $342 million for American International Group, Inc. (As Guarantor) and Other Subsidiaries, 
respectively. At December 31, 2017, includes restricted cash of $1 million and $316 million for American International Group, Inc. (As Guarantor) and Other 
Subsidiaries, respectively.               
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) 
  American      

  International Validus   Reclassifications  

  Group, Inc. Holdings,  Other and Consolidated 

(in millions) (As Guarantor) Ltd. AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG 

Year Ended December 31, 2018 
Revenues: 
   Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries* $ (580) $ (240) $ 2,847 $ - $ (2,027) $ - 
   Other income 938 23 1 46,506 (79) 47,389 
Total revenues 358 (217) 2,848 46,506 (2,106) 47,389 
Expenses: 
   Interest expense 954 18 50 302 (15) 1,309 
   Loss on extinguishment of debt - - - 7 - 7 
   Other expenses 803 27 3 45,048 (65) 45,816 
Total expenses 1,757 45 53 45,357 (80) 47,132 
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax  

   expense (benefit) (1,399) (262) 2,795 1,149 (2,026) 257 
Income tax expense (benefit) (1,433) - 39 1,548 - 154 
Income (loss) from continuing operations 34 (262) 2,756 (399) (2,026) 103 
Loss from discontinued operations, net 

of income taxes (40) - - (2) - (42) 
Net income (loss) (6) (262) 2,756 (401) (2,026) 61 
Less:  

Net income from continuing operations 
attributable to noncontrolling interests  - - - 67 - 67 

Net income (loss) attributable to AIG $ (6) $ (262) $ 2,756 $ (468) $ (2,026) $ (6) 
Year Ended December 31, 2017 
Revenues: 
   Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries* $ (149) $ - $ 1,978 $ - $ (1,829) $ - 
   Other income 891 - - 48,802 (173) 49,520 

Total revenues 742 - 1,978 48,802 (2,002) 49,520 

Expenses: 
   Interest expense 949 - 50 176 (7) 1,168 

  (Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt 2 - - (7) - (5) 
   Other expenses 952 - 2 46,116 (179) 46,891 

Total expenses 1,903 - 52 46,285 (186) 48,054 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax  

   expense (benefit) (1,161) - 1,926 2,517 (1,816) 1,466 

Income tax expense (benefit) 4,922 - (3) 2,607 - 7,526 

Income (loss) from continuing operations (6,083) - 1,929 (90) (1,816) (6,060) 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net 

of income taxes (1) - - 5 - 4 

Net income (loss) (6,084) - 1,929 (85) (1,816) (6,056) 
Less:  

Net income (loss) from continuing operations  

attributable to noncontrolling interests  - - - 28 - 28 

Net income (loss) attributable to AIG $ (6,084) $ - $ 1,929 $ (113) $ (1,816) $ (6,084) 
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  American      

  International Validus   Reclassifications  

  Group, Inc. Holdings,  Other and Consolidated 

(in millions) (As Guarantor) Ltd. AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG 

Year Ended December 31, 2016 
Revenues: 

Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries* $ (1,269) $ - $ (197) $ - $ 1,466 $ - 

Other income 516 - 5 52,875 (1,029) 52,367 

Total revenues (753) - (192) 52,875 437 52,367 

Expenses: 
Interest expense 988 - 51 227 (6) 1,260 

(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debt 77 - - (3) - 74 

Other expenses 295 - 16 51,819 (1,023) 51,107 

Total expenses 1,360 - 67 52,043 (1,029) 52,441 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax 

expense (benefit) (2,113) - (259) 832 1,466 (74) 

Income tax expense (benefit) (1,301) - (21) 1,507 - 185 

Income (loss) from continuing operations (812) - (238) (675) 1,466 (259) 

Loss from discontinued operations, net 
of income taxes (37) - - (53) - (90) 

Net income (loss) (849) - (238) (728) 1,466 (349) 

Less:   

Net income from continuing operations  

attributable to noncontrolling interests  - - - 500 - 500 

Net income (loss) attributable to AIG $ (849) $ - $ (238) $ (1,228) $ 1,466 $ (849) 

* Eliminated in consolidation. 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
 American 

 International Validus Reclassifications 

 Group, Inc.  Holdings,   Other and Consolidated 

(in millions) (As Guarantor) Ltd. AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG 

Year Ended December 31, 2018 
Net income (loss) $ (6) $ (262) $ 2,756 $ (401) $ (2,026) $ 61 
Other comprehensive income (loss) (6,302) - 2,508 12,298 (14,797) (6,293) 
Comprehensive income (loss) (6,308) (262) 5,264 11,897 (16,823) (6,232) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to 

noncontrolling interests - - - 76 - 76 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AIG $ (6,308) $ (262) $ 5,264 $ 11,821 $ (16,823) $ (6,308) 
Year Ended December 31, 2017 
Net income (loss) $ (6,084) $ - $ 1,929 $ (85) $ (1,816) $ (6,056) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 2,235 - 7,851 17,857 (25,708) 2,235 

Comprehensive income (loss) (3,849) - 9,780 17,772 (27,524) (3,821) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to 

noncontrolling interests - - - 28 - 28 

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AIG $ (3,849) $ - $ 9,780 $ 17,744 $ (27,524) $ (3,849) 
Year Ended December 31, 2016 
Net income (loss) $ (849) $ - $ (238) $ (728) $ 1,466 $ (349) 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 693 - 4,080 52,153 (56,233) 693 

Comprehensive income (loss) (156) - 3,842 51,425 (54,767) 344 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 

noncontrolling interests - - - 500 - 500 

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AIG $ (156) $ - $ 3,842 $ 50,925 $ (54,767) $ (156) 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
  American   
  International Validus  Reclassifications 
  Group, Inc. Holdings,  Other  and Consolidated 
(in millions) (As Guarantor) Ltd. AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG 
Year Ended December 31, 2018       
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ 1,256 $ 656 $ 2,445 $ 1,651 $ (5,947) $ 61 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Sales of investments 5,587 13 - 59,918 (3,206) 62,312 
Sales of divested businesses, net - - - 10 - 10 
Purchase of investments (1,980) - - (59,778) 3,206 (58,552) 
Loans to subsidiaries – net 868 - - (90) (778) - 
Contributions from (to) subsidiaries - net 1 - - - (1) - 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash and 

restricted cash acquired (5,475) 112 - (354) - (5,717) 
Net change in short-term investments 1,533 - - (9) - 1,524 
Other, net (73) - - 273 - 200 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 461 125 - (30) (779) (223) 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Issuance of long-term debt 2,470 - - 2,264 - 4,734 
Repayments of long-term debt (1,493) (350) - (1,829) - (3,672) 
Purchase of common stock (1,739) - - - - (1,739) 
Intercompany loans - net 90 - - (868) 778 - 
Cash dividends paid  (1,138) (6) (2,456) (3,485) 5,947 (1,138) 
Other, net 212 (416) - 2,812 1 2,609 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,598) (772) (2,456) (1,106) 6,726 794 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and  

restricted cash - - - (11) - (11) 
Change in cash and restricted cash 119 9 (11) 504 - 621 
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 8 - 20 2,709 - 2,737 
Cash and restricted cash at end of year $ 127 $ 9 $ 9 $ 3,213 $ - $ 3,358 

Year Ended December 31, 2017 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ 36 $ - $ 1,413 $ (6,659) $ (2,608) $ (7,818) 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Sales of investments 5,821 - - 74,477 (3,758) 76,540 
Sales of divested businesses, net 40 - - 752 - 792 
Purchase of investments (2,465) - - (64,539) 3,758 (63,246) 
Loans to subsidiaries – net 199 - - 63 (262) - 
Contributions from (to) subsidiaries - net 2,446 - - - (2,446) - 
Net change in short-term investments 1,994 - - 104 - 2,098 
Other, net (183) - (5) (1,955) - (2,143) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 7,852 - (5) 8,902 (2,708) 14,041 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Issuance of long-term debt 1,505 - - 1,851 - 3,356 
Repayments of long-term debt (1,724) - - (1,974) - (3,698) 
Purchase of common stock (6,275) - - - - (6,275) 
Intercompany loans - net (63) - - (199) 262 - 
Cash dividends paid (1,172) - (1,422) (1,186) 2,608 (1,172) 
Other, net (154) - - (200) 2,446 2,092 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (7,883) - (1,422) (1,708) 5,316 (5,697) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and  

restricted cash - - - (29) - (29) 
Change in cash and restricted cash 5 - (14) 506 - 497 
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 3 - 34 2,070 - 2,107 
Change in cash of businesses held for sale - - - 133 - 133 
Cash and restricted cash at end of year $ 8 $ - $ 20 $ 2,709 $ - $ 2,737 
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  American   
  International Validus  Reclassifications 
  Group, Inc. Holdings,  Other  and Consolidated 
(in millions) (As Guarantor) Ltd. AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations AIG 
Year Ended December 31, 2016 
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ 2,112 $ - $ 1,707 $ 3,634 $ (3,951) $ 3,502 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Sales of investments 5,769 - - 80,453 (11,685) 74,537 
Sales of divested businesses, net 2,160 - - 649 - 2,809 
Purchase of investments (1,002) - - (80,668) 11,685 (69,985) 
Loans to subsidiaries – net 1,525 - - (3) (1,522) - 
Contributions from (to) subsidiaries - net 1,637 - - - (1,637) - 
Net change in short-term investments (1,170) - - (1,919) - (3,089) 
Other, net (141) - - (879) - (1,020) 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 8,778 - - (2,367) (3,159) 3,252 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Issuance of long-term debt 3,831 - - 2,123 - 5,954 
Repayments of long-term debt (1,996) - (63) (2,023) - (4,082) 
Purchase of common stock (11,460) - - - - (11,460) 
Intercompany loans - net 3 - (3) (1,522) 1,522 - 
Cash dividends paid (1,372) - (1,723) (2,228) 3,951 (1,372) 
Other, net (309) - - 2,799 1,637 4,127 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (11,303) - (1,789) (851) 7,110 (6,833) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and  

restricted cash - - - 55 - 55 
Change in cash and restricted cash (413) - (82) 471 - (24) 
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 416 - 116 1,706 - 2,238 
Change in cash of businesses held for sale - - - (107) - (107) 
Cash and restricted cash at end of year $ 3 $ - $ 34 $ 2,070 $ - $ 2,107 
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE OF CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
  American    
 International  Validus  Reclassifications  
 Group, Inc.  Holdings,   Other  and Consolidated 
(in millions)  (As Guarantor) Ltd. AIGLH Subsidiaries Eliminations  AIG 

Year Ended December 31, 2018  
Cash $ 2 $ 9 $ 9 $ 2,853 $ - $ 2,873 
Restricted cash included in Short-term investments 124 - - 18 - 142 
Restricted cash included in Other assets 1 - - 342 - 343 
Total cash and restricted cash shown in the Condensed  

Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows $ 127 $ 9 $ 9 $ 3,213 $ - $ 3,358 
Cash (paid) received during the year ended 

December 31, 2018 for:   
Interest: 

Third party $ (914) $ (17) $ (48) $ (333) $ - $ (1,312) 
Intercompany 1 - (1) - - - 

Taxes:       

Income tax authorities $ (32) $ - $ - $ (122) $ - $ (154) 
Intercompany 895 - - (895) - - 

Year Ended December 31, 2017  
Cash $ 3 $ - $ 20 $ 2,339 $ - $ 2,362 
Restricted cash included in Short-term investments 4 - - 54 - 58 
Restricted cash included in Other assets 1 - - 316 - 317 
Total cash and restricted cash shown in the Condensed  

Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows $ 8 $ - $ 20 $ 2,709 $ - $ 2,737 
Cash (paid) received during the year ended 

December 31, 2017 for:   
Interest: 

Third party $ (948) $ - $ (48) $ (286) $ - $ (1,282) 
Intercompany - - (1) 1 - - 

Taxes:       
Income tax authorities $ (329) $ - $ - $ (215) $ - $ (544) 
Intercompany 614 - - (614) - - 

Year Ended December 31, 2016  
Cash $ 2 $ - $ 34 $ 1,832 $ - $ 1,868 
Restricted cash included in Short-term investments - - - 46 - 46 
Restricted cash included in Other assets 1 - - 192 - 193 
Total cash and restricted cash shown in the Condensed  

Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows $ 3 $ - $ 34 $ 2,070 $ - $ 2,107 
Cash (paid) received during the year ended 

December 31, 2016 for:   
Interest: 

Third party $ (975) $ - $ (52) $ (304) $ - $ (1,331) 
Intercompany 2 - - (2) - - 

Taxes:       
Income tax authorities $ (15) $ - $ - $ (478) $ - $ (493) 
Intercompany 479 - - (479) - - 
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AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP, INC. (AS GUARANTOR) SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE OF 
NON-CASH ACTIVITIES: 
Years Ended December 31,    
(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Intercompany non-cash financing and investing activities:  

Capital contributions $ 2,369 $ 259 $ 3,245 
Dividends received in the form of securities 745 735 5,234 
Return of capital 2,706 26 - 
Fixed maturity securities received in exchange for equity securities - - 440 

Non-cash financing/investing activities: 
Non-cash consideration received from sale of United Guaranty - - 1,101 

26. Subsequent Events 

DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND INCREASE IN SHARE REPURCHASE AUTHORIZATION 
On February 13, 2019, our Board of Directors declared a cash dividend on AIG Common Stock of $0.32 per share, payable on March 
29, 2019 to shareholders of record on March 15, 2019.  

On February 13, 2019, our Board of Directors authorized an additional increase to its previous repurchase authorization of AIG 
Common Stock of $1.5 billion, resulting in an aggregate remaining authorization on such date of approximately $2.0 billion.    
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Part II  
ITEM 9 | Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on 
Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

 

ITEM 9A | Controls and Procedures   

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within 
the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. In 
connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, an evaluation, which excluded the impact of the acquisitions of 
Validus Holdings and Glatfelter Insurance Group (collectively, the Acquired Businesses), was carried out by AIG management, with 
the participation of AIG’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of December 31, 2018. Based on this 
evaluation, AIG’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective as of December 31, 2018. 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
Management of AIG is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. AIG’s internal 
control over financial reporting is a process, under the supervision of AIG’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of AIG’s financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

AIG management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2018 based on the criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

AIG management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on 
the criteria articulated in the 2013 Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.  The effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent 
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

We excluded the Acquired Businesses from our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 
because they were acquired by the Company in purchase business combinations during 2018. The Acquired Businesses combined 
represented approximately 2 percent of consolidated assets at December 31, 2018 and approximately 3 percent of consolidated 
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018.  

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
Other than integrating the Acquired Businesses, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have 
occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting. 
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Part III 
ITEM 10 | Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

All information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of this Form 10-K is incorporated by reference from the definitive proxy 
statement for AIG’s 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of 
the fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A. 

ITEM 11 | Executive Compensation 
See Item 10 herein. 

ITEM 12 | Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and 
Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

See Item 10 herein. 

ITEM 13 | Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and 
Director Independence 

See Item 10 herein. 

ITEM 14 | Principal Accounting Fees and Services 

See Item 10 herein. 

Part IV 
ITEM 15 | Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules. See accompanying Index to Financial Statements.  

(b) Exhibits. See accompanying Exhibit Index.  

 

ITEM 16 | Form 10-K Summary 

None. 
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Exhibit Index 
Exhibit 
Number Description Location 
2 Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, 

liquidation or succession 
 

 (1) Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 15, 
2016 between American International Group, Inc. and 
Arch Capital Group Ltd. 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
August 16, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (2) First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement, 
dated as of December 29, 2016 between American 
International Group, Inc. and Arch Capital Group Ltd. 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (3) Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among AIG, 
Venus Holdings Limited and Validus Holdings, Ltd., 
dated January 21, 2018 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
January 22, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 

3 Articles of incorporation and by-laws  
3(i) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 

AIG 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 
28, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

3(ii) AIG By-laws, amended November 16, 2015 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
November 16, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

4 Instruments defining the rights of security holders, 
including indentures 

Certain instruments defining the rights of holders of 
long-term debt securities of AIG and its subsidiaries 
are omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of 
Regulation S-K. AIG hereby undertakes to furnish to 
the Commission, upon request, copies of any such 
instruments. 

 (1) Warrant Agreement (including Form of Warrant), 
dated as of January 6, 2011, between AIG and Wells 
Fargo Bank, N.A., as Warrant Agent 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
January 7, 2011 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (2) Tax Asset Protection Plan, dated as of March 9, 
2011, between AIG and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as 
Rights Agent, including as Exhibit A the forms of Rights 
Certificate and of Election to Exercise 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 9, 2011 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (3) Amendment No. 1, dated as of January 8, 2014, to 
Tax Asset Protection Plan, between AIG and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Rights Agent 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
January 8, 2014 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (4) Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 14, 2016, 
to Tax Asset Protection Plan, between AIG and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Rights Agent 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
December 14, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

9 Voting Trust Agreement None. 
10 Material contracts   
 (1) AIG Amended and Restated Executive Severance 

Plan* 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
September 26, 2008 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (2) AIG Amended and Restated 2007 Stock Incentive 
Plan* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (3) AIG Amended and Restated Form of Non-Employee 
Director Deferred Stock Units Award Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 (File No. 1-8787). 
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 (4) Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, 
dated as of June 27, 2017, among AIG, the subsidiary 
borrowers party thereto, the lenders party thereto, 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, 
and each Several L/C Agent party thereto 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 
27, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (5) American International Group, Inc. 2010 Stock 
Incentive Plan* 

Incorporated by reference to AIG’s Definitive Proxy 
Statement, dated April 12, 2010 (Filed No. 1-8787). 

 (6) AIG Amended Form of 2010 Stock Incentive Plan 
DSU Award Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2012 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (7) Release and Restrictive Covenant Agreement 
between AIG and Peter Hancock* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
February 8, 2010 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (8) Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement 
between AIG and Peter Hancock, dated February 8, 
2010* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
February 8, 2010 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (9) Letter Agreement, dated August 14, 2013, between 
AIG and Kevin Hogan* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (10) Non-Solicitation and Non-Disclosure Agreement, 
dated August 14, 2013, between AIG and Kevin Hogan* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (11) Introductory Bonus Agreement, dated August 14, 
2013, between AIG and Kevin Hogan* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

 (12) Executive Officer Form of Release and Restrictive 
Covenant Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (13) AIG Non-Qualified Retirement Income Plan (as 
amended)* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (14) Master Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 
19, 2011, by and among American Home Assurance 
Company, Chartis Casualty Company (f/k/a American 
International South Insurance Company), Chartis 
Property Casualty Company (f/k/a AIG Casualty 
Company), Commerce and Industry Insurance 
Company, Granite State Insurance Company, Illinois 
National Insurance Co., National Union Fire Insurance 
Company of Pittsburgh, Pa., New Hampshire Insurance 
Company, The Insurance Company of the State of 
Pennsylvania, Chartis Select Insurance Company (f/k/a 
AIG Excess Liability Insurance Company Ltd.), Chartis 
Specialty Insurance Company (f/k/a American 
International Specialty Lines Insurance Company), 
Landmark Insurance Company, Lexington Insurance 
Company, AIU Insurance Company, American 
International Reinsurance Company, Ltd. and American 
Home Assurance Company, National Union Fire 
Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pa., New Hampshire 
Insurance Company and Chartis Overseas Limited 
acting as members of the Chartis Overseas Association 
as respects business written or assumed by or from 
affiliated companies of Chartis Inc. (collectively, the 
Reinsureds), Eaglestone Reinsurance Company and 
National Indemnity Company 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2011 (File No. 1-8787). 
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  (15) AIG 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as 
amended)* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (16) Form of 2015 Performance Share Units Award 
Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2015 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (17) AIG Clawback Policy* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 27, 2013 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (18) AIG 2013 Short-Term Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2014 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (19) Form of 2013 Short-Term Incentive Plan Award 
Letter* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 27, 2013 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (20) AIG Annual Short-Term Incentive Plan (as 
amended)* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 on AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (21) AIG 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Appendix B in AIG’s 
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, dated 
April 4, 2013 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (22) AIG 2012 Executive Severance Plan (as 
amended)* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (23) Form of AIG 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan Non-
Employee Director DSU Award Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (24) Aggregate Excess of Loss Reinsurance 
Agreement, dated January 20, 2017, by and between 
AIG Assurance Company, AIG Property Casualty 
Company, AIG Specialty Insurance Company, AIU 
Insurance Company, American Home Assurance 
Company, Commerce and Industry Insurance 
Company, Granite State Insurance Company, Illinois 
National Insurance Co., Lexington Insurance Company, 
National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, 
Pa., New Hampshire Insurance Company and The 
Insurance Company Of The State Of Pennsylvania and 
National Indemnity Company (portions of this exhibit 
have been redacted pursuant to a request for 
confidential treatment). 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
February 14, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (25) Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 2017, by and 
among National Union Fire Insurance Company of 
Pittsburgh, Pa., National Indemnity Company, and 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (portions of this 
exhibit have been redacted pursuant to a request for 
confidential treatment). 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
February 14, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (26) Parental Guarantee Agreement, dated January 20, 
2017, by Berkshire Hathaway Inc. in favor of National 
Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pa. 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to AIG's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
February 14, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (27) AIG Long Term Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 17, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 
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  (28) Form of AIG Long Term Incentive Award 
Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 17, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (29) Letter Agreement between American International 
Group, Inc. and Peter D. Hancock, dated March 17, 
2017* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 17, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (30) Letter Agreement, dated November 3, 2010, 
between AIG and Siddhartha Sankaran* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (31) Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation and Non-
Disclosure Agreement, dated November 5, 2010, 
between AIG and Siddhartha Sankaran* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (32) Letter Agreement, dated July 22, 2015, between 
AIG and Douglas A. Dachille* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (33) Non-Solicitation and Non-Disclosure Agreement, 
dated July 22, 2015, between AIG and Douglas A. 
Dachille* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (34) Letter Agreement, dated May 14, 2017, between 
American International Group, Inc. and Brian 
Duperreault* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 
15, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (35) Form of Stock Option Award Agreement, between 
American International Group, Inc. and Brian 
Duperreault* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 
15, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (36) Letter Agreement, dated July 3, 2017, between 
American International Group, Inc. and Peter Zaffino* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 
6, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (37) Non-Solicitation and Non-Disclosure Agreement, 
dated July 5, 2017, between American International 
Group, Inc. and Peter Zaffino* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 
6, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (38) Form of Stock Option Award Agreement, between 
American International Group, Inc. and Peter Zaffino* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 
6, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (39) Form of Long Term Incentive Stock Option Award 
Agreement* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to AIG’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (40) AIG Long Term Incentive Plan (as amended)* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (41) Description of Non-Management Director 
Compensation* 

Incorporated by reference to “Compensation of 
Directors” in AIG’s Definitive Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14A, dated March 27, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (42) AIG Long Term Incentive Plan (as amended and 
restated)* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (43) Release and Restrictive Covenant Agreement 
between AIG and Siddhartha Sankaran, dated 
December 7, 2018* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
December 7, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 
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  (44) Letter Agreement, dated May 10, 2018, between 
AIG and Mark Lyons* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K/A, Amendment No. 1, filed 
with the SEC on December 14, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 

  (45) Non-Solicitation and Non-Disclosure Agreement, 
dated May 13, 2018, between AIG and Mark Lyons* 

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to AIG’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K/A, Amendment No. 1, filed 
with the SEC on December 14, 2018 (File No. 1-8787). 

21 Subsidiaries of Registrant Filed herewith. 
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting 

Firm 
Filed herewith. 

24 Powers of attorney Included on signature page and filed herewith. 
31 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications Filed herewith. 
32 Section 1350 Certifications** Filed herewith. 
99.02 Securities Registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the 

Act 
Filed herewith. 

101 Interactive data files pursuant to Rule 405 of 
Regulation S-T: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, 
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income for the 
three years ended December 31, 2018, (iii) the 
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the three years 
ended December 31, 2018, (iv) the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows for the three years ended 
December 31, 2018, (v) the Consolidated Statements 
of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three years 
ended December 31, 2018 and (vi) the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Filed herewith. 

* This exhibit is a management contract or a compensatory plan or arrangement. 

** This information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
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Signatures 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly 
caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 15th of 
February, 2019. 

 AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL GROUP, INC. 

 By  /S/ BRIAN DUPERREAULT   
  (Brian Duperreault, President and Chief Executive Officer) 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Brian 
Duperreault and Mark D. Lyons, and each of them severally, his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution 
and resubstitution, to sign in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to do any and all things and execute any and 
all instruments that such attorney may deem necessary or advisable under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 
any rules, regulations and requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and any and all amendments hereto, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and 
hereby ratifies and confirms all said attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, and his or her substitute or substitutes, may 
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed 
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 15th of February, 2019. 
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SIGNATURE  TITLE 

/S/ BRIAN DUPERREAULT 
 

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer) (Brian Duperreault)  

/S/ MARK D. LYONS  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) (Mark D. Lyons)  

/S/ JONATHAN WISMER  Senior Vice President – Deputy Chief Financial Officer and 
Chief Accounting Officer 
(Principal Accounting Officer) (Jonathan Wismer)  

/S/ W. DON CORNWELL  
Director 

(W. Don Cornwell)  

/S/ JOHN H. FITZPATRICK  
Director 

(John H. Fitzpatrick)  

/S/ WILLIAM G. JURGENSEN  
Director 

(William G. Jurgensen)  

/S/ CHRISTOPHER S. LYNCH  
Director 

(Christopher S. Lynch)  

/S/ HENRY S. MILLER  
Director 

(Henry S. Miller)  

/S/ LINDA A. MILLS  
Director 

(Linda A. Mills)  

/S/ THOMAS F. MOTAMED  
Director 

(Thomas F. Motamed)  

/S/ SUZANNE NORA JOHNSON  
Director 

(Suzanne Nora Johnson)  

/S/ RONALD A. RITTENMEYER  
Director 

(Ronald A. Rittenmeyer)  

/S/ DOUGLAS M. STEENLAND  
Director 

(Douglas M. Steenland)  

/S/ THERESA M. STONE  
Director 

(Theresa M. Stone)  
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Summary of Investments — Other than Investments in Related Parties 
  
      Schedule I 
       
    Amount at 
At December 31, 2018   which shown in 
(in millions) Cost(a) Fair Value the Balance Sheet 
Fixed maturities:      
   U.S. government and government sponsored entities $ 5,835 $ 5,925 $ 5,925 
   Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions  15,421  16,001 16,001 
   Non-U.S. governments  14,421  14,570 14,570 
   Public utilities  17,431  17,628 17,628 
   All other corporate debt securities  114,676  114,743 114,743 
   Mortgage-backed, asset-backed and collateralized  69,411  71,939 71,939 
Total fixed maturity securities  237,195  240,806 240,806 
Equity securities and mutual funds:   
   Common stock:   
      Public utilities  1  1 1 
      Banks, trust and insurance companies  784  784 784 
      Industrial, miscellaneous and all other  320  320 320 
   Total common stock  1,105  1,105 1,105 
   Preferred stock  13  13 13 
   Mutual funds  135  135 135 
Total equity securities and mutual funds(b)  1,253  1,253 1,253 
Mortgage and other loans receivable, net of allowance  43,135  43,627 43,135 
Other invested assets  19,938  19,341 19,341 
Short-term investments, at cost (approximates fair value)  9,674  9,674 9,674 
Derivative assets(c)  916  916 916 
Total investments $ 312,111 $ 315,617 $ 315,125 
(a) Original cost of fixed maturities is reduced by other-than-temporary impairment charges and by repayments and adjusted for amortization of premiums or accretion of 

discounts. 

(b)  As a result of the adoption of the Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement Standard on January 1, 2018, equity securities are no longer classified and 
accounted for as available for sale securities. 

(c) The balance is reported in Other assets. 
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Condensed Financial Information of Registrant 
Balance Sheets — Parent Company Only 
  
 Schedule II 
 
December 31,   
(in millions) 2018 2017 
Assets: 

Short-term investments(a) $ 1,141 $ 2,541 
Other investments  3,377  6,004 

Total investments  4,518  8,545 
Cash  2  3 
Loans to subsidiaries(b) 34,963 35,004 
Due from affiliates - net(b) 1,206 1,585 
Intercompany tax receivable(b) 3,053 3,058 
Deferred income taxes 10,747 11,030 
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries(b) 33,300 40,135 
Other assets(c) 383 343 

Total assets $ 88,172 $ 99,703 
Liabilities: 

Due to affiliate(b) $ 2,329 $ 4,340 
Intercompany tax payable(b) 2,954 4,577 
Deferred tax liabilities - - 
Notes and bonds payable 20,853 20,339 
Junior subordinated debt 1,548 841 
MIP notes payable - 356 
Series AIGFP matched notes and bonds payable 21 21 
Loans from subsidiaries(b) 615 517 
Other liabilities (includes intercompany derivative liabilities of $105 in 2018 and $63 in 2017) 3,491 3,541 

Total liabilities 31,811 34,532 
AIG Shareholders’ equity: 

Common stock 4,766 4,766 
Treasury stock (49,144) (47,595) 
Additional paid-in capital 81,268 81,078 
Retained earnings 20,884 21,457 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,413) 5,465 

Total AIG shareholders’ equity 56,361 65,171 
Total liabilities and equity $ 88,172 $ 99,703 
(a) At December 31, 2018 and 2017, included restricted cash of $124 million and $4 million, respectively. 

(b) Eliminated in consolidation. 

(c) At December 31, 2018 and 2017, included restricted cash of $1 million and $1 million, respectively. 

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Registrant. 
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Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Continued)    
Statements of Income — Parent Company Only    

   

   Schedule II 
    
Years Ended December 31,       
(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Revenues:    
   Equity in undistributed net income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries(a) $ (5,160) $ (2,375) $ (8,633) 
   Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries(a) 4,580 2,226 7,364 
   Interest income(b)  961  656  411 
   Net realized capital gains (losses)  (49)  46  2 
   Other income  26  189  103 
Expenses:    
   Interest expense  954  949  988 
   Net loss on extinguishment of debt  -  2  77 

Net (gain) loss on sale of divested businesses(c)  3  30  (690) 
   Other expenses  800  922  985 
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense (benefit)  (1,399)  (1,161)  (2,113) 
Income tax expense (benefit)  (1,433)  4,922  (1,301) 
Net income (loss) 34 (6,083) (812) 
Loss from discontinued operations  (40)  (1)  (37) 
Net income (loss) attributable to AIG Parent Company $ (6) $ (6,084) $ (849) 
(a)   Eliminated in consolidation. 
(b)   Includes interest income on intercompany borrowings of $840 million, $512 million and $294 million on December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively,  

 eliminated in consolidation.       

(c)   Primarily includes pre-tax gain of $697 million on the sale of United Guaranty on December 31, 2016. 

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Registrant. 
 

Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Continued)        
Statements of Comprehensive Income — Parent Company Only        
        
     Schedule II 
 
Years Ended December 31,        
(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Net income $ (6) $ (6,084) $ (849) 
Other comprehensive income (6,302) 2,235 693 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to AIG $ (6,308) $ (3,849) $ (156) 
 
See accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Registrant. 
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Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Continued)    

Statements of Cash Flows — Parent Company Only    
    

   Schedule II 
    
Years Ended December 31,       
(in millions) 2018 2017 2016 
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,256 $ 36 $ 2,112 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
   Sales and maturities of investments 5,587 5,714 5,598 
   Sales of divested businesses - 40 2,160 
   Purchase of investments (1,980) (2,465) (1,002) 
   Net change in short-term investments 1,533 1,994 (1,170) 
   Contributions to subsidiaries - net 1 2,446 1,637 
   Acquisition of business (5,475) - - 
   Mortgage and other loan receivables - originations and purchases - - (85) 
   Payments received on mortgages and other loan receivables - 107 171 
   Loans to subsidiaries - net 868 199 1,525 
   Other, net (73) (183) (56) 
Net cash provided by investing activities 461 7,852 8,778 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
   Issuance of long-term debt 2,470 1,505 3,831 
   Repayment of long-term debt (1,493) (1,724) (1,996) 
   Cash dividends paid (1,138) (1,172) (1,372) 
   Loans from subsidiaries - net 90 (63) 3 
   Purchase of Common Stock (1,739) (6,275) (11,460) 
   Other, net 212 (154) (309) 
Net cash used in financing activities (1,598) (7,883) (11,303) 
Change in cash and restricted cash 119 5 (413) 
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 8 3 416 
Cash and restricted cash at end of year $ 127 $ 8 $ 3 
 
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:    
 Years Ended December 31, 
(in millions)  2018  2017  2016 
Cash $ 2  3  2 
Restricted cash included in Short-term investments 124 $ 4 $ - 
Restricted cash included in Other assets 1 1 1 
Total cash and restricted cash shown in Statements of Cash Flows — Parent 
Company Only $ 127 $ 8 $ 3 

Cash (paid) received during the period for:     
Interest:    
   Third party $ (914) $ (948) $ (975) 
   Intercompany  1  -  2 
Taxes:    
   Income tax authorities  (32)  (329)  (15) 
   Intercompany  895  614  479 
Intercompany non-cash financing and investing activities:    
   Capital contributions 2,369 259 3,245 
   Return of capital 2,706 26 - 
   Dividends received in the form of securities 745 735 5,234 
   Fixed maturity securities received in exchange for equity securities - - 440 
Non-cash financing/investing activities 
   Non-cash consideration received from sale of United Guaranty - - 1,101 

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Registrant. 
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NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT 

American International Group, Inc.’s (the Registrant) investments in consolidated subsidiaries are stated at cost plus equity in 
undistributed income of consolidated subsidiaries. The accompanying condensed financial statements of the Registrant should be 
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of American International Group, Inc. and 
subsidiaries included in the Registrant’s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 (Annual Report on 
Form 10-K) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2019. 

The Registrant includes in its Statement of Income dividends from its subsidiaries and equity in undistributed income (loss) of 
consolidated subsidiaries, which represents the net income (loss) of each of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. 

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. 

The five-year debt maturity schedule is incorporated by reference from Note 15 to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The Registrant files a consolidated federal income tax return with certain subsidiaries and acts as an agent for the consolidated tax 
group when making payments to the Internal Revenue Service. The Registrant and its subsidiaries have adopted, pursuant to a 
written agreement, a method of allocating consolidated Federal income taxes. Amounts allocated to the subsidiaries under the written 
agreement are included in Due from affiliates in the accompanying Condensed Balance Sheets. 

Income taxes in the accompanying Condensed Balance Sheets are composed of the Registrant’s current and deferred tax assets, the 
consolidated group’s current income tax receivable and deferred taxes related to tax attribute carryforwards of AIG’s U.S. 
consolidated income tax group.  

For additional information see Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The consolidated U.S. deferred tax asset for net operating loss, capital loss and tax credit carryforwards are recorded by the Parent 
Company, which files the consolidated U.S. Federal income tax return, and are not allocated to its subsidiaries. Generally, as, and if, 
the consolidated net operating losses and other tax attribute carryforwards are utilized, the intercompany tax balance will be settled 
with the subsidiaries. 
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Supplementary Insurance Information 
  
  Schedule III 
  
At December 31, 2018 and 2017 
  
  Liability 
  for Unpaid 
  Losses and 
  Loss 
 Deferred  Adjustment Policy 
 Policy  Expenses, and 
 Acquisition  Future Policy Unearned Contract 
Segment (in millions) Costs  Benefits Premiums Claims 
2018  

General Insurance companies $ 2,890 $ 113,696 $ 19,235 $ 14 
Life and Retirement companies   9,804  13,431 13 843 
Other(a) -  1,447 - 7 

 $ 12,694 $ 128,574 $ 19,248 $ 864 
2017  

General Insurance companies $ 2,587 $ 73,530 $ 18,795 $ - 
Life and Retirement companies 8,407  44,615 - 851 
Other(a) -  5,680 235 9 

 $ 10,994 $ 123,825 $ 19,030 $ 860 

             
 For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016       
  
   Losses  Amortization 
 Premiums and Loss  of Deferred 
 and Net Expenses  Policy Other Net 
 Policy Investment Incurred,  Acquisition Operating Premiums 
Segment (in millions) Fees Income Benefits  Costs Expenses Written(b) 
2018  

General Insurance $ 27,505 $ 2,668 $ 20,824 $ 4,596 $ 5,222 $ 26,407 
Life and Retirement 5,261 7,922 7,692  680 2,412 - 
Other Operations(a) 39 (439) 357  5 - 199 
Legacy Operations 600 2,325 2,293  105 - - 

 $ 33,405 $ 12,476 $ 31,166 $ 5,386 $ 7,634 $ 26,606 
2017  

General Insurance $ 26,026 $ 3,668 $ 21,642 $ 3,765 $ 5,100 $ 25,438 
Life and Retirement 6,844 7,816 8,607  743 2,296 - 
Other Operations(a) 712 (81) 1,076  (296) - 314 
Legacy Operations 727 2,776 2,239  76 - 4 

 $ 34,309 $ 14,179 $ 33,564 $ 4,288 $ 7,396 $ 25,756 
2016  

General Insurance $ 29,586 $ 3,554 $ 25,103 $ 4,121 $ 5,967 $ 28,393 
Life and Retirement 4,878 7,622 6,945  613 2,700 - 
Other Operations(a) 1,845 (24) 743  (321) - 819 
Legacy Operations 816 2,913 3,351  108 - 21 

 $ 37,125 $ 14,065 $ 36,142 $ 4,521 $ 8,667 $ 29,233 

(a) Includes consolidation and elimination entries. 

(b) Balances reflect the segment changes discussed in Note 3 – Segment Information to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Reinsurance 
  
          Schedule IV 
            
At December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and for the years then ended 
            
       Percent of 
   Ceded to Assumed   Amount 
  Gross Other from Other   Assumed 
(in millions) Amount Companies Companies Net Amount  to Net 
2018            
Long-duration insurance in force $ 1,094,774 $ 228,846 $ 300 $ 866,228  - % 
Premiums:   

General Insurance companies $ 30,335 $ 7,755 $ 4,026 $ 26,606  15.1 % 
Life and Retirement companies 3,488 850 405 3,043  13.3  
Other - - - -  -  

Total $ 33,823 $ 8,605 $ 4,431 $ 29,649  14.9 % 
2017    
Long-duration insurance in force $ 1,061,095 $ 202,402 $ 321 $ 859,014  - % 
Premiums:   

General Insurance companies $ 30,205 $ 7,533 $ 3,084 $ 25,756  12.0 % 
Life and Retirement companies 5,053 809 285 4,529  6.3  
Other  - - - -  -  

Total $ 35,258 $ 8,342 $ 3,369 $ 30,285  11.1 % 
2016   
Long-duration insurance in force $ 1,025,653 $ 174,363 $ 339 $ 851,629  - % 
Premiums:   

General Insurance companies $ 33,970 $ 7,561 $ 2,824 $ 29,233  9.7 % 
Life and Retirement companies 4,609 789 123 3,943  3.1  
Other  - - - -  -  

Total $ 38,579 $ 8,350 $ 2,947 $ 33,176  8.9 % 
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Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
  
         Schedule V 
        
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016       
         
  Additions  Reclassified    

  Balance, Charged to   to Assets of   
  Beginning Costs and  Businesses Divested Other Balance, 
(in millions) of year Expenses Charge Offs Acquisitions Held for Sale Businesses Changes* End of year 
2018         

   Allowance for mortgage and          

      other loans receivable $ 322 $ 93 $ (19) $ - $ - $ - $ 1 $ 397 
   Allowance for premiums and                 

      insurances balances receivable 236 2 (20) - - - (2) 216 
   Allowance for reinsurance assets 187 (8) (45) 8 - - (2) 140 
   Federal and foreign valuation                 

      allowance for deferred tax assets 1,374 21 - 82 - - 302 1,779 
2017 
   Allowance for mortgage and         

      other loans receivable $ 297 $ 49 $ (25) $ - $ - $ - $ 1 $ 322 

   Allowance for premiums and                 

      insurances balances receivable 262 36 (58) - - (8) 4 236 

   Allowance for reinsurance assets 207 33 (50) - - - (3) 187 

   Federal and foreign valuation                

      allowance for deferred tax assets 2,831 43 - - - - (1,500) 1,374 

2016 
   Allowance for mortgage and         

     other loans receivable $ 308 $ (7) $ (15) $ - $ - $ - $ 11 $ 297 

   Allowance for premiums and                 

      insurances balances receivable 333 26 (88) - (2) (7) - 262 

   Allowance for reinsurance assets 272 (23) (34) - (8) - - 207 

   Federal and foreign valuation                

      allowance for deferred tax assets 3,012 83 - - - - (264) 2,831 

* Includes recoveries of amounts previously charged off and reclassifications to/from other accounts. 
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American International Group, Inc., and Subsidiaries 
 

Subsidiaries of Registrant          Exhibit 21 

                   
Percentage  

                   of Voting  
                   Securities  
                 Jurisdiction of  held by  
                 Incorporation or  Immediate  
As of December 31, 2018                       Organization   Parent (1) 
American International Group, Inc. Delaware    (2) 
 AIG Capital Corporation Delaware  100  
  AIG Global Asset Management Holdings Corp. Delaware  100  
   AIG Asset Management (Europe) Limited England and Wales  100  
   AIG Asset Management (U.S.), LLC Delaware  100  
   AIG Global Real Estate Investment Corp. Delaware  100  
    AIGGRE Europe Real Estate Fund I GP S.a r.l. Luxembourg  100  
    AIGGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund I GP, LLC Delaware  100  
     AIGGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund I, LP Delaware  100  
    AIGGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund II GP, LLC Delaware  100  
    Mt. Mansfield Company, Inc. Vermont  100  
 AIG Employee Services, Inc. Delaware  100  
 AIG Federal Savings Bank The United States  100  
 AIG Financial Products Corp. Delaware  100  
  AIG Matched Funding Corp. Delaware  100  
  AIG-FP Pinestead Holdings Corp. Delaware  100  
 AIG Life Insurance Company (Switzerland) Ltd Switzerland  100  
 AIG Markets, Inc. Delaware  100  
 AIG Property Casualty Inc. Delaware  100  
  AIG Claims, Inc. Delaware  100  
  AIG PC Global Services, Inc. Delaware  100  
  AIG Property Casualty International, LLC Delaware  100  
   AIG Egypt Insurance Company S.A.E. Egypt  95.08  
   AIG Insurance Management Services, Inc. Vermont  100  
    Grand Isle SAC Limited Bermuda  100  
   AIG International Holdings GmbH Switzerland  100  
    AIG APAC HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. Singapore  100  
     AIG Asia Pacific Insurance Pte. Ltd. Singapore  100  
      AIG Australia Limited Australia  100  
      AIG Insurance Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong  100  
      AIG Insurance New Zealand Limited New Zealand  100  
      AIG Korea Inc. Korea, Republic of  100  
      AIG Malaysia Insurance Berhad Malaysia  100  
      AIG Philippines Insurance, Inc. Philippines  100  
      AIG Re-Takaful (L) Berhad Malaysia  100  
      AIG Vietnam Insurance Company Limited Vietnam  100  
      PT AIG Insurance Indonesia Indonesia  74.45 (3) 
      Thai CIT Holding Company Limited Thailand  49  
       AIG Insurance (Thailand) Public Company Limited Thailand  51 (4) 
    AIG Canada Holdings Inc. Canada  100  
     AIG Insurance Company of Canada Canada  100  
    AIG Europe Holdings S.a.rl. Luxembourg  100  
     AIG Advisors S.r.l. Italy  100  
     AIG Europe S.A. Luxembourg  100  
      AIG Global Reinsurance Operations Belgium  100  
     Avondhu Limited Jersey  100  
    AIG Holdings Europe Limited England and Wales  100  
     AIG Israel Insurance Company Ltd Israel  100  
     AIG Life Limited England  100  
      Group Risk Services Limited England  100  
       Group Risk Technologies Limited England  100  
     American International Group UK Limited England  100  
      AIG Europe (Services) Limited England  100  
      Laya Healthcare Limited Ireland  100  
    AIG Investments UK Limited England and Wales  100  
    AIG Japan Holdings Kabushiki Kaisha Japan  100  
     AIG General Insurance Co., Ltd. Japan  100  
     American Home Assurance Co., Ltd. Japan  100  
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Percentage  

                   of Voting  
                   Securities  
                 Jurisdiction of  held by  
                 Incorporation or  Immediate  
As of December 31, 2018                       Organization   Parent (1) 
    AIG Latin America Investments, S.L. Spain  100  
     AIG Brazil Holding I, LLC Delaware  100  
      AIG Seguros Brasil S.A. Brazil  90.56 (5) 
       AIG Resseguros Brasil S.A. Brazil  100  
     AIG Insurance Company-Puerto Rico Puerto Rico  100  
     AIG Latin America I.I. Puerto Rico  100  
     AIG Seguros Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico  100  
     American International Overseas Limited Bermuda  100  
      Chartis Takaful Enaya B.S.C. (c) Bahrain  100  
     American International Underwriters del Ecuador-Holding S.A. Ecuador  100  
      AIG-Metropolitana Cia. de Seguros y Reaseguros S.A. Ecuador  32.06 (6) 
    AIG MEA Holdings Limited United Arab Emirates  100  
     AIG CIS Investments, LLC Russian Federation  99.99  
      AIG Insurance Company, JSC Russian Federation  100  
     AIG Insurance Limited Sri Lanka  100  
     AIG Lebanon SAL Lebanon  100  
     AIG MEA Limited United Arab Emirates  100  
      AIG Kenya Insurance Company Limited Kenya  66.67  
     AIG Uganda Limited Uganda  100  
     Private Joint-Stock Company AIG Ukraine Insurance Company Ukraine  100  
    Johannesburg Insurance Holdings (Proprietary) Limited South Africa  100  
     AIG Life South Africa Limited South Africa  100  
     AIG South Africa Limited South Africa  100  
   AIG Travel, Inc. Delaware  100  
    AIG Travel Assist, Inc. Delaware  100  
     AIG Travel Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore  100  
      AIG Travel Assist Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia  100  
     AIG Travel EMEA Limited England and Wales  100  
    Travel Guard Group Canada, Inc./Groupe Garde Voyage du Canada, Inc. Canada  100  
    Travel Guard Group, Inc. Wisconsin  100  
   American International Reinsurance Company, Ltd. Bermuda  100  
   Validus Holdings, Ltd. Bermuda  100  
    Talbot Holdings Ltd. Bermuda  100  
     Talbot Underwriting Holdings Ltd. England and Wales  100  
      Talbot Underwriting Ltd. England and Wales  100  
    Validus Reinsurance, Ltd. Bermuda  100  
     Validus Holdings (UK) Ltd. England and Wales  100  
      Validus Reinsurance (Switzerland) Ltd Switzerland  100  
    Validus Ventures Ltd. Bermuda  100  
     AlphaCat Managers Ltd. Bermuda  100  
  AIG Property Casualty U.S., Inc. Delaware  100  
   AIG Aerospace Insurance Services, Inc. Georgia  100  
   AIG Assurance Company Illinois  100  
   AIG Property Casualty Company Pennsylvania  100  
   AIG Specialty Insurance Company Illinois  100  
   AIG WarrantyGuard, Inc. Delaware  100  
   AIU Insurance Company New York  100  
   American Home Assurance Company New York  100  
    AIGGRE EOLA LLC Delaware  100  
     Jefferson Eola Venture LLC Delaware  50  
    American Home Assurance Company Escritorio de Representacao no Brasil Ltda. Brazil  100  
    AIG Insurance Company China Limited China  100  
   Commerce and Industry Insurance Company New York  100  
   Eaglestone Reinsurance Company Pennsylvania  100  
   Arthur J. Glatfelter Agency, Inc. Pennsylvania  100  
    Volunteer Firemen's Insurance Services, Inc. Pennsylvania  100  
   Granite State Insurance Company Illinois  100  
   Illinois National Insurance Co. Illinois  100  
   Lexington Insurance Company Delaware  100  
    Pine Street Real Estate Holdings Corp. New Hampshire  100  
   National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pa. Pennsylvania  100  
    American International Overseas Association Bermuda  78 (7) 
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Percentage  

                   of Voting  
                   Securities  
                 Jurisdiction of  held by  
                 Incorporation or  Immediate  
As of December 31, 2018                       Organization   Parent (1) 
    American International Realty Corp. Delaware  100  
    National Union Fire Insurance Company of Vermont Vermont  100  
   New Hampshire Insurance Company Illinois  100  
   Risk Specialists Companies Insurance Agency, Inc. Massachusetts  100  
   Service Net Warranty, LLC Delaware  100  
   The Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania Illinois  100  
   Western World Insurance Group, Inc. Delaware  100  
    Crop Risk Services, Inc. Illinois  100  
    Western World Insurance Company New Hampshire  100  
     Stratford Insurance Company New Hampshire  100  
     Tudor Insurance Company New Hampshire  100  
 AIG Technologies, Inc. New Hampshire  100  
  AIG Shared Services Corporation New York  100  
 AM Holdings LLC Delaware  100  
 American Security Life Insurance Company Limited Liechtenstein  100  
 Blackboard U.S. Holdings, Inc. Delaware  100  
  Blackboard Customer Care Insurance Services, LLC Delaware  100  
  Blackboard Services, LLC Delaware  100  
  Blackboard Specialty Insurance Company Delaware  100  
   Blackboard Insurance Company Delaware  100  
 Fortitude Group Holdings, LLC Delaware  80.10  
  Fortitude Life & Annuity Solutions, Inc. Delaware  100  
  Fortitude Reinsurance Company Ltd. Bermuda  100  
 MG Reinsurance Limited Vermont  100  
 SAFG Retirement Services, Inc. Delaware  100  
  AIG Life Holdings, Inc. Texas  100  
   AGC Life Insurance Company Missouri  100  
    AIG Life of Bermuda, Ltd. Bermuda  100  
    American General Life Insurance Company Texas  100  
     SA Affordable Housing, LLC Delaware  100  
      SunAmerica Affordable Housing Partners, Inc. California  100  
     SunAmerica Asset Management, LLC Delaware  100  
      AIG Capital Services, Inc. Delaware  100  
    The United States Life Insurance Company in the City of New York New York  100  
    The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company Texas  100  
     VALIC Financial Advisors, Inc. Texas  100  
     Valic Retirement Services Company Texas  100  
                     
(1) Percentages include directors' qualifying shares.  

(2) Substantially all subsidiaries listed are consolidated in the accompanying financial statements. Certain subsidiaries have been omitted from the  
 tabulation. The omitted subsidiaries, when considered in the aggregate, do not constitute a significant subsidiary.  

(3) Also owned 25.55 percent by PT Tiara Citra Cemerlang.  

(4) Also owned 48.99 percent by AIG Asia Pacific Insurance Pte. Ltd.  

(5) Also owned 9.44 percent by AIG Brazil Holding II, LLC.  

(6) Also owned 19.72 percent by AIG Latin America Investments, S.L.  

(7) Also owned 12 percent by New Hampshire Insurance Company and 10 percent by American Home Assurance Company.  
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Exhibit 23 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No.333-223282) and Form 
S-8 (No.333-31346, No.333-68640, No.333-101640, No.333-148148, No.333-168679, No.333-188634 and No.333-219180) of 
American International Group, Inc. of our report dated February 15, 2019 relating to the financial statements, financial 
statement schedules and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in the Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

New York, New York 
February 15, 2019 
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Exhibit 31 

CERTIFICATIONS 
I, Brian Duperreault, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of American International Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 15, 2019 

 

 /S/ BRIAN DUPERREAULT 
 Brian Duperreault 
 President and Chief Executive Officer 
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CERTIFICATIONS 
I, Mark D. Lyons, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of American International Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 15, 2019 

 

 /S/ MARK D. LYONS 
 Mark D. Lyons 
 Executive Vice President and 
 Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 32 

CERTIFICATION 
In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of American International Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian Duperreault, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to my knowledge: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

Date: February 15, 2019 

 

 /S/ BRIAN DUPERREAULT 
 Brian Duperreault 
 President and Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or 
as a separate disclosure document. 
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CERTIFICATION 
In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of American International Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark D. Lyons, 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to my 
knowledge: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company. 

Date: February 15, 2019 

 

 /S/ MARK D. LYONS 
 Mark D. Lyons 
 Executive Vice President and 
 Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or 
as a separate disclosure document. 
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Exhibit 99.02 

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(B) OF THE ACT: 
Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered 

Common Stock, Par Value $2.50 Per Share New York Stock Exchange 
Warrants (expiring January 19, 2021) New York Stock Exchange 

5.75% Series A-2 Junior Subordinated Debentures New York Stock Exchange 
4.875% Series A-3 Junior Subordinated Debentures New York Stock Exchange 

Stock Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange 
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Comment on
Regulation G

Throughout this Annual Report, AIG presents its financial condition and results of operations in the way it believes will be most meaningful and 
representative of its business results. Some of the measurements AIG uses are “non-GAAP financial measures” under Securities and Exchange 
Commission rules and regulations. GAAP is the acronym for “generally accepted accounting principles” in the United States. The non-GAAP 
financial measures AIG presents may not be comparable to similarly-named measures reported by other companies. The reconciliations of such 
measures to the most comparable GAAP measures in accordance with Regulation G are included within this Annual Report, AIG’s Annual Report  
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (included herein) or in the Fourth Quarter 2018 Financial Supplement available in the 
Investors section of AIG’s website, www.aig.com.

Core and Life and Retirement Adjusted Attributed Equity is an attribution of total AIG Adjusted Shareholders’ Equity to these segments  
based on our internal capital model, which incorporates the segments’ respective risk profiles. Adjusted Attributed Equity represents our best estimates 
based on current facts and circumstances and will change over time.

Core and Life and Retirement Return on Equity — Adjusted After-tax Income (Adjusted Return on Attributed Equity)  
is used to show the rate of return on Adjusted Attributed Equity. Adjusted Return on Attributed Equity is derived by dividing actual or annualized 
Adjusted After-tax Income by Average Adjusted Attributed Equity.

Adjusted After-tax Income Attributable to Core and Life and Retirement is derived by subtracting attributed interest expense and  
income tax expense from Adjusted Pre-tax Income. Attributed debt and the related interest expense is calculated based on our internal capital model. 
Tax expense or benefit is calculated based on an internal attribution methodology that considers among other things the taxing jurisdiction in which  
the segments conduct business, as well as the deductibility of expenses in those jurisdictions.

Premiums and deposits includes direct and assumed amounts received and earned on traditional life insurance policies, group benefit policies  
and life-contingent payout annuities, as well as deposits received on universal life, investment-type annuity contracts, Federal Home Loan Bank  
funding agreements and mutual funds.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding 
Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report may include, and officers and representatives of AIG may from time to time make and discuss, projections, goals, assumptions and 
statements that may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These projections, 
goals, assumptions and statements are not historical facts but instead represent only a belief regarding future events, many of which, by their nature,  
are inherently uncertain and outside AIG’s control. These projections, goals, assumptions and statements include statements preceded by, followed by  
or including words such as “will,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “focused on achieving,” “view,” “target,” “goal” or “estimate.” 
These projections, goals, assumptions and statements may relate to future actions, prospective services or products, future performance or results of 
current and anticipated services or products, sales efforts, expenses, the outcome of contingencies such as legal proceedings, anticipated organizational, 
business or regulatory changes, anticipated sales, monetization and/or acquisitions of businesses or assets, or successful integration of acquired 
businesses, management succession and retention plans, exposure to risk, trends in operations and financial results.

It is possible that AIG’s actual results and financial condition will differ, possibly materially, from the results and financial condition indicated in these 
projections, goals, assumptions and statements. Factors that could cause AIG’s actual results to differ, possibly materially, from those in the specific 
projections, goals, assumptions and statements include: 

• changes in market and industry conditions; 

• the occurrence of catastrophic events, both natural and man-made; 

• �AIG’s ability to successfully reorganize its businesses and execute on its initiatives to improve its underwriting capabilities and reinsurance  
programs, as well as improve profitability, without negatively impacting client relationships or its competitive position; 

• AIG’s ability to successfully dispose of, monetize and/or acquire businesses or assets or successfully integrate acquired businesses; 

• actions by credit rating agencies; 

• changes in judgments concerning insurance underwriting and insurance liabilities; 

• changes in judgments concerning potential cost saving opportunities; 

• �the impact of potential information technology, cybersecurity or data security breaches, including as a result of cyber-attacks  
or security vulnerabilities; 

• disruptions in the availability of AIG’s electronic data systems or those of third parties; 

• the effectiveness of AIG’s strategies to recruit and retain key personnel and its ability to implement effective succession plans; 

• negative impacts on customers, business partners and other stakeholders; 

• AIG’s ability to successfully manage Legacy portfolios;

• concentrations in AIG’s investment portfolios;

• the requirements, which may change from time to time, of the global regulatory framework to which AIG is subject;

• significant legal, regulatory or governmental proceedings;

• changes in judgments concerning the recognition of deferred tax assets and goodwill impairment; and 

• �such other factors discussed in Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Part I, 
Item 1A. Risk Factors in AIG’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.

AIG is not under any obligation (and expressly disclaims any obligation) to update or alter any projections, goals, assumptions or other statements, 
whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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Non-GAAP  
Reconciliation

Reconciliations of Adjusted Return on Equity
($ in millions) Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Core:

Adjusted pre-tax income $ 1,196 $ 1,688 $ 408

Interest expense (benefit) on attributed financial debt $ (10) $ (159) $ (122)

Adjusted pre-tax income including attributed interest expenses $ 1,206 $  1,847 $  530

Income tax expense $ 281 $  466 $  120

Adjusted after-tax income $ 925 $  1,381 $  410

Ending adjusted attributed equity $ 38,735 $ 39,931 $  47,651

Average adjusted attributed equity $ 40,394 $ 43,826 $  51,319

Adjusted return on attributed equity 2.3 %  3.2 %  0.8 %

Life and Retirement:

Adjusted pre-tax income $ 3,190 $ 3,831 $ 3,428

Interest expense on attributed financial debt $ 107 $ 23 $ 92

Adjusted pre-tax income including attributed interest expenses $ 3,083 $ 3,808 $ 3,336

Income tax expense $ 610 $ 1,242 $ 1,041

Adjusted after-tax income $ 2,473 $  2,566 $ 2,295

Ending adjusted attributed equity $ 19,695 $ 20,304 $ 20,547

Average adjusted attributed equity $ 19,664 $ 20,687 $ 21,269

Adjusted return on attributed equity 12.6 % 12.4 % 10.8 %

Reconciliations of Premiums and Deposits
($ in millions) Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Life and Retirement:

Premiums $ 2,592 $  4,046 $  2,288

Deposits $ 27,846 $  22,681 $  26,294

Other $ 768 $  731 $  722

Total premiums and deposits $ 31,206 $  27,458 $  29,304
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Shareholder 
Information 

Corporate Headquarters
American International Group, Inc. 
175 Water Street 
New York, NY 10038 
(212) 770-7000

Stock Market Listing
New York Stock Exchange
NYSE common stock trading symbol: AIG

SEC Certifications
The certifications by the Chief Executive Officer  
and the Chief Financial Officer of AIG,  
required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002, were filed as exhibits to AIG’s  
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, and are included herein.

NYSE Certification
The Chief Executive Officer of AIG made an 
unqualified certification to the NYSE with respect  
to AIG’s compliance with the NYSE Corporate 
Governance Listing Standards in July 2018.

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The 2019 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will  
be held on Tuesday, May 21, 2019, at 11:00 a.m.,  
at 175 Water Street, New York, NY.

Shareholder Assistance
Visit the AIG corporate website at www.aig.com.

Requests for copies of the Annual Report to 
Shareholders and Annual Report on Form 10-K  
for the year ended December 31, 2018,  
should be directed to:

Investor Relations
American International Group, Inc. 
175 Water Street 
New York, NY 10038 
(212) 770-6293

Transfer Agent and Registrar
EQ Shareowner Services 
PO Box 64854 
St. Paul, MN 55164-0854 
(888) 899-8293 
shareowneronline.com

Courier Service Address
EQ Shareowner Services 
1110 Centre Pointe Curve, Suite 101 
Mendota Heights, MN 55120-4100

Duplicate Mailings/Householding
A shareholder who receives multiple copies  
of AIG’s proxy materials and Annual Report  
may eliminate duplicate report mailings  
by contacting AIG’s transfer agent.



American International Group, Inc.

175 Water Street 
New York, NY 10038
www.aig.com




